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ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
375 Northridge Road, Suite 330
Atlanta, Georgia 30350

November 18, 2014

Dear Shareholders:

[ cordially invite you to attend our annual meeting of sharecholders of Roberts Realty
[nvestors, Inc. at 9:00 a.m. EST, on Friday, December 12, 2014 at Villa Christina at
Perimeter Summit located at 4000 Summit Boulevard, Atlanta, Georgia 30319. Enclosed
are the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders and Proxy Statement, which contain
information regarding the proposals on which our sharcholders will vote at our annual
meeting. A copy of our 2013 Annual Report to Shareholders with our Form 10-K for 2013
is also enclosed for your convenience.

Regardless of whether or not you plan to attend our annual meeting, I would appreci-
ate your taking the time to complete, sign, and promptly return the enclosed proxy
card. A postage-paid envelope is enclosed for your convenience. If you hold your shares
in “street name,” please note that banks, brokers, and other nominees do not have the
authority to vote your shares for the election of the director without instructions from you.
Accordingly, please provide voting instructions to your bank, broker, and other nominee,
so that your shares may be voted.

Your vote is important, and I appreciate the time and consideration that I am sure you will
give it.

Sincerely,

Charles S. Roberts
Chief Executive Officer
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ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
375 Northridge Road, Suite 330
Atlanta, Georgia 30350

November 18, 2014

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON DECEMBER 12, 2014

The annual meeting of shareholders of Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. will be held at 9:00 a.m.
EST, on Friday, December 12, 2014 at Villa Christina at Perimeter Summit located at 4000
Summit Boulevard, Atlanta, Georgia 30319, for the following purposes:

(1) to elect one director to serve a three-year term;
(2) to conduct an advisory vote on the compensation of our named executive officers;

3) to ratify the appointment of Cherry Bekaert LLP as our independent registered
pp P g
public accounting firm for 2014; and

(4) to transact any other business that properly comes before the meeting or any
adjournment of it.

The directors set the close of business on November 5, 2014 as the record date to determine
the shareholders who are entitled to vote at the annual meeting.

Under the applicable rules of the SEC, we are providing access to our proxy materials both
by sending you this full set of proxy materials, including a proxy card, and by notifying you of
the availability of our proxy materials on the Internet.

If you do not expect to attend the meeting in person, please mark, sign, and date the
enclosed proxy card and return it in the accompanying postage-paid envelope.

ety

Anthony W. Shurtz
Secretary

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials
for the Shareholder Meeting to Be Held on December 12, 2014.

This Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement and our 2013 Annual Report to
Shareholders are also available online at http://robertsrealtyinvestors.investorroom.com.
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PROXY STATEMENT
FOR
THE ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
OF ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
TO BE HELD ON DECEMBER 12, 2014

VOTING PROCEDURES

Who is asking for your vote?

The board of directors of Roberts Realty is soliciting the proxy for use at the annual
meeting on December 12, 2014. If the meeting is adjourned, we may also use the proxy at any
later meetings for the purposes stated in the notice of the annual meeting.

What items will be voted on at the annual meeting?
Three matters are scheduled for a vote:
* the election of one director to serve a three-year term;

 an advisory vote on the compensation of our named executive officers; and

* the ratification of the appointment of Cherry Bekaert LLP (“Cherry Bekaert™)
as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2014.

As of the date of this proxy statement, we are not aware of any other matters that
will be presented for consideration at the annual meeting.

How do your directors recommend that you vote?
The directors recommend that you vote:

* FOR the election of the nominee for director;

* FOR the approval of the compensation of our named executive officers as dis-
closed in this proxy statement; and

* FOR the ratification of the appointment of Cherry Bekaert as our independent
registered public accounting firm for 2014.

Who is eligible to vote?

Shareholders of record at the close of business on November 5, 2014 are entitled
to be present and to vote at the annual meeting or any adjourned meeting. We are mailing
these proxy materials to shareholders on or about November 18, 2014.




What are the rules for voting?

As of the record date, we had 10,066,907 shares of common stock outstanding and
entitled to vote at the annual meeting. Each share of our common stock entitles the holder
to one vote on all matters voted on at the meeting. All of the shares of common stock vote
as a single class.

You may vote:

* By mail — by signing your proxy card and mailing it in the enclosed preaddressed,
postage-paid envelope. If you receive more than one proxy card, it means that
you have multiple accounts at our transfer agent or with your stockbrokers.
Please sign and return all proxy cards to be sure that all your shares are voted.

* In person at the meeting. We will pass out written ballots to any shareholder of
record who wants to vote at the meeting. If you hold your shares through a bro-
kerage account, however, you may not vote at the meeting by ballot. Instead, you
must request a legal proxy from your stockbroker to vote at the meeting,.

Shares represented by signed proxies will be voted as instructed. If you sign the
proxy but do not mark your vote, your shares will be voted as the directors have recom-
mended. Voting results will be tabulated and certified by our transfer agent, American
Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

As of the date of this proxy statement, we are not aware of any other matters to
be presented or considered at the meeting, but your shares will be voted at the directors’
discretion on any of the following matters:

* Any matter about which we did not receive written notice a reasonable time
before we mailed these proxy materials to our shareholders.

* The election of any person as a director in lieu of the nominee if he is unable to
serve or for good cause will not serve. We do not contemplate that our nominee
will be unable to serve.

* Matters incident to the conduct of the meeting.

A majority of our outstanding shares of common stock as of the record date must
be present at the meeting, either in person or by proxy, to hold the meeting and conduct
business. This is called a quorum. In determining whether we have a quorum at the annual
meeting for purposes of all matters to be voted on, all votes “for” or “against” and all votes
to “withhold authority” will be counted. Shares will be counted for quorum purposes if
they are represented at the meeting for any purpose other than solely to object to holding



the meeting or transacting business at the meeting. If a quorum is present, abstentions will
have no effect on the voting for directors.

If your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other nominee,
you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in “street name,” and these proxy
materials are being forwarded to you by your broker or nominee, which is considered, with
respect to those shares, to be the shareholder of record. As the beneficial owner, you have
the right to direct your broker or nominee how to vote, and you are also invited to attend
the annual meeting. Your broker or nominee has enclosed a voting instruction card for you
to use to direct the broker or nominee how to vote your shares. The voting instruction card
may provide various alternative voting methods, such as via the Internet, by telephone, or
by mail.

If you hold your shares in street name, your brokerage firm may vote your shares
under certain circumstances. Brokerage firms have authority under stock exchange rules
to vote their customers’ unvoted shares on certain “routine” matters. We expect that
brokers will be allowed to exercise discretionary authority for beneficial owners who
have not provided voting instructions ONLY with respect to Proposal 3 — the ratification
of the appointment of Cherry Bekaert as our independent registered public accounting
firm for 2014, but not with respect to any of the other proposals to be voted on at the an-
nual meeting. If you hold your shares in street name, please provide voting instructions
to your bank, broker or other nominee, so that your shares may be voted on all other
proposals.

When a brokerage firm votes its customers’ unvoted shares on routine matters, these
shares are counted for purposes of establishing a quorum to conduct business at the meeting.
If a brokerage firm indicates on a proxy that it does not have discretionary authority to vote
certain shares on a particular matter, then those shares will be treated as “broker non-votes.”
Shares represented by broker non-votes will be counted in determining whether there is a
quorum.

Our directors are elected by plurality, provided a quorum is present. The proxies
given for the annual meeting may not be voted for more than one director. Shareholders
do not have cumulative voting rights or dissenters’ rights. For any other matter coming
before the meeting, the matter will be deemed to be approved if the votes cast in favor of
the action exceed the votes cast opposing the action.

If you are a shareholder of record (i.e., you hold your shares directly instead of
through a brokerage account) and you change your mind after you return your proxy card,
you may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before the polls close at the
meeting. You may do this by:




* signing, dating, and returning another proxy card with a later date;
* voting in person at the meeting; or
* giving written notice to our corporate Secretary, Mr. Anthony W, Shurtz.

If you hold your shares through a brokerage account, you must contact your
brokerage firm to revoke your proxy.

How will we solicit proxies, and who will pay for the cost of the solicitation?

We will solicit proxies principally by mailing these proxy materials to our sharehold-
ers, but our directors, officers, and employees may also solicit proxies by telephone or in
person. We will pay all of the costs of soliciting proxies, which primarily include the costs
of preparing, printing, and mailing these proxy materials.

How can a shareholder propose business to be brought before next year’s annual meeting?

We must receive any shareholder proposals intended to be presented at our 2015
annual meeting of shareholders on or before July 21, 2015 for a proposal to be eligible
to be included in the proxy statement and form of proxy to be distributed by the board
of directors for that meeting. We must receive any shareholder proposals intended to be
presented from the floor at our 2015 annual meeting of shareholders not less than 60 days
before the meeting, except that if we give less than 40 days notice or prior public disclosure
of the date of the meeting, we must receive the proposal not later than the close of busi-
ness on the 10th day following the day on which we mail notice of the date of the meeting
or publicly disclose the date.

Directions to the Annual Meeting of Shareholders

The annual meeting of shareholders will be held at 9:00 a.m. EST, on Friday,
December 12, 2014 at Villa Christina at Perimeter Summit located at 4000 Summit
Boulevard, Atlanta, Georgia 30319. The meeting facility is located south of the intersection
of Ashford Dunwoody Road and I-285. From that intersection, proceed south on Ashford
Dunwoody Road to Lake Hearn Drive NE, the first road on the right. Turn right on Lake
Hearn Drive NE, then turn left on Parkside Place. Take the first right on Summit Drive, and
Villa Christina will be on your left.



PROPOSAL 1 - ELECTION OF DIRECTOR

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table provides information about our directors and executive officers

as of the date of this proxy statement.

Term as
Director
Name Age Expires Position
Charles S. Roberts . . . 68 2015 Chairman of the Board, Chief Exec-
utive Officer, and President
John L. Davis . ..... 49 2016 Director, Chairman of the Compen-
sation Committee and Member of
Audit Committee and Nominating
and Governance Committee
Charles R. Elliott . . .. 61 2015 Director
Weldon R. Humphries... 77 2016 Director, Member of Audit Com-
mittee and Compensation
Committee
Wm. Jarell Jones ... .... 66 2014 Director, Chairman of Audit Com-
mittee and Chairman of Nominating
and Governance Committee, and
Member of Compensation
Committee
Anthony W. Shurtz . ... .. 48 N/A Chief Financial Officer, Secretary,

Nominee for Election as Director

and Treasurer

This section gives information about the nominee for election as a director of
Roberts Realty: Mr. Wm. Jarell Jones, who is currently a director of Roberts Realty. Our
Nominating and Governance Committee has recommended that Mr. Jones be reelected
to the board for a term expiring at the 2017 annual meeting of shareholders at which a
successor shall be elected and shall qualify.

The board of directors recommends a vote FOR the nominee.

Our articles of incorporation require the board of directors to be divided into three
classes as nearly equal in number as possible, and we have four other directors. The terms
of office of Mr. Charles S. Roberts and Mr. Charles R. Elliott expire at the annual meeting




in 2015, and the terms of office of Mr. John L. Davis and Mr. Weldon R. Humphries expire
at the annual meeting in 2016.

Biographical Information for Nominee for Director

If elected, Mr. Jones will serve for his three-year term and until his successor is
elected and qualified. Mr. Jones has agreed to serve as a director if elected.

Wm. Jarell Jones, a director since October 1994, is an attorney and has practiced law
with the firm of Wm. Jarell Jones, P.C., since November 1993, except that he practiced with
Jones + Turner Law Offices LLP from August 2011 to July 2012. Mr. Jones is a former
Certified Public Accountant, and in 1976, he formed the public accounting firm of Jones &
Kolb in Atlanta, Georgia and served as Senior Tax Partner and Co-Managing Partner until
December 1988. In 1990, Mr. Jones moved to Statesboro and practiced law with the firm of
Edenfield, Stone & Cox until November 1992 and then with the firm of Jones & Rutledge
from November 1992 until November 1993. Mr. Jones was formerly a director for six years
and the Chairman for two years of the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority.

Mr. Jones is the acting chief financial officer and a director of Efficien Technology
LLC, which uses a patented process that converts waste tire rubber into a solvent that is
useful to the oil and gas industry. He is also the chief executive officer of Amiare LLC,
which has an agreement with Efficien to purchase its technology.

In addition, Mr. Jones is also the President and the sole shareholder of Palmetto
Realty Company, a real estate development and brokerage company that was primarily
involved in the development of single-family residential lots in coastal South Carolina
and Georgia. Mr. Jones was also a partner and investor in several other real estate de-
velopments primarily involved in residential lot and home sales in coastal Georgia and
South Carolina. Mr. Jones personally guaranteed the loans for these developments along
with his other partners who were the real estate developers of these developments. With
the collapse of the residential real estate market beginning in 2008, particularly in those
coastal areas, the developments were unable to generate sufficient cash flow to maintain
the properties and keep the development/construction loans current. Additionally, the
market value of all of these properties plummeted far below the amount of the debt and
the real estate developers were unable to secure refinancing of any of these properties
or work out any suitable modifications with the lenders. As a result of these difficulties
and his personal guaranties of the loans, Mr. Jones personally filed a bankruptcy petition
under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on September 2, 2010 in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Georgia. This pro-
ceeding was converted to Chapter 7 on January 17, 2012 and was discharged on
December 18, 2012.



The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has con-
cluded that Mr. Jones should serve as a director because of his legal and accounting
expertise and his service as chairman of several committees of the board of directors,
including the audit committee. The committee also took into account that Mr. Jones
is “independent” under SEC Rule 10A-3 and under Section 803A of the NYSE MKT
exchange listing standards and is an “audit committee financial expert.”

Biographical Information for Continuing Directors

Charles S. Roberts has served as our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer, and President since he founded the company in 1994. Mr. Roberts owns, directly
or indirectly, all of the outstanding stock of, and is the president and sole director of, each
of the Roberts Companies.

In 1970, Mr. Roberts established Roberts Properties, Inc. (“Roberts Properties™)
to develop, construct, and manage multifamily apartment communities. Mr. Roberts and
Roberts Properties have won numerous local, regional, and national awards for the de-
velopment of these communities. Mr. Roberts has been a national speaker on the topic of
developing upscale multifamily housing and has been recognized as a leader in this indus-
try. On a regional level, Roberts Properties has been awarded 21 prestigious Aurora Awards
by the Southeast Builders Conference; including eight times for the best rental apartment
community. Roberts Properties has also been awarded the coveted Golden Aurora Award
for best overall development in the Southeast. On a national level, Roberts Properties
Management was recognized as the Property Management Company of the Year by the
National Association of Home Builders, and Roberts Properties has twice been awarded
the prestigious Pillars of the Industry Award from the National Association of Home Builders
for the best upscale apartment community.

Mr. Roberts served as chairman of the board of directors of Big Trees Forest Pre-
serve, a 30-acre urban forest in Sandy Springs, Georgia dedicated to conservation, pres-
ervation, and education, from 2006 to 2009. During this period, he personally donated
over $100,000 to the Preserve in support of its mission. Additionally, in January 2012,
Mr. Roberts was appointed to the City of Sandy Springs Economic Development Council,
and in October 2012, he was appointed to the City of Sandy Springs Design Review Board.

As a result of his experience in design, development, and construction, coupled
with his knowledge of architectural history, Mr. Roberts was appointed as a commissioner
to the Landmarks Preservation Commission of the historic Town of Palm Beach, Florida.
He served as a Landmarks Preservation Commissioner from 2007 through 2010.

Mr. Roberts supports numerous charitable organizations and has participated in
a wide variety of philanthropic endeavors. He has been actively involved with the Cystic




Fibrosis Foundation for more than 20 years and served as Auction Chairman of the 2008
Sixty-Five Roses Ball, which raised more than $500,000. Mr. Roberts was a founding spon-
sor of the Fulton County “Beat the Odds” program, which provided college scholarships
and other assistance to Fulton County high school students who triumphed over life’s hard-
ships to excel both academically and personally. As a lifelong supporter of the YMCA,
Mr. Roberts donated $75,000 for the construction of an Aerobics Center at the Ed Isakson/
Alpharetta Family YMCA in Alpharetta, Georgia.

The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has con-
cluded that Mr. Roberts should serve as a director because he is our founder and largest
shareholder, he has served as our Chief Executive Officer since 1994, and he has more
than 40 years of experience in real estate development, construction, and management,
particularly with respect to multifamily apartment communities.

John L. Davis, a director since November 2008, has more than 20 years of experi-
ence in the commercial banking industry. Mr. Davis has been an Executive Vice President,
Capital Markets — Real Estate Investment Banking, with Jones Lang LaSalle in Atlanta
since June 2013. In that role at Jones Lang LaSalle, he focuses on loan originations for the
office and retail property sectors. Mr. Davis is also President of Bravo Realty Consulting,
Inc., a company that he formed in 2007 to provide consulting services for small and mid-
dle market real estate companies seeking debt and equity. In 2011, he co-founded Spring
Street Capital, LLC, a commercial real estate mortgage banking company. From May 2005
to November 2007, he served as a Senior Director of Wrightwood Capital, a structured
debt and equity provider. Prior to 2005, he was a Senior Vice President with Compass
Bank for 10 years. During his tenure with Compass Bank, Mr. Davis was our relationship
manager and was involved in all facets of our business relationship with Compass Bank.
Prior to joining Compass Bank, he was a banker for seven years with Hibernia Bank in
New Orleans. Mr. Davis has also been a principal in Sacred Heart Management, LLC, a
healthcare management and investment company, since 1999.

The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has concluded
that Mr. Davis should serve as a director because he has extensive banking experience, par-
ticularly as a real estate lender. This experience is particularly valuable to us as we extend
our current financing and seek to obtain financing for the construction of new multifamily
apartment communities. The committee also values his extensive business experience and
his substantial knowledge about our business and properties. The committee also took into
account that he is “independent” under SEC Rule 10A-3 and under Section 803A of the
NYSE MKT exchange listing standards and that his financial expertise qualifies him to
serve on our audit committee.

Charles R. Elliott served as a director from October 1994 to February 1995 and
became a director again in 2000. From May 31, 2006 until his retirement on November
10, 2014, Mr. Elliott was our Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer. Previously,



he was our Secretary and Treasurer from our inception until July 15, 2002, and our Chief
Financial Officer from April 1995 until July 15, 2002, when he became our Senior Vice
President — Real Estate. He left Roberts Realty as a full-time employee on August 30,
2002 and returned on a full-time basis from February 17, 2003 to September 30, 2003 as
our Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Elliott first joined Roberts Properties in August 1993 as
Chief Financial Officer and served in that role until April 1995, when he was appointed
Chief Financial Officer of Roberts Realty. He worked for Hunneman Real Estate Corpo-
ration in Boston, Massachusetts from 1979 to 1993. He holds an undergraduate degree in
Accounting and a master’s degree in Finance.

The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has concluded
that Mr. Elliott should serve as a director because of his experience from serving as our Chief
Financial Officer for much of our existence and his expertise in real estate finance, acquisi-
tions, and dispositions, which we believe will continue to be particularly valuable to us.

Weldon R. Humphries, a director since December 2011, had a distinguished twenty-year
career with Manor Care, Inc. and subsidiary companies (Choice Hotels International and
SunBurst Hospitality Corp.) where he served as Senior Vice President of Real Estate and
Development from 1978 — 1998. He was responsible for asset management, acquisitions,
and development for all three companies. During his tenure, each company was listed on the
New York Stock Exchange.

Mr. Humphries earned a BBA from the University of Houston, an MBA from the
University of Hartford, and served as an officer in the United States Marine Corps before
starting his career in the field of real estate and finance. He began his career in commercial
mortgage lending at Connecticut General Life Insurance Company and later became Vice
President and head of real estate for Arvida Corporation, one of Florida’s largest land owners
and developers. He was subsequently selected by Republic Mortgage Investors, a REIT, to
oversee its real estate portfolio as Vice President of Investments before joining Manor Care.
Mr. Humphries is also a licensed real estate broker, has taught real estate appraisal and mort-
gage banking courses, and has been a guest speaker at numerous real estate and investment
seminars and at the National Association of Home Builders.

The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has concluded
that Mr. Humphries should serve as a director because of his extensive experience as a real
estate executive, commercial mortgage banker, and real estate investor. His commercial mort-
gage banking background is of particular value as we extend our current financing and seek to
obtain financing for the construction of new multifamily apartment communities. The com-
mittee also took into account that Mr. Humphries is “independent” under SEC Rule 10A-3
and under Section 803A of the NYSE MKT exchange listing standards and that his financial
expertise qualifies him to serve on our audit committee.




Biographical Information for Executive Officers

Our executive officers are Charles S. Roberts, our Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer, and President; and Anthony W. Shurtz, our Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, and Treasurer. Because Mr. Roberts is a director, we have provided his biographical
information above.

Anthony W. Shurtz, age 48, became our Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, and Trea-
surer on November 10, 2014. For the past 17 years, Mr. Shurtz has served as the Chief
Financial Officer of Roberts Properties and its subsidiaries and certain affiliates (col-
lectively, the “Roberts Companies”), which develop, construct and own multifamily and
other commercial real estate properties. The Roberts Companies are wholly owned by
Mr. Roberts, our President and Chief Executive Officer. As CFO, Mr. Shurtz directed the
financial operations of Roberts Properties and its affiliated investment vehicles. Mr. Shurtz
has extensive experience in completing private securities offerings and with the prepa-
ration and filing of current and periodic reports and proxy statements for SEC-report-
ing companies. Mr. Shurtz has expertise in structuring, financing, and closing real estate
transactions, real estate partnerships, and other real estate joint ventures. Mr. Shurtz was
also directly involved in the acquisition, financing, development, management, and sale
of 20 different apartment communities sponsored by Roberts Properties and its affiliated
entities. Before joining Roberts Properties in July 1993, Mr. Shurtz began his career with
the public accounting firm of Jones and Kolb, CPAs in 1991. Mr. Shurtz received his BBA
degree in Accounting from Georgia State University.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The table on the following page describes the beneficial ownership of shares of our
common stock as of November 5, 2014 for:

» each person or entity known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5%
of the outstanding shares of our common stock;

e each director and each named executive officer; and
e our directors and executive officers as a group.

Except as noted in the footnotes, each person named in the following table directly
owns and has sole voting and investment power over all such person’s shares of common
stock and units of partnership interest in Roberts Properties Residential, L.P,, our operat-
ing partnership. Mr. Roberts, the only person known by us to beneficially own more than
5% of our common stock, has an address in care of our principal office. The Number of
Shares Beneficially Owned column in the table includes the shares owned by the persons
named but does not include shares they may acquire by exchanging units for shares of
common stock as explained in the following paragraphs. The Number of Shares Underly-
ing Units Beneficially Owned column in the table reflects all shares that each person has
the right to acquire by exchanging units for shares, subject to the limitations described in
the following paragraphs. In the case of persons who own shares and units (and all direc-
tors and executive officers as a group), the percentages in the Percent of Class column
are not equal to the number of shares then owned by the person divided by the number
of outstanding shares. Instead, under SEC rules, the shares that the person or group can
acquire in exchange for units are deemed to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned
by the person or group holding those units when calculating the percentage ownership of
that person or group, although shares that other persons can acquire in exchange for units
are not treated as outstanding for purposes of that calculation.

Unitholders generally have the right to require the operating partnership to re-
deem their units. To preserve our qualification as a real estate investment trust, our arti-
cles of incorporation limit beneficial ownership by Mr. Roberts to 35% of the outstanding
shares. Accordingly, Mr. Roberts cannot redeem units for shares if upon their redemption
he would hold more than 35% of our outstanding shares.

Any unitholder who submits units for redemption will receive, at our election,
either: (a) a number of shares equal to the number of units submitted for redemption
multiplied by the applicable conversion factor, which is currently 1.647 shares for each unit
submitted for redemption, or (b) cash equal to the average of the daily market prices of
the common stock for the 10 consecutive trading days before the date of submission mul-
tiplied by the product of the number of units submitted times the applicable conversion
factor. Our policy is to issue shares in exchange for units submitted for redemption.

11




Number of

Shares
Number of  Underlying
Shares Units

Name of Beneficially Beneficially Percent of
Beneficial Owner Owned Owned Total Class®?
Charles S. Roberts 2,752,824 1,533,895® 4,286,719 37.0%
John L. Davis 27,8524 — 27,852 *
Charles R. Elliott 46,200 — 46,200 *
Weldon R. Humphries 62,029 — 62,029 *
Wm. Jarell Jones 48,968 — 48,968 *

All directors and executive offi

cers as a group: (6 persons) @

3,067,681 1,533,895 4,601,576  39.7%

* Less than 1%.

(1) The total number of shares outstanding used in calculating this percentage is

)
€)
(4)

()
(6)

11,600,802, which is the sum of (a) 10,066,907, the number of shares deemed
outstanding for the purposes of this calculation as of November 5, 2014, plus (b)
1,533,895, the number of shares underlying units beneficially owned as of November
5, 2014.

Includes 258,705 shares owned by Mr. Roberts’ spouse; Mr. Roberts disclaims bene-
ficial ownership of those shares.

Reflects Mr. Roberts’ beneficial ownership of 931,329 units, each of which is ex-
changeable for 1.647 shares of our common stock.

Includes 24,588 shares owned indirectly through the 401(k) plan of Bravo Realty
Consulting, Inc.

Owned jointly with Mr. Elliott’s spouse.

Owned indirectly through The Humphries Living Trust.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Introduction

The directors meet to review our operations and discuss our business plans and
strategies for the future. The board of directors met 17 times in 2013. During 2013, each
director attended at least 75% of the aggregate of the number of board meetings and the
number of meetings held by the committees of the board on which he served. Our policy is
that all directors attend the annual meeting of shareholders. All of our directors attended
the 2013 annual meeting.

The board has determined that each of Mr. Davis, Mr. Humphries, and Mr. Jones
is “independent” for purposes of Section 803A of the NYSE MKT exchange listing
standards.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The board of directors has established an Audit Committee, a Nominating and
Governance Committee, and a Compensation Committee.

Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee is composed of Mr. Jones, its Chairman,
Mr. Davis, and Mr. Humphries. The Audit Committee was established for the purpose of
overseeing our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of our financial
statements, and its functions are described in the Report of the Audit Committee below.
The board has determined that Mr. Jones is an “audit committee financial expert” and
that each member of the Audit Committee is “independent” under the SEC’s Rule 10A-3
and under Section 803A of the NYSE MKT exchange listing standards. The Audit Com-
mittee met seven times in 2013, and the members of the committee reviewed our quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K with management and our
independent auditors.

Nominating and Governance Committee. This committee is responsible for
the oversight of the composition of the board and its committees, and identification
and recommendation of individuals to become board members. Our Nominating and
Governance Committee is composed of Mr. Jones, its Chairman, and Mr. Davis. The
board has determined that each member of the Nominating and Governance Committee
is “independent” under Section 803A of the NYSE MKT exchange listing standards. The
Nominating and Governance Committee met once in 2013. Any shareholder interested
in nominating a director should review the material described under “Nominations of
Directors” below.

Compensation Committee. This committee oversees management of some of

our human resources activities, including determining compensation for executive of-
ficers and administering our employee benefit plans. Our Compensation Committee is
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composed of Mr. Davis, its Chairman, Mr. Humphries, and Mr. Jones. The board has
determined that each member of the Compensation Committee is “independent” un-
der Section 803A of the NYSE MKT exchange listing standards. The Compensation
Committee met two times in 2013.

Before the Compensation Committee determines the compensation of the execu-
tive officers each year, Mr. Roberts meets with the members of the committee to express
his opinion regarding his own compensation and that of our other executive officers. The
Compensation Committee then determines the compensation of our executive officers in
a private meeting in which no executive officer participates.

We did not retain a compensation consultant in 2013, although the Compensation
Committee has the authority to retain legal, accounting and other advisors as it deter-
mines necessary to carry out its functions, without deliberation or approval by the board
or management.

Board Leadership Structure

The board does not have a policy regarding the separation of the roles of Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board because the board believes it is in the best
interests of the company to make that determination based on the position and direc-
tion of the company and the membership of the board. The board has determined that
having Mr. Roberts, our Chief Executive Officer, serve as Chairman of the board is in
the best interest of our shareholders at this time because this structure makes the best
use of Mr. Roberts’ extensive knowledge of the company and his more than 40 years of
experience in real estate development, construction, and management, particularly with
respect to multifamily communities.

Board’s Role in Risk Oversight

The board provides oversight of our risk management processes. Management
identifies and prioritizes material risks, and each prioritized risk is referred to a board
committee or the full board for oversight. For example, financial risks are referred to
the Audit Committee. The board regularly reviews information regarding our properties,
loans, operations, liquidity and capital resources. The board informally reviews the risks
associated with these items at each board meeting.

Our compensation program for our executive officers is composed of (a) a cash
salary; and (b) bonuses that may be paid from time to time in the sole discretion of the
Compensation Committee for current or long-term performance. Taking the foregoing
into account, the Compensation Committee and the full board have reviewed our com-
pensation program and have concluded that it does not encourage excessive risk-taking.
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Report of the Audit Committee

Our Audrt Commlttee operatzes under a written charter adopted by the board Our
Audit Committee is responsible for providing oversight of the independent audit process
and the independent auditors, reviewing our financial statements and the financial state-
ments of our subsidiaries and discussing them with management and the independent
auditors, reviewing and discussing with management and the independent auditors the
adequacy and effectiveness of our internal accounting and disclosure controls and proce-
dures, and providing oversight of legal and regulatory compliance and ethics programs.
‘Fhe Audit Committee communicates regularly with our management, including our Chief
Financial Officer, and with our auditors. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
conducting an appropriate review of and pre-approving all related person transactions in
accordance with the NYSE MKT exchange listing standards, and evaluating the effectrve-
ness of the Audit Committee charter at least annually.

To comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Audlt Committee adopted
a policy that pre-approves specified audit and tax-related services to ‘be provided by our
1ndependent auditors. The policy forbids our independent auditors from prov1d1ng the
services enumerated in Section 201(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

In performing all of these functions,’ ‘the Audit Committee acts only inan oversight
capacity. The Audit Committee reviews our quarterly and annual reporting on Form 10-Q
and Form 10-K prior to filing with the SEC. In its oversight role, the Audit Committee re-
lles on the work and assurances of our management, wh1ch has the prrmary responsrbrhty
report express an opinion on the oonform1ty of our annual ﬁnancraI statements w1th  gen-
erally accepted accountlng prmcrples

When our audited consolidated balarice sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
and the related consohdated statements of operatrons shareholders equlty, ‘and cash flows
for the years then ended, were prepared and includéd in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31,2013, our independent registered public accounting
firm was CohnReznick LLP (“CohnReznick”). The Audit Committee reviewed and dis-
cussed the auidited financial statements with management and discussed with CohnReznick
those matters required to be discussed by ColinReznick with the Audit Committee under
the rules adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the “PCAOB”).
The Audit Committee received the written disclosures and the lettér from CohnReznick
required by the applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding CohnReznick’s commu-
nications with the Audit Committee concerning independence, and discussed with repre-
sentatives of CohnReznick their mdependence from the corripany and our management.
The Audit Committee reported its findings to our board of dlrectors
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Based on the reviews and discussions described above, the Audit Committee rec-
ommended to our board of directors that the audited financial statements be included in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 for filing
with the SEC. A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K is part of the Annual Report to
Shareholders enclosed with these proxy materials.

The Audit Committee’s report shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by
any general statement incorporating by reference this proxy statement into any filing un-
der the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent
that we specifically incorporate the information contained in the report by reference, and
it shall not be deemed filed under such acts.

Wm. Jarell Jones, Chairman
John L. Davis
Weldon R. Humphries

Nominations of Directors

The responsibilities of the Nominating and Governance Committee include evalu-
ating and recommending to the full board of directors the director nominee or nominees
to stand for election at our annual meetings of shareholders. Although the committee is
authorized to retain search firms and to compensate them for their services, it has not
elected to do so to date.

The Nominating and Governance Committee examines each director nominee on
a case-by-case basis regardless of who recommends the nominee. In considering whether
to recommend any particular candidate for inclusion in the board’s slate of recommended
director nominees, the committee considers the following criteria, among others: the can-
didate’s availability, insight, practical wisdom, professional and personal ethics and values
to ensure they are consistent with the company’s longstanding values and standards; expe-
rience at the policy-making level in business, real estate or other areas of endeavor spec-
ified by the board; commitment to enhancing shareholder value; and ability and desire to
represent the interests of all shareholders. The committee does not assign specific weights
to particular criteria, and no particular criterion is a prerequisite for any prospective nom-
inee. Although we have no policy regarding diversity, we believe that the backgrounds
and qualifications of our directors, considered as a group, should provide a composite mix
of experience, knowledge, and abilities that will allow the board of directors to fulfill its
responsibilities.

In addition to the qualification criteria above, the Nominating and Governance
Committee also takes into account whether a potential director nominee qualifies as an
“audit committee financial expert” as the SEC defines that term, and whether the poten-
tial director nominee would qualify as an “independent” director under the listing stan-
dards of the NYSE MKT exchange.

16



The Nominating and Governance Committee evaluated our board’s nominee,
Mr. Jones, in light of the above criteria and recommended to the board that he be nom-
inated for reelection as a director at the 2014 annual meeting. Our board approved that
recommendation.

The Nominating and Governance Committee will consider persons recommended
by shareholders to become nominees for clection as directors, provided that those recom-
mendations are submitted in writing to our Corporate Secretary specifying the nominee’s
name and qualifications for board membership. For a shareholder to nominate a director
candidate, the shareholder must comply with the advance notice provisions and other re-
quirements of Section 8 of Article I of our bylaws.

We urge any shareholder who intends to recommend a dircctor candidate to the
Nominating and Governance Committce for consideration to review thoroughly our
Nominating and Governance Committee Charter and Section 8 of Article I of our by-
laws. Copies of our Nominating and Governance Committee Charter and our bylaws are
available upon written request to Chicf Financial Officer, Roberts Realty Investors, Inc.,
375 Northridge Road, Suite 330, Atlanta, Georgia 30350.

Communications with the Board of Directors

The board of directors has established a process for shareholders to send commu-
nications to the board of dircctors. Sharcholders may communicate with the board as a
group or individually by writing to: The Board of Directors of Roberts Realty Investors,
Inc. ¢/o Chief Financial Officer, Roberts Realty Investors, Inc., 375 Northridge Road,
Suite 330, Atlanta, Georgia 30350. The Chief Financial Officer may require reasonable
evidence that a communication or other submission is made by a Roberts Realty share-
holder before transmitting the communication to the board or a board member. On a
periodic basis, the Chief Financial Officer will compile and forward all sharcholder com-
munications submitted to the board or the individual directors.




DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION

Compensation of Named Executive Officers

Our executive officers are currently Charles S. Roberts, our Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer, and President, and Anthony W. Shurtz, our Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, and Treasurer. Charles R. Elliott served as Chief Financial Officer, Secretary,
and Treasurer until his retirement on November 10, 2014. Biographical information for
Mr. Roberts, Mr. Shurtz, and Mr. Elliott is included in Proposal 1 — Election of Direc-
tor — Biographical Information for Continuing Directors and — Biographical Information
for Executive Officers above. Under applicable SEC rules, Mr. Roberts and Mr. Elliott are
our “named executive officers.” Our executive officers hold no stock options or unvested
shares of restricted stock and do not have employment agreements.

Summary Compensation Table for 2013 and 2012

Salary Bonus Total
Name and Principal Position Year $) % )]
Charles S. Roberts, 2013 225,000 150,000 375,000
Chief Executive Officer, 2012 225,000 125000 350,000
President, and Chairman
of the Board
Charles R. Elliott, 2013 18,000 — 18,000
Chief Financial Officer, 2012 18,000 _ 18,000

Secretary, and Treasurer

Compensation of Mr. Roberts

The Compensation Committee has followed a performance-based compensation
philosophy related to Mr. Roberts’ compensation. Accordingly, Mr. Roberts has agreed
(a) to accept a relatively low base salary, given his more than 40 years of experience in real
estate development, construction, and management, particularly with respect to multifam-
ily communities; and (b) to rely on the awarding of discretionary bonuses based on specific
achievements or for long-term performance. Mr. Roberts has not received an increase in
his annual salary since January 2007, and we have never provided him with any employee
benefits such as medical and life insurance, retirement or pension plan contributions or
deferred compensation. Mr. Roberts also does not receive any auto allowance or reim-
bursement for mileage.

In approving Mr. Roberts’ bonus for 2013, the compensation committee took
into account Mr. Roberts’ efforts in leading: (a) the sale of 20.6 acres of the Peachtree
Parkway property to Lennar Multifamily Investors, LLC, resulting in $7,090,000 of sales
proceeds (without the involvement of a broker and thus without the payment of a bro-
kerage commission), the repayment of $7,000,200 in debt and the decrease in our annual
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operating expenses of $475,000; (b) the sale of an additional 1.5 acres of the Peachtree
Parkway property to another unrelated purchaser, resulting in $450,000 of sales proceeds
(without the payment of a brokerage commission); (c) the sale of the Northridge Office
Building, resulting in $5,280,000 of sales proceeds, the repayment of $2,422,533 in debt and
the decrease in our annual operating expenses of $210,000; (d) the acquisition and closing
of a new $5,500,000 loan secured by the North Springs property, resulting in $2,553,660 of
net proceeds for working capital purposes and the repayment of the $2,000,000 Northridge
land loan, leaving the Northridge land, which had a book value of $4,373,789, unencum-
bered; (¢) the renewal and extension of $13.0 million of maturing debt; and (f) the comple-
tion of the Company’s exit from the retail and office business through the disposition of the
Bassett and Spectrum retail centers in satisfaction of $7,098,411 of debt and the decrease in
our annual operating expenses of $165,000. We paid this bonus in 2014 for 2013.

In approving Mr. Roberts’ bonus for 2012, the compensation committee took into
account Mr. Roberts’ efforts in leading (a) the sale of 2.937 acres of the Peachtree Parkway
property resulting in $1,200,000 of sales proceeds (without the involvement of a broker and
thus without the payment of a brokerage commission), the reimbursement of $515,530 in
costs previously incurred to allow the Peachtree Parkway property to be rezoned for a com-
mercial use and the repayment of $1,174,800 in debt; (b) the acquisition and closing of a
new $2,000,000 loan secured by the Northridge property; (c) the renewal and extension of
$12.9 million of maturing debt; (d) the pursuit of and litigation with a tenant on a defaulted
lease obligation resulting in a $135,000 settlement being paid by the defaulting tenant; and
() the closing of four new leases and the renewal and extension of five leases representing
27,684 square feet at our Bassett and Spectrum retail centers, all but one of which was accom-
plished without the payment of a brokerage commission. We paid this bonus in 2013 for 2012.

Given these compensation arrangements and his status as our largest shareholder,
the Compensation Committee believes that his interests are strongly aligned with the in-
terests of our shareholders.

Compensation of Mr. Elliott

Until September 22, 2014, when the Compensation Committee revised Mr. Elliott’s
compensation arrangement as described below, the Compensation Committee believed it
was appropriate to compensate Mr. Elliott on an hourly basis at $70 per hour, for the actual
number of hours he worked and for which he elected to bill us for his service as our Chief
Financial Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer. On September 22, 2014, the Compensation
Committee revised Mr. Elliott’s compensation arrangement, effective January 1, 2014, to
pay him $3,000 per month in lieu of the hourly rate at which he was previously compensated.
In the past, the Compensation Committee has awarded bonuses to Mr. Elliott from time
to time based on specific achievements or for long-term performance. Mr. Elliott receives
no employee benefits, such as medical and life insurance, retirement plan contributions or
deferred compensation. Mr. Elliott did receive our standard director fees of $18,000 during
each of 2013 and 2012, which amounts are included in the salary amounts shown in the table.
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Compensation of Mr. Shurtz

The Compensation Committee has determined that Mr. Shurtz will be paid an an-
nual salary of $140,000. In addition, Mr. Shurtz will be entitled to a lump sum severance
payment equal to six months’ salary upon the occurrence of a “change in control” of the
Company as defined in the form of Directors and Officers Indemnification Agreement
adopted by the Company.

In light of the foregoing, the Compensation Committee believes that the compen-
sation program for our executive officers is appropriate.

Compensation of Directors

The following table summarizes the compensation we paid to our non-employee
directors in 2013. The table includes any person who served as a director during 2013 who
was not a named executive officer.

Director Compensation for 2013

Fees Earned

or Paid in Cash Total
Name &) %)
John L. Davis 18,000 18,000
Wm. Jarell Jones 30,000 30,000
Weldon R. Humphries 18,000 18,000

During 2013, we paid our directors other than Mr. Roberts an annual fee of
$18,000 for attendance, in person or by telephone, at meetings of the board of directors
and its committees. We paid additional compensation of $1,000 per month to Mr. Jones
for serving as the chairman of the audit committee and the nominating and governance
committee. In addition, we reimburse our directors for reasonable travel expenses and
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their activities on our behalf. These
reimbursements are not reflected in the table above. Our directors hold no stock options
or unvested shares of restricted stock.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors, execu-
tive officers, and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of our outstanding common
stock to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in their own-
ership of our common stock. Directors, executive officers and greater than 10% sharehold-
ers are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of the forms they file. To our
knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished to us, during
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, our directors, executive officers and greater than
10% shareholders complied with all applicable Section 16(a) filing requirements.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

General

Roberts Realty conducts its business through Roberts Properties Residential, L.P,
which we refer to as the operating partnership. Roberts Realty owns an 80.23% inter-
est in the operating partnership as of November 5, 2014 and is its sole general partner.
Mr. Charles S. Roberts, our Chief Executive Officer, owns all of the outstanding shares
of each of Roberts Properties, Inc. (“Roberts Properties”) and Roberts Properties Con-
struction, Inc. (“Roberts Construction,” together with Roberts Properties, the “Roberts
Companies™). As explained below, we have entered into transactions with the Roberts
Companies and paid them to perform services for us.

Under applicable SEC rules, this section describes any transaction that has oc-
curred since January 1, 2012, or any currently proposed transaction, in which we were
or are to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or one
percent of our total assets at year end for the last two completed fiscal years, and in which
our officers, directors, and certain other “related persons” as defined in the SEC rules
had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. Our Audit Committee, which is
composed of three independent directors, approved these transactions in accordance with
the committee’s charter and in compliance with the applicable listing rules of the NYSE
MKT stock exchange. Our board of directors also approved the transactions in accordance
with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. Notes 3 and 9 to our audited consolidated
financial statements included in our 2013 Annual Report to Shareholders provide further
detail regarding some of the transactions described in this section.

Transactions with the Roberts Companies

Overview. We have paid fees to the Roberts Companies for various services and will
continue to do so in the future. We reimburse the Roberts Companies for the costs of cer-
tain services and personnel the Roberts Companies provide to us, and we have retained
the Roberts Companies for development services and construction services for some of our
land parcels. Roberts Realty, its predecessor limited partnerships, and other limited part-
nerships sponsored by Mr. Roberts have previously entered into agreements with Roberts
Properties and Roberts Construction to provide some of these services for 20 apartment
communities with a total of 4,648 units that were sold for a total sales price of $431,701,143.
All of these communities were sold for a substantial profit.

Lease of Office Space in Northridge Office Building. On October 30, 2013, we sold our
37,864 square foot Northridge Office Building to the Fulton County Board of Education, an
unrelated third party, for $5,280,000. Prior to the sale, we leased 4,431 rentable square feet
in the Northridge Office Building to Roberts Properties and 1,920 rentable square feet to
Roberts Construction. Effective as of January 1, 2012, we renewed our leases with the Roberts
Companies for a one-year term with a rental rate of $17.50 per rentable square foot. Effective
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as of January 1, 2013, Roberts Realty again renewed its leases with the Roberts Companies
for a one-year term with a new rental rate of $17.00 per rentable square foot. The renewal
rental rate was higher than a December 2012 lease renewal with an unrelated third party at
the Northridge Office Building. We recognized total rental income from Roberts Properties
and Roberts Construction of $90,342 for the year ended December 31, 2012 and $80,975 for
the year ended December 31, 2013.

Sublease of Office Space. On October 30, 2013, we sold our Northridge Office Build-
ing to the Fulton County Board of Education for $5,280,000 and paid off our $2,422,533
Northridge Office Building loan. This sale also reduced our operating expenses by approx-
imately $210,000 per year. The Fulton County Board of Education will occupy 100% of the
building and as a condition of closing, required that we vacate the building by February 28,
2014, which was later extended to April 5, 2014. Consequently, we were required to seek
new office space in another building. On February 19, 2014, we entered into a sublease for
1,817 square feet of office space with Roberts Capital Partners, LLC. The sublease has a com-
mencement date of April 7, 2014. Roberts Capital Partners, LLC is owned by Mr. Charles
S. Roberts, our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and President. The rental
rates and lease term are the same rental rates and lease term that Roberts Capital Partners,
LLC has with KBS SOR Northridge LLC, the unrelated third party owner of the building.
Roberts Capital Partners, LLC is liable to the building owner for the full three-year term
of its lease; however, we negotiated a 90-day right to terminate our sublease as described
below. The sublease has a three-year term, with a one-year option, which provides for rental
rates of $16.50 per square foot in Year 1, $17.25 per square foot in Year 2, $18.00 per square
foot in Year 3, and $18.75 per square foot for the Year 4 option. We have the right to termi-
nate the sublease upon 90 days notice by paying (a) a minimum of 12 months of rent under
the sublease, plus (b) an early termination amount, which will be the lesser of (x) the next
12 months of rent due under the sublease or (y) the remaining amounts due under the term of
the sublease, as calculated on the early termination date. The minimum total lease payments
to Roberts Capital Partners, LLC will be $61,324 and the maximum total lease payments,
assuming the full three-year term and the exercise of the Year 4 option, would be $128,099.
We believe the favorable terms of our sublease provide us with significant flexibility in
successfully implementing our business plan. Upon execution of the sublease, we paid a
security deposit of $20,577, and we have paid $16,989 in rent during the nine months ended
September 30, 2014.

Release of Restrictive Covenant on Peachtree Parkway Property. In acquiring the
Peachtree Parkway land parcel in December 2004, we assumed and became bound by a
restrictive covenant on the property that was already recorded in the Gwinnett County
records in favor of Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction. The restrictive cov-
enant provided that if the then-owner of the property developed it for residential use,
Roberts Construction, or any other entity designated by Mr. Roberts, would be engaged
as the general contractor for the project on a cost plus basis and would be paid the cost
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of constructing the project plus 5% profit and 5% overhead. (The restrictive covenant
also provided that Roberts Properties, or any entity designated by Mr. Roberts, would
be engaged as the development company for the project, but we previously paid the de-
velopment fees to Roberts Properties for the services they provided in full satisfaction of
that part of the covenant.) These terms and conditions were consistent with our previous
agreements with Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction for development and con-
struction services for multifamily apartment communities. The restrictive covenant was
scheduled to expire on October 29, 2014.

On February 7, 2013, we sold the 20.6-acre Peachtree Parkway land parcel to
Lennar Multifamily Investors, LLC (“Lennar”), an unrelated third party, for $7,590,000,
in accordance with the terms of sale previously reported in our Current Reports on Form
8-K. Lennar had previously informed us and stated in its offer and in the sales contract
that it would not use Roberts Construction as the general contractor. The sales contract
provided that Lennar would not enter into the sales contract unless the restrictive cov-
enant was terminated no later than the closing date at no cost to Lennar. After being
advised by Lennar of this requirement, the Audit Committee negotiated with Roberts
Construction for the release of the restrictive covenant. Roberts Construction agreed in
the sales contract to give up its contractual rights to be the general contractor for the proj-
ect and to release the restrictive covenant on the closing date for a payment of $500,000
from the purchase price to be paid by Lennar. On February 7, 2013, the closing occurred
and Roberts Construction received the payment for releasing the restrictive covenant. We
used the remaining sales proceeds to repay the Peachtree Parkway loan and recorded a
$1,214,192 gain on the sale.

Restrictive Covenant on North Springs Property. Our 10-acre North Springs property
in Fulton County is zoned for 236 multifamily units, 120 condominiums, 210,000 square
feet of office space, and 56,000 square feet of retail space. In acquiring the North Springs
property in January 2005, we assumed and became bound by a pre-existing restrictive cov-
enant on the property that was already recorded in the Fulton County, Georgia real estate
records in favor of Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction. The covenant has the
same terms and conditions as the restrictive covenant related to the Peachtree Parkway
land described above. The restrictive covenant expires on January 3, 2015. We have paid
the development fees to Roberts Properties for the services they provided in full satisfac-
tion of that part of the covenant.

Development Fees. Roberts Properties provides various development services that
include market studies; business plans; assistance with permitting, land use and zoning
issues, easements, and utility issues, as well as exterior design, finish selection, and in-
terior design. We have entered into a design and development agreement with Roberts
Properties for the Highway 20 project and made payments to Roberts Properties as out-
lined in the following table: ‘
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Amounts

Total Amounts Amounts Incurred Remaining
Contract Incurred in Incurred in From 1/1/2014 Contractual
Amount 2012 2013 to 9/30/2014 Commitment
Highway 20  $1,050,000 $0 $35,000 $105,000 $285,000

Construction Contracts. We have entered into cost plus contracts with Roberts
Construction for the Bradley Park, Northridge, Peachtree Parkway, North Springs, and
Highway 20 properties. Under these contracts, we will pay Roberts Construction the cost
of constructing the project plus 5% for overhead and 5% for profit. We pay progress pay-
ments monthly to Roberts Construction based on the work that has been completed. (We
will not make any further payments with respect to the Peachtree Parkway property, which
we have sold.) The following table lists the amounts incurred on these contracts during
2012, 2013, and the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

Amounts Amounts
Incurred for Incurred for
Labeor and 5% Overhead and
Materials Costs 5% Profit
For Twelve Months From For Twelve Months From
Ended December 31, /1/2014to _Ended December 31, 4 /1/2014 to
2013 2012 9/30/2014 2013 2012 9/30/2014
Bradley Park $ 0 $ 922 $0 $ 0§ 92 $0
Northridge 999 145,085 0 100 14,508 0
Peachtree Pkwy 0 1,126 0 0 113 0
North Springs 0 286 0 0 29 0
Highway 20 0 622 0 0 62 0
Totals $999 $148,041 $0 $100 $14,804 $0

Other Payments to Roberts Construction. At our request, Roberts Construction per-
formed repairs and maintenance and made tenant improvements for new leases at our
retail centers and office building. Roberts Construction also performed maintenance on
the land parcels. In 2012, we paid Roberts Construction $149,806 for labor and materials
costs plus $14,981 (5% for profit and 5% for overhead). Additionally, Roberts Construc-
tion received cost reimbursements of $42,914 in 2012; $279,326 in 2013; and $225,731
during the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

Reimbursements to Roberts Properties for Consulting Services. We entered into
a reimbursement arrangement for services provided by Roberts Properties, effective
February 4, 2008, as amended January 1, 2014. Under the terms of the arrangement,
we reimburse Roberts Properties the cost of providing consulting services in an amount
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equal to an agreed-upon hourly billing rate for each employee multiplied by the number
of hours that the employee provided services to us. As amended, the arrangement pro-
vides that the appropriate billing rate shall be calculated by multiplying an hourly cost for
an employee (which is defined as the employee’s salary, plus benefits paid by the Roberts
Companies, divided by 2,080 annual hours) by a factor of 2.25 for all employees (increased
from a factor of 1.7), including Roberts Properties’ Chief Financial Officer (increased
from a factor of 1.8). The reimbursement arrangement allows us to obtain services from
experienced and knowledgeable personnel without having to bear the cost of employing
them on a full-time basis. Under this arrangement, we incurred $136,297 in 2012; $261,014
in 2013; and $389,453 during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. The increases in
2013 and 2014 were because Roberts Properties provided additional services in 2013 and
2014 that replaced the services of a full-time temporary contractor we had retained, which
resulted in a net savings to us.

Other Reimbursements to Roberts Properties. For our operating costs and other
expenses, we reimbursed Roberts Properties $7,221 in 2012; $10,331 in 2013; and $35,845
during the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

Expiration of Sales Contract for Northridge Land. As disclosed in our previous SEC
filings, on June 30, 2011, we entered into a contract to sell our 11-acre Northridge property
to Roberts Properties for $5,060,000, plus the reimbursement of $303,789 of certain de-
velopment and construction expenses. The sales contract was amended on December 19,
2011 to provide for a sales price of $4,070,000 and was subsequently amended several
times to extend the closing date, most recently to June 30, 2013. On July 1, 2013, the sales
contract expired according to its terms, which resulted in our receipt of the $25,000 earnest
money deposit, which Roberts Properties forfeited. Additionally, during the term of the
sales contract Roberts Properties reimbursed us $383,373 for certain development and
construction expenses that we had incurred.

Reciprocal Easememts Agreement. On November 3, 2014, the operating part-
nership entered into a Reciprocal Easements Agreement with Highway Nine Inves-
tors, LLC (“Highway Nine”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Roberts. The Reciprocal
Easements Agreement relates to the development of our 22-acre Bradley Park apart-
ment property. Highway Nine owns a 5.8-acre undeveloped land parcel that is zoned for
commercial development and is adjacent to our Bradley Park apartment property. Un-
der the agreement, the operating partnership obtained temporary, non-exclusive ease-
ments: (a) to allow the operating partnership to deposit Bradley Park’s excess dirt on
the Highway Nine parcel instead of having to haul the excess dirt to a much farther away
location, which results in a construction cost savings for the Bradley Park apartment com-
munity; (b) to allow the operating partnership to perform grading work related to mov-
ing the excess dirt; and (c) to allow the operating partnership to extend a sanitary sewer
line at Highway’s Nine’s expense. Highway Nine also granted the operating partnership a
perpetual, exclusive and irrevocable easement to construct, maintain and use approxi-
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mately 13 surface level parking spaces on a portion of the 5.8-acre Highway Nine com-
mercial parcel. The operating partnership agreed to allow part of the entry drive for the
Highway Nine commercial parcel to be located on a part of the Bradley Park property
that was not being used for the Bradley Park apartment community. These reciprocal
easements will benefit both parties, and no additional consideration was paid by either

party.
Transactions with Anthony W. Shurtz

Effective November 10, 2014, our board of directors appointed Anthony W. Shurtz
as our Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer. As Chief Financial Officer of the
Roberts Companies, Mr. Shurtz has provided real estate, securities, financial and other
consulting services to us since 2010. Under the terms of our reimbursement arrangement
with Roberts Properties as described above, we reimburse Roberts Properties the cost of
providing consulting services in an amount equal to an agreed-upon hourly billing rate for
each employee multiplied by the number of hours that the employee provided services to
us. Under this consulting arrangement, we incurred the following amounts for the services
performed by Mr. Shurtz: $131,637 in 2012, $193,944 in 2013, and $209,136 during the
nine months ended September 30, 2014. (These amounts are also included within the re-
imbursements to Roberts Properties described above.)

Under the 2006 Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. Restricted Stock Plan approved by
the Company’s shareholders in August 2006, Mr. Shurtz received a grant of 50,000 shares
of restricted stock at a grant price of $1.36 per share in 2012 and a grant of 15,625 shares of
restricted stock at a grant price of $.96 per share in 2013, all of which shares vested in 2013.
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PROPOSAL 2 - ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Section 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires us to give shareholders
the opportunity to vote to approve, on a non-binding, advisory basis, the compensation of
our named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement in accordance with the
compensation disclosure rules of the SEC. We seek to align the interests of our named
executive officers with the interests of our shareholders. Our compensation programs
are designed to reward our named executive officers appropriately, while avoiding the
encouragement of unnecessary or excessive risk-taking. The proposal described below,
commonly known as a “say-on-pay” proposal, gives you as a shareholder the opportunity to
express your views regarding the compensation for our named executive officers by voting
to approve or not to approve that compensation as described in this proxy statement.

This vote is advisory, which means that it is not binding on us, the board of direc-
tors, or the Compensation Committee. The vote on this resolution is not intended to ad-
dress any specific element of compensation, but rather relates to the overall compensation
of our named executive officers, as described in this proxy statement in accordance with
the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC.

The board asks our shareholders to vote in favor of the following resolution at the
annual meeting:

“RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to the company’s named executive
officers, as disclosed in the company’s proxy statement for the 2014 annual meet-
ing of shareholders under the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC, is hereby
APPROVED.”

The board of directors recommends that you vote FOR the approval of the resolution
related to the compensation of our named executive officers.
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PROPOSAL 3 — RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Changes in Our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Business Combination of Reznick Group, PC. with JH. Cohn, LLP to form
CohnReznick LLP in 2012

In October 2012, we were informed by Reznick Group, P.C. (“Reznick Group”),
our independent registered public accounting firm at that time, that Reznick Group
had entered into a business combination with J.H. Cohn, LLP (“J.H. Cohn”), another
independent registered public accounting firm. In connection with the business com-
bination, J.H. Cohn legally changed its name to CohnReznick LLP (“CohnReznick”)
and continues to be registered with the PCAOB. As a result of the business combina-
tion and in accordance with applicable SEC rules related to business combinations of
independent registered public accounting firms, on November 5, 2012, Reznick Group
resigned as our independent registered public accounting firm. The audit committee
of our board of directors then appointed CohnReznick, the combined firm, as our in-
dependent registered public accounting firm to audit our consolidated financial state-
ments for the year ended December 31, 2012, effective November 5, 2012. Our audit
engagement team did not change as a result of the business combination.

Reznick Group’s reports on our financial statements for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011 did not contain any adverse opinion or
disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or
accounting principles.

During the two fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011, and
the subsequent interim period through November 5, 2012, there were:

(a) no “disagreements” (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regu-
lation S-K promulgated by the SEC and the related instructions) between
Reznick Group and us on any matter of accounting principles or practices,
financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which, if not
resolved to the satisfaction of Reznick Group, would have caused Reznick
Group to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreements in its
reports on our financial statements for those years; and

(b) no “reportable events” (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regu-
lation S-K).

During the two fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2011 and
the subsequent interim period through November 5, 2012:
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(a) neither we nor anyone on our behalf consulted J.H. Cohn regarding the ap-
plication of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed
or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered with respect
to our financial statements,

(b) J.H. Cohn provided no written report or oral advice to us that was an import-
ant factor we considered in reaching a decision as to any accounting, audit-
ing, or financial reporting issue; and

(c) neither we nor anyone on our behalf consulted J.H. Cohn regarding any mat-
ter that was the subject of a disagreement or a reportable event.

Our Audit Committee appointed CohnReznick to audit our consolidated finan-
cial statements for the year ending December 31, 2013. Because no representative of
CohnReznick is expected to be present at the 2014 annual meeting, CohnReznick will not
be available to make a statement or to respond to appropriate questions.

Engagement of Cherry Bekaert LLP and Dismissal of CohnReznick LLP

On March 28, 2014, our Audit Committee approved the engagement of Cherry
Bekaert LLP (“Cherry Bekaert”) as the Company’s independent registered public ac-
counting firm for the purposes of auditing the Company’s financial statements, effec-
tive as of April 3, 2014. This selection resulted in the dismissal by the Audit Commit-
tee of CohnReznick, which had served in that role until March 28, 2014. The change in
accountants did not result from any dissatisfaction with the quality of professional services
rendered by CohnReznick.

The audit reports of CohnReznick on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 did not contain any
adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to uncer-
tainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.

During the two fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and from January
1, 2014 through March 28, 2014, (i) there were no disagreements with CohnReznick on
any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing
scope or procedures that, if not resolved to CohnReznick’s satisfaction, would have caused
CohnReznick to make reference in connection to their opinion to the subject matter of
the disagreement and (ii) there were no “reportable events” as defined in Item 304(a)(1)
(v) of Regulation S-K.

As noted above, on March 28, 2014, our Audit Committee approved the engage-
ment of Cherry Bekaert as our independent registered public accounting firm for the
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purposes of auditing our financial statements, effective as of April 3, 2014. During the
two fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and from January 1, 2014 through
March 28, 2014, neither we nor (to our knowledge) anyone acting on behalf of us con-
sulted with Cherry Bekaert regarding either (i) the application of accounting principles
to a specified transaction (either completed or proposed), (ii) the type of audit opinion
that might be rendered on our financial statements, or (iii) any matter that was either the
subject matter of a “disagreement,” as described in Item 304(a)(1) of Regulation S-K, or
a “reportable event.”

We are asking our shareholders to ratify the appointment of Cherry Bekaert as our
independent registered public accounting firm for 2014. Although the ratification is not
required by our bylaws or other governing documents, the board is submitting the selec-
tion of Cherry Bekaert to our shareholders for ratification as a matter of good corporate
practice. Even if the shareholders do ratify the appointment, our Audit Committee in its
discretion may direct the appointment of a different independent registered public ac-
counting firm at any time during the year if it believes that such a change would be in the
best interest of us and our shareholders.

The board of directors recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of
Cherry Bekaert as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2014.

Fees Paid to Our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Audit Fees

For 2013

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for professional services rendered for
the audit of our annual financial statements for 2013 and for the review of the financial
statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q during 2013 were $125,000.

For 2012

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for professional services rendered for
the audit of our annual financial statements for 2012 and for the review of the financial
statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q during 2012 were $135,000.

Audit-Related Fees
For 2013
We did not engage CohnReznick to provide, and CohnReznick did not bill us for,

any professional services that were reasonably related to the performance of the audit of
our 2013 financial statements, but which are not reported under Audit Fees above.
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For 2012

CohnReznick provided professional services in the amount of $22,300 that were
reasonably related to the performance of the audit of our 2012 financial statements, but
which are not reported under Audit Fees above.

Reznick Group provided professional services in the amount of $4,500 that were
reasonably related to the performance of the audit of our 2012 financial statements, but
which are not reported under Audit Fees above.

Tax Fees
For 2013

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for professional services rendered related
to tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning for 2013 were $18,000.

For 2012

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for professional services rendered related
to tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning for 2012 were $18,000.

All Other Fees
For 2013

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for real estate consulting services in
2013 were $2,000.

For 2012

The aggregate fees billed by Reznick Group for real estate consulting services in
2012 were $7,500.

Pre-Approval Policy

Our audit committee pre-approval guidelines with respect to pre-approval of audit
and non-audit services are summarized below.

General. The audit committee is required to pre-approve the audit and non-audit
services performed by the independent auditor in order to assure that the provision of
such services does not impair the auditor’s independence. Unless a type of service to be
provided by the independent auditor has received general pre-approval, it will require spe-
cific pre-approval by the audit committee. Any proposed services exceeding pre-approved
cost levels require specific pre-approval by the audit committee.
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Audit Services. The annual audit services engagement terms and fees are subject to
the specific pre-approval of the audit committee. In addition to the annual audit services
engagement specifically approved by the audit committee, the audit committee has granted
general pre-approval for other audit services, which are those services that only the inde-
pendent auditor reasonably can provide.

Audit-related Services. Audit-related services are assurance and related services that
are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial state-
ments and that are traditionally performed by the independent auditor. The audit commit-
tee believes that the provision of audit-related services does not impair the independence
of the auditor.

Tax Services. The audit committee believes that the independent auditor can pro-
vide tax services to us, such as tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice, without im-
pairing the auditor’s independence. The audit committee will not permit the retention of
the independent auditor in connection with a transaction initially recommended by the
independent auditor, the purpose of which may be tax avoidance and the tax treatment of
which may not be supported in the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations.

All Other Services. The audit committee has granted pre-approval to those permis-
sible non-audit services classified as “all other services” that it believes are routine and
recurring services, and would not impair the independence of the auditor.

Pre-Approval Fee Levels. To facilitate management’s day-to-day conduct of our busi-
ness, the audit committee deemed it advisable and in our best interests to permit certain
routine, non-audit services without the necessity of pre-approval by the audit committee.
Therefore, the audit committee expects to establish a pre-approval fee level per engage-
ment. Any proposal for services exceeding this level will require specific pre-approval by
the audit committee. Although management may engage non-audit services from our in-
dependent auditor within this limit, management cannot enter into any engagement that
would violate the SEC’s rules and regulations related to auditor independence. These
non-audit service engagements are to be reported to the audit committee as promptly as
practicable.
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EXHIBITS TO OUR 2013 ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

‘ Included with these proxy materials is a copy of our 2013 Annual Report on Form
10-K, without exhibits, as filed with the SEC. We will furnish to each person whose proxy
is solicited, upon our receipt of the written request of that person, a copy of the exhibits to
our annual report for a charge of ten cents per page. Please direct your request to Anthony
W. Shurtz, Secretary, 375 Northridge Road, Suite 330, Atlanta, Georgia 30350.




ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.

375 Northridge Road
Suite 330
Atlanta, Georgia 30350

Telephone: (770) 394-6000
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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These statements re-
late to future economic performance, plans and objectives of management for future oper-
ations, and projections of revenues and other financial items that are based on the beliefs
of our management, as well as assumptions made by, and information currently available
to, our management. The words “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. We make

forward-looking statements in Items 1, 1A, 2, 5, and 7 of this report.

Some of the forward-looking statements relate to our intent, belief, or expecta-
tions regarding our strategies and business plan, including a possible sale, merger, or other
business combination, development and construction of new multifamily communities,
the possible sale of properties, and the ways we may finance our future development and
construction activities. Other forward-looking statements relate to loan extensions, trends
affecting our financial condition and results of operations, our anticipated capital needs
and expenditures, and how we may address these needs. These statements involve risks,
uncertainties, and assumptions, including the financing environment for construction
loans for new multifamily communities; our possible inability to negotiate extensions of
our short-term loans; uncertainties with respect to the closing of the sale of the Johns
Creek commercial site; the sale of our North Springs property; our evaluation of strategic
alternatives; and other factors discussed in this report and in our other filings with the
SEC. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and
involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those that are
anticipated in the forward-looking statements. See Item 1A, Risk Factors, for a description
of some of the important factors that may affect actual outcomes.

For these forward-looking statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor
for forward- looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995. You should not place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements, which
speak only as of the date of this report. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking
statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in
their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. We un-
dertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether
as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

% %k %k k% %k %k %

Unless the context indicates otherwise, all references in this report to “Roberts
Realty,” “we,” “us,” “the company,” and “our” refer to Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. and
our subsidiary, Roberts Properties Residential, L.P,, which we refer to as the operating
partnership, except that in the discussion of our capital stock and related matters, these
terms refer solely to Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. and not to the operating partnership.
All references to the “the operating partnership” refer to Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. only.



PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
General

Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. is a self-administered, self-managed equity real
estate investment trust, or REIT. Our business is to acquire, develop, construct, own, and
manage multifamily apartment communities. We currently own the following properties,
all of which are located in metropolitan Atlanta, Georgia:

» three tracts of land totaling 71 acres, zoned for 584 multifamily apartment units,
that are in various phases of development and construction; and

* two tracts of land totaling 11 acres that are held for sale, including a 1.3-acre
tract which is under contract to be sold (these assets are classified as real estate
assets held for sale in our consolidated balance sheets).

In the near term, we intend to focus exclusively on developing, constructing, and manag-
ing high quality multifamily apartment communities for cash flow and long-term capital
appreciation. After we have obtained the necessary debt and equity capital to fund our
development and construction program, as part of our future business and growth plan,
we expect to acquire existing multifamily apartment communities and to concentrate our
acquisitions on well-located Class B apartment communities in the Southeastern United
States that can be upgraded and repositioned in their respective markets.

Recent Developments
Sales Contract for the Sale of the 1.3-acre Johns Creek Commercial Site

On January 22, 2014, we entered into a sales contract to sell our 1.3-acre Johns
Creek commercial site for $700,000. The purchaser deposited $35,000 with an escrow
agent as earnest money toward the purchase of the property. The closing of the sale is con-
tingent on the successful rezoning of the property. Provided this contingency is satisfied,
the closing of the transaction would occur on or before July 21, 2014. We would use the net
proceeds from the sale to pay down our $2,590,000 Highway 20 land loan.

Disposition of Bassett Retail Center

We owned the Bassett retail center, a 19,949 square foot retail center located in Bu-
ford, Georgia that secured a $2,406,883 nonrecourse loan. On November 5, 2013, we suc-
cessfully transferred the Bassett retail center to the lender in satisfaction of the $2,406,883
in debt secured by the property, which completed our exit from the office and retail busi-
ness. As a result of this transaction, we reduced our outstanding debt and accrued interest
by $2,550,785 or 16%.




Sale of the Northridge Office Building

On October 30, 2013, we sold our 37,864 square foot Northridge Office Building
to the Fulton County Board of Education for $5,280,000. At the closing, we paid off our
$2,422,533 Northridge Office Building loan. We intend to use the $2,520,000 in net sales
proceeds to continue the development of our 152-unit Bradley Park apartment commu-
nity located in Forsyth County, Georgia, which is ranked as America’s 7th fastest growing
county by Forbes magazine. We expect to start construction on the Bradley Park apart-
ments in the second quarter of 2014; however; we cannot make substantial progress on
constructing and leasing up Bradley Park until we raise the necessary equity and obtain
the construction loan as described in Business Plan — Development and Construction of
Multifamily Communities below.

Continuing Negative Operating Cash Flow and Maturing Short-Term Debt

Our primary liquidity requirements relate to (a) our continuing negative operating
cash flow and (b) our maturing short-term debt. The primary reason for our negative op-
erating cash flow is that we have five tracts of land totaling 82 acres that do not produce
revenue but incur carrying costs of interest expense and real estate taxes. These five tracts
of land have a combined book value of $23,950,385 and a total independent appraised value
of $32,890,000 and are encumbered with land loans totaling $11,090,000. We have substan-
tial equity in these properties, which are an integral part of our future business and growth
plan. Because we have disposed of all of our operating properties, we expect to continue to
generate negative operating cash flow and to operate at a loss until we:

* complete the sale or joint venture of our North Springs transit oriented, mixed
use property; and

* raise the equity and obtain the construction loans needed to construct and lease
up our planned Bradley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 multifamily apart-
ment communities as described in Business Plan below.

As of March 3, 2014, we had total debt of $11,090,000, all of which is scheduled to
mature within the next 12 months: (a) the $5,500,000 North Springs land loan that matures
on July 17, 2014 (which we can extend to January 17, 2015 through two 3-month extensions
by paying a 1.0% extension fee for each 3-month extension); (b) the $3,000,000 Bradley
Park land loan that matures on August 10, 2014; and (c) the $2,590,000 Highway 20 land
loan that matures on October 8, 2014.

To address these issues, during the past year we have reduced our net debt by
$13 million or 53%, decreased our annual operating expenses by $850,000, and increased
our liquidity by $5.6 million. Additionally, we are seeking to sell our North Springs
transit-oriented, mixed use property, which has a book value of $11,000,000 and an in-
dependent appraised value of $16,350,000. We intend to pay off the $5,500,000 North
Springs land loan from the sales proceeds, and we could use the remaining proceeds for



investment in the development and construction of the Bradley Park, Northridge, and
Highway 20 multifamily apartment communities.

If we do not sell the North Springs property as we intend or we are unable to extend
or refinance the North Springs, Bradley Park, and Highway 20 loans at maturity on accept-
able terms, or at all, we might be compelled to dispose of one or more of our properties
on disadvantageous terms, which could result in significant losses to us. Additionally, if we
are unable to sell one or more properties or find alternative funding to repay the North
Springs, Bradley Park, and Highway 20 loans as they mature, we might be forced to return
these properties to the respective lenders in satisfaction of the debt secured by these prop-
erties, which would result in substantial losses to us.

Business Plan
Overview and Outlook

We intend to maximize shareholder value and to address our needs for liquidity
and capital resources by executing our business and growth plan. Our primary objective
for 2014 is to sell the North Springs transit-oriented, mixed use property and the 1.3-acre
Johns Creek commercial site (which is under contract to be sold) to provide a portion
of the equity to develop our Bradley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 properties while
continuing to reduce our debt and decrease our negative operating cash flow. Our plans to
accomplish these objectives are outlined below.

Real Estate Assets Held for Sale or Possible Joint Venture
We currently hold two land parcels for sale:

1. The North Springs property is a 10-acre site located on Peachtree Dunwoody
Road across the street from the North Springs rail station in Sandy Springs.
The North Springs property is zoned for a mixed-use development consist-
ing of 356 multifamily units, 210,000 square feet of office space, and 56,000
square feet of retail space. North Springs has a book value of $11,000,000
and an independent appraised value of $16,350,000. We believe the current
market and demand for a transit-oriented, mixed-use site like North Springs
provides us with an excellent opportunity to sell this asset or use it to partici-
pate in a joint venture. This sale or joint venture would pay off the $5,500,000
North Springs land loan, and we could use the remaining proceeds for invest-
ment in the development and construction of the Bradley Park, Northridge,
and Highway 20 multifamily apartment communities.

2. Johns Creek is a 1.3-acre commercial site located in Johns Creek that is un-
der contract to be sold for $700,000, as noted in Recent Developments above.
We would use the net proceeds from the sale to pay down our Highway 20
land loan.




Development and Construction of Multifamily Communities

We are optimistic about the market for new apartments in the metro Atlanta sub-
markets where our land is located. We believe the economic climate for our business in
these markets is strong for the following reasons:

Rents for the “Class A’ or upscale apartment communities of the type that we
build are projected to continue to increase during 2014.

Occupancy rates for Class A apartments in Atlanta are forecast to continue to
increase throughout 2014.

Employment in metro Atlanta is expected to continue to grow, although at a
lower rate when compared to historical levels.

Employment in metro Atlanta is expected to continue to grow, although at a
lower rate when compared to historical levels.

Nationally, home ownership rates are declining, and we believe that this trend, cou-
pled with larger required down payments for single-family home loans and the fact
that the largest demographic group in the history of the United States is entering
their peak renting years, will continue to lead to higher demand for apartments
generally and in our market areas, specifically.

We believe that these favorable trends will increase the availability of debt and
equity capital for the construction of new apartments in our market areas, particularly for
companies like ours that have a long history of developing, constructing, leasing up, and
selling upscale multifamily communities for substantial profits, and own tracts of land in
areas we believe are well-suited for upscale apartments. For the reasons explained in Item
1A, Risk Factors, however, our beliefs and expectations about these favorable trends, or
our ability to capitalize on them, may not prove to be accurate.

We currently hold three land parcels for development and construction:

1. Bradley Park is a 22-acre site near the GA-400 and Highway 20 interchange,
zoned for 154 multifamily units. The property is in Forsyth County, Georgia,
which is ranked as America’s 7th fastest growing county by Forbes magazine.
Bradley Park is located in close proximity to the Northside Hospital - Forsyth
complex, which employs more than 2,200 physicians and 1,800 employees.
During 2013, we redesigned Bradley Park and successfully completed the
sketch plat process required by Forsyth County. The new sketch plat was ap-
proved at a public hearing on November 7, 2013 by the Forsyth County Board
of Commissioners. We have also received approval from the U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers for our Creek Crossing Permit and have submitted our



engineering plans to Forsyth County to obtain the clearing and grading per-
mits for Bradley Park. We expect to obtain the clearing and grading permits
during the second quarter of 2014.

2. Northridge is a 10.9-acre site located in Sandy Springs near the GA-400 and
Northridge interchange, zoned for 220 multifamily units. The site is almost
equidistant from North Point in Alpharetta, Perimeter Center, and Phipps
Plaza/Lenox Mall/Buckhead, which are three of Atlanta’s major employment
and retail bases. The community has easy access to Georgia 400, MARTA,
Atlanta’s rapid rail transit system; and, outside of peak congestion periods,
is within approximately a 30-minute drive of virtually the entire metro area,
including Hartsfield Jackson International Airport. We have purchased our
land disturbance permit and are currently completing the architectural de-
sign to enable us to apply for our building permits from the City of Sandy
Springs.

3. Highway 20 is a 38-acre site located in the City of Cumming in Forsyth County
zoned for 210 multifamily units. We have started the necessary design and
development work for this community.

We believe this is an opportune time to create new multifamily apartment com-
munities and that we can create value for our shareholders as we have historically done
through developing, constructing, managing, and selling high quality multifamily apart-
ment communities for cash flow and long-term capital appreciation. We intend to move
forward with the development and construction of our Bradley Park, Northridge, and
Highway 20 multifamily apartment communities, although we cannot make substantial
progress on constructing and leasing up these apartment communities until we raise the
necessary equity and obtain the construction loans. We currently estimate that we will
need approximately $15,314,000 of additional equity and $50,288,000 of debt to complete
the construction of our Bradley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 multifamily apartment
communities.

We intend to use the proceeds from the sale or joint venture of the North Springs
property to provide a portion of the equity capital to develop and construct our Bradley
Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 multifamily apartment communities. We are also dis-
cussing with possible joint venture participants, such as pension funds, life insurance com-
panies, hedge funds, foreign investors, and local investors, providing part of the equity
needed to develop and construct these communities. We may also form a new affiliate
that would raise private equity for the specific purpose of purchasing one or more of these
three land parcels and constructing multifamily apartment communities. We may also sell
one or more of these land parcels to Roberts Properties, Inc., which is wholly owned by
Mr. Charles S. Roberts, our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and Presi-
dent, or to a newly formed affiliate of Roberts Properties, Inc.




If we are unable to sell the North Springs property, find a joint venture partner, or
raise private equity as we intend, we will be unable to carry out our planned development and
construction program and execute our business plan, which might result in losses to us. We
are not able to provide any assurance that we will be able to raise the equity and debt needed
to complete the construction of any new multifamily communities.

Future Acquisitions of Existing Multifamily Apartment Communities

After we have obtained the necessary debt and equity capital to fund our development
and construction program outlined above, as part of our future business and growth plan, we
intend to acquire existing multifamily apartment communities and to focus on well-located
Class B apartment communities in the Southeastern United States that can be upgraded
and repositioned in their respective markets. We may raise private equity or participate in
joint ventures with pension funds, life insurance companies, hedge funds, foreign investors,
or local investors to fund the acquisition of these communities. We have successfully imple-
mented this strategy in the past with acquisitions such as St. Andrews at the Polo Club in
Wellington, Florida.

Possible Sale, Merger, or Other Business Combination of the Entire Company

Consistent with our previous disclosure, in addition to the above transactions, we
continue to pursue and work on strategic alternatives that would enhance shareholder value
through a sale, merger, or other business combination. We have engaged in discussions
with both private companies and individuals regarding a possible sale, merger, or other
business combination. We are currently in active discussions with several companies that
have expressed a desire to become a public company through a transaction with us. As
of the filing date of this report, we have not entered into any definitive agreement for
such a transaction. Our management continues to pursue and work diligently on any sale,
merger, or other business combination that would reward shareholders and maximize
their value, although we are unable to provide any assurance that such a transaction will
be consummated.

Transactions with the Roberts Companies and Their Affiliates

Mr. Charles S. Roberts, our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and
President, has many years of experience in developing multifamily apartment communi-
ties, and we expect to continue to engage in transactions with Roberts Properties, Inc.
(“Roberts Properties”), Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. (“Roberts Construction,”
which is owned by Mr. Roberts, and together with Roberts Properties, the “Roberts
Companies”) or other affiliates of Mr. Roberts. We describe all current agreements and ar-
rangementswith the Roberts Companies or other affiliates of Mr. Robertsin Item 13, Certain
- Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence below.



We have paid fees to the Roberts Companies for various services and will continue
to do so in the future. We have purchased properties from Roberts Properties, and we
have retained the Roberts Companies for development services and construction services
for some of our land parcels, as well as to renovate and reposition apartment communities
that we have purchased. Roberts Realty, its predecessor limited partnerships, and other
limited partnerships sponsored by Mr. Roberts have previously entered into agreements
with Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction to provide these services for the fol-
lowing 20 apartment communities with a total of 4,648 units that were sold for a total sales
price of $431,701,143. All of these communities were sold for a substantial profit.

Number
of Year Sales Price
Name of Community Units Sold Sales Price Per Unit

+ * Addison Place Townhomes (Phasc I) 118 2008 $ 20,000,000 $ 169,492
+ * Addison Placc Apartments (Phase 1) 285 2008 40,000,000 140,351
+ * Ballantyne Place 319 2005 37,250,000 116,771
* St Andrews at The Polo Club 200 2004 36,000,000 180,000

+ * Preston Oaks 213 2004 26,780,000 125,728
+ * Bradford Creck 180 2004 18,070,000 100,389
+ * Veranda Chase 250 2004 23,250,000 93,000
+ * Plantation Trace 232 2004 21,500,000 92,673
+ * River Oaks 216 2004 20,000,000 92,593
+* Highland Park 188 2003 17,988,143 95,682
+ * Rosewood Plantation 152 2001 14,800,000 97,368
+* Crestmark Club 334 2001 25,000,000 74,850
+* Ivey Brook 146 2000 14,550,000 99,658
+* Bentley Place 117 1999 8,273,000 70,709
* Windsong 232 1998 9,750,000 42,026

* Laurclwood 207 1997 10,601,000 51,213
+  Wynfield Trace 146 1995 10,865,000 74,418
+ Bridgewater 532 1995 39,535,000 74,314
+  Autumn Ridge 113 1995 7,750,000 68,584
+  Governor’s Pointe 468 1986 29,739,000 63,545

Total 4,648 $431,701,143

+ The communitics marked with a + werc built on raw land that was purchascd, zoned and de-
veloped by the Roberts Companies.

The communities marked with an * were designed, developed, constructed, renovated and
managed by the Roberts Companies for Roberts Realty Investors, Inc.



Our board of directors has adopted a policy that all conflicting interest transactions
must be authorized by a majority of the disinterested directors, but only if there are at least
two directors who are disinterested with respect to the matter at issue. In addition, under
the applicable rules of the NYSE MKT exchange, related party transactions are subject
to appropriate review and oversight by the audit committee of our board of directors. In
entering into transactions with the Roberts Companies related to the communities listed
above, we complied with these policies.

Investment Policies

Our investment objectives are to achieve stable cash flow and, over time, to in-
crease cash flow and portfolio value by continuing to develop multifamily apartment com-
munities. We may also acquire existing multifamily communities that we anticipate will
produce additional cash flow. Our policy is to develop or acquire real estate projects where
we believe favorable investment opportunities exist based on market conditions at the
time of the investment. We expect to pursue our investment objectives primarily through
the direct ownership of properties by the operating partnership, although, as discussed be-
low, we may also pursue indirect property ownership opportunities. Our governing docu-
ments do not limit our future development or investment activities to any geographic area,
product type, or specified percentage of our assets. We currently have no plans to invest
in the securities of other issuers. We will not make any investments if the proposed invest-
ment would cause us to be an “investment company” under the Investment Company Act
of 1940. We do not own any mortgages, and we do not intend to invest in mortgages or to
engage in the originating, servicing, or warehousing of mortgages.

Financing Policies

Our organizational documents do not limit the amount of indebtedness we may
incur. We have an informal policy that we will not incur indebtedness in excess of 75%
of what the board of directors believes is the aggregate fair market value of our as-
sets at any given time. We may re-evaluate our borrowing policies from time to time in
light of then current economic conditions, relative costs of debt and equity capital,
market value of the operating partnership’s real estate assets, growth and acquisition op-
portunities, and other factors. Modification of this policy may adversely affect the interests
of our shareholders.

To the extent that the board of directors determines the need to seek additional
capital, we may raise capital through additional equity offerings, debt financings, or as-
set sales, or a combination of these methods. We will contribute the net proceeds of all
equity capital we raise to the operating partnership in exchange for units or other inter-
ests in the operating partnership. We have not established any limit on the number or
amount of mortgages on any single property or on the operating partnership’s portfolio
as a whole.
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Other Policies

We have the authority to offer our securities and to repurchase and otherwise reac-
quire our securities, and we may engage in those activities in the future. We have adopted
a policy that we will issue shares to unitholders who exercise their rights of redemption. In
the future, we may make loans to joint ventures in which we participate to meet working
capital needs. We have not engaged in trading, underwriting, agency distribution, or sale
of securities of other issuers, and we do not intend to do so.

Under our stock repurchase program we are authorized to repurchase up to
540,362 shares of our outstanding common stock. Under the plan, we may repurchase
shares from time to time by means of open market purchases and in solicited and unso-
licited privately negotiated transactions, depending on availability, our cash position,
and price. We do not expect to make any repurchases in the next 12 months.

Tax Structure

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code. To con-
tinue to qualify as a REIT, we must continue to meet certain tests that, among other things,
generally require that our assets consist primarily of real estate assets, our income be
derived primarily from real estate assets, and that we distribute at least 90% of our REIT
taxable income (other than net capital gains) to our shareholders annually. Provided we
maintain our qualification as a REIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal in-
come taxes at the corporate level on our net income to the extent that we distribute that
net income to our shareholders annually.

We intend to continue to qualify as a REIT unless, because of changing circum-
stances or changes in the Internal Revenue Code or in applicable regulations, our board
of directors decides that it is no longer in our best interests to qualify as a REIT. In that
event, we would be required under our articles of incorporation to obtain the consent of
the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

The Operating Partnership

We conduct our business through Roberts Properties Residential, L.P,, which ei-
ther directly or through one of its wholly owned subsidiaries owns all of our properties
and which we refer to as the operating partnership. The agreement of limited partnership
of the operating partnership provides that it is not required to be dissolved until 2093.
Roberts Realty is the sole general partner of the operating partnership and as of March 3,
2014 owned an 80.06% interest in the operating partnership. Our ownership interest in the
operating partnership entitles us to share in cash distributions from, and in the profits and
losses of, the operating partnership generally in proportion to our ownership percentage.
In this report, we refer to units of limited partnership interest in the operating partnership
as “units” and to the holders of units as “unitholders.”
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Unitholders generally have the right to require the operating partnership to re-
deem their units. A unitholder who submits units for redemption will receive, at our elec-
tion, either (a) 1.647 shares for each unit submitted for redemption (which we refer to as
the “Conversion Factor”), or (b) cash for those units at their fair market value, based upon
the then current trading price of the shares. We have adopted a policy of issuing shares in
exchange for units. We also have the right, at our election, to issue shares in exchange for
all outstanding units.

Our articles of incorporation limit ownership by any one shareholder to 3.7% of
the outstanding shares of our common stock, with two exceptions. First, Mr. Roberts can
beneficially own up to 35% of the outstanding shares. Second, any shareholder who ben-
eficially owned more than 3.7% of our outstanding common shares on J uly 22, 2004, the
date that we filed an amendment to our articles of incorporation revising the ownership
limits, can retain indefinitely the shares the shareholder owned as of that date but cannot
increase that ownership in the future (other than by exchanging the units the shareholder
owned on that date for shares). Accordingly, a unitholder, including Mr. Roberts, cannot
redeem units if upon their redemption such unitholder would hold more shares than per-
mitted under the applicable percentage limit (subject to the exceptions as noted).

Shares issued for units are registered with the SEC and are freely transferable,
other than by affiliates. Whenever we issue shares, we are obligated to contribute the net
proceeds from that issuance to the operating partnership, and the operating partnership is
obligated to issue units to us. The operating partnership agreement permits the operating
partnership, without the consent of the unitholders, to sell additional units and add limited
partners.

Competition

The land on which we are developing or plan to develop new multifamily com-
munities is located in developed areas that include other multifamily communities.
The number of competitive multifamily communities in a particular area could have
a material adverse effect on our rental rates and our ability to lease the multifamily
units at any newly developed or acquired community. We face competition from other
real estate investors, including insurance companies, pension and investment funds,
partnerships and investment companies, and other multifamily REITS, to acquire and
develop multifamily communities and to acquire land for future development. As an
owner of multifamily communities, we will face competition for prospective residents
from other multifamily community owners whose communities may be perceived to
offer a better location or better amenities, or whose rent may be perceived as a better
value given the quality, location, and amenities that the prospective resident seeks.
In addition, we may lose both current and prospective renters who choose to buy a
single-family home.
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Environmental and Other Regulatory Matters

Under various federal, state, and local laws and regulations, an owner of real
estate is liable for the costs of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances
on its property. Those laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner
knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of the hazardous or toxic substances. The
costs of remediation or removal of the substances may be substantial, and the presence
of the substances, or the failure to remediate the substances promptly, may adversely
affect the owner’s ability to sell the real estate or to borrow funds using the real estate
as collateral. In connection with the ownership and operation of our properties, we may
be potentially liable for remediation and removal costs and for damages to persons or
property arising from the existence or maintenance of hazardous or toxic substances.

The preliminary environmental assessments of our properties have not revealed
any environmental liability that we believe would have a material adverse effect on our
business, assets, or results of operations, nor are we aware of any liability of that type.
Nevertheless, these assessments may not have revealed all environmental liabilities, and
we may have material environmental liabilities that we do not know about. Future uses or
conditions, including changes in applicable environmental laws and regulations, may cause
us to have environmental liability.

Insurance

We carry comprehensive property, general liability, fire, extended coverage, envi-
ronmental, and rental loss insurance on our properties, with policy specifications, insured
limits, and deductibles customarily carried for similar properties. We carry similar insur-
ance with respect to our properties under development or properties under construction,
but with appropriate exceptions given the nature of these properties. We believe that our
properties are adequately covered by insurance.

Segment Information
We currently have one reportable operating segment:

« the land segment consisting of various tracts of land, including cash and cash
equivalents, other assets and general and administrative expenses

For more detailed information please see Note 6 — Segment Reporting, to the audited

consolidated financial statements included in this report. For information about our prop-
erties, please see Item 2, Properties, below.
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Corporate Information

Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. is a Georgia corporation formed in 1994. Our execu-
tive offices are located at 450 Northridge Parkway, Suite 302, Atlanta, Georgia 30350, and
our telephone number is (770) 394-6000. As a result of the sale of our Northridge Office
Building, our existing office lease expires on April 5, 2014. We have secured new office
space and, effective April 7, 2014, our executive office will be located at 375 Northridge
Road, Suite 330, Atlanta, Georgia 30350. See Item 13 — Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions, and Director Independence - Transactions with the Roberts Companies and
Their Affiliates — Sublease of Office Space.

We file annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy statements, and other infor-
mation with the SEC that is available to the public at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.
Our most recent proxy statement, which we filed on October 15, 2013, includes the char-
ters of our Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Governance committees of our
Board of Directors. We have one full-time employee. Under the terms of a reimbursement
arrangement for services provided by the Roberts Companies, we reimburse the Roberts
Companies the cost of providing consulting services in an amount equal to an agreed-upon
hourly billing rate for each employee multiplied by the number of hours that the employee
provided services to us. The reimbursement arrangement allows us to obtain services from
experienced and knowledgeable personnel without having to bear the cost of employing
them on a full-time basis.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investors or potential investors in Roberts Realty should carefully consider the
risks described below. These risks are not the only ones we face. Additional risks of which
we are presently unaware or that we currently consider immaterial may also impair our
business operations and hinder our financial performance, including our ability to make
distributions to our investors. We have organized our summary of these risks into five
subsections:

* financing risks;

* real estate related risks;

* tax risks;

e environmental and other legal risks; and

e risks for investors in our stock.
This section includes forward-looking statements.

Financing Risks

We face the maturity of our short-term debt, and we may be unable to repay, extend, or
refinance this debt.

We have three loans with a total principal balance of $11,090,000 that are
scheduled to mature within the next 12 months: (a) the $5,500,000 North Springs land
loan that matures on July 17, 2014 (which we can extend to January 17, 2015 through
two 3-month extensions by paying a 1.0% extension fee for each 3-month exten-
sion); (b) the $3,000,000 Bradley Park land loan that matures on August 10, 2014; and
(c) the $2,590,000 Highway 20 land loan that matures on October 8, 2014. If we do not
sell the North Springs property as we intend; or we are unable to extend or refinance our
debt at maturity on acceptable terms, or at all; or we are unable to find alternative fund-
ing and raise additional capital for the development of the Bradley Park and Highway 20
properties; or we are unable to pursue successfully the strategies to reduce negative cash
flow described elsewhere in this report, we might be compelled to dispose of one or more
of our properties on disadvantageous terms, which could result in losses to us. Those losses
could have a material adverse effect on our ability to pay amounts due on our debt and to
pay distributions to our investors.

If we are unable to meet mortgage payments on any mortgaged property, the mortgage
holder could foreclose upon the property and take other actions.
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If we are unable to meet mortgage payments on any mortgaged property, the mort-
gage holder could foreclose upon the property, appoint a receiver, and receive an assign-
ment of rents and leases, or pursue other remedies, all with a consequent loss of our
revenues and asset value. Foreclosures could also create taxable income without accompa-
nying cash proceeds, thereby hindering our ability to meet the REIT distribution require-
ments of the Internal Revenue Code.

We may not be able to obtain the debt and equity we need to carry out our planned devel-
opment and construction program.

To start construction on our Bradley Park and Northridge multifamily land parcels,
we will need a substantial amount of additional debt and equity capital. We currently es-
timate that we will need approximately $15,314,000 of additional equity and $50,288,000
of debt to complete the construction of our Bradley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20
multifamily apartment communities. We believe that the equity we need to fund the con-
struction of a new multifamily property, in addition to a construction loan, would come
from the proceeds of a sale of the North Springs property, the contributions from a joint
venture partner, or from raising private equity. We are not able to provide any assurance
that we will be able to raise the debt and equity needed to complete the construction of
even one new multifamily community. If we are unable to obtain debt and equity on fa-
vorable terms, we will be unable to carry out our planned development and construction
program, and our returns to investors will be reduced accordingly.

Rising interest rates could materially and adversely affect the cost of our indebtedness.

We have incurred and may again in the future incur debt that bears interest at a
variable rate. As of March 3, 2014, we have $5,590,000 in loans that bear interest at a float-
ing interest rate. Accordingly, increases in interest rates would increase our interest costs,
which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and our ability to pay
amounts due on our debt and to pay future distributions to our investors.

We face the normal risks associated with debt financing.

We are subject to the normal risks associated with debt financing, including the
risks that our cash flow will be insufficient to meet required payments of principal and in-
terest and that we will not be able to renew, repay, or refinance our debt when it matures
or that the terms of any renewal or refinancing will not be as favorable as the existing
terms of that debt. Under the payment terms contained in each mortgage note secured by
one of our properties, our scheduled payments do not fully amortize the loan balance, and
a balloon payment of the balance will be due upon its maturity. If we are unable to pay our
obligations to our secured lenders, they could proceed against any or all of the collateral
securing our indebtedness to them. In addition, a breach of the restrictions or covenants
contained in our loan documents could cause an acceleration of our indebtedness. We may
not have or may be unable to obtain sufficient funds to repay our indebtedness in full upon
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acceleration. If we are unable to refinance our debt upon acceleration or at scheduled ma-
turity on acceptable terms or at all, we face the risks described in the first risk factor above.

Increased debt and leverage could affect our financial position and impair our ability to
make distributions to our investors.

Our organizational documents do not limit the amount of debt that we may in-
cur. We have an informal policy that we will not incur indebtedness in excess of 75% of
what the board of directors believes is the fair market value of our assets at any given
time. In the future, however, we may re-evaluate our borrowing policies in light of then
current economic conditions, relative costs of debt and equity capital, market value of
our real estate assets, growth and acquisition opportunities, and other factors. Modifi-
cation of this policy may adversely affect the interests of our shareholders. Additional
leverage may:

e increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

« limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business, which
may place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that
have less debt; and

« limit, along with the possible financial and other restrictive covenants in our
indebtedness, our ability to borrow additional funds.

Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect our results of operations and
our ability to pay amounts due on our debt and to pay distributions to our investors.

We could be negatively affected by the condition of Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac.

Fannic Mae and Freddie Mac are a major source of financing for secured multifam-
ily rental real estate. Multifamily companies depend heavily on Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac to finance growth by purchasing multifamily loans. A decision by the government
to eliminate Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac or reduce government support for apartment
mortgage loans may adversely affect interest rates, capital availability, development of
multi-family communities and the value of multi-family real estate.

If we enter into joint ventures or joint ownership of properties, our ability to control
those joint ventures and partial interests may be limited.

Instead of developing or purchasing apartment communities directly, we may in-
vest as a co-venturer. We may also choose to sell partial interests in certain properties to
co-venturers. Joint venturers may share control over the operations of the joint venture
assets. The co-venturer in an investment might become bankrupt, or have economic or
business interests or goals that are inconsistent with our business interests or goals, or be
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in a position to take action contrary to our instructions, requests, policies, or objectives.
Consequently, a co-venturer’s actions might subject property owned by the joint venture
to additional risk. Although we intend to seek to maintain sufficient influence upon any
joint venture to achieve its objectives, we may be unable to take action without our joint
venture partners’ approval, or joint venture partners could take actions binding on the
joint venture without our consent. Additionally, if a joint venture partner were to become
bankrupt, we could become liable for that partner’s share of joint venture liabilities.

Real Estate-Related Risks

Our business currently operates at a loss.

Between 2003 and 2013, we sold nine multifamily communities for a total of
$260,838,143. From the net proceeds of these sales, we have paid cash distributions to-
taling $43,836,983, or $6.02 per share/unit, to our shareholders and unitholders, as well
as stock dividends of $4,693,415, or $1.25 per share, to shareholders. Having sold all of
our apartment communities during this period, we currently do not have any multifamily
communities in our portfolio. As a result, we have experienced and continue to experience
negative operating cash flow. Because land does not generate revenue, a substantial por-
tion of our negative cash flow is due to the carrying costs (interest expense and property
taxes) on our land. For these reasons, we expect to continue to generate negative operating
cash flow and to operate at a loss until we are able to construct and lease up our planned
multifamily communities as described elsewhere in this report.

We face risks associated with land holdings and related activities.

We hold land for future development and may in the future acquire additional land
holdings. The risks inherent in purchasing, owning, and developing land increase as de-
mand for apartments, rental rates, and the availability of construction financing decreases.
Real estate markets are highly uncertain and, as a result, the value of undeveloped land
has fluctuated significantly and may continue to fluctuate. In addition, carrying costs can
be significant and can result in losses or reduced profitability. As a result, when we hold
land for development we may not be able to fully recover all of those costs or those costs
may adversely affect our ability to develop a profitable multifamily community.

Real estate properties are illiquid and are difficult to sell.

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid, which limits our ability to react quickly
to adverse changes in economic or other market conditions. Our ability to dispose of as-
sets depends on prevailing economic and market conditions. We may be unable to sell our
properties to repay debt, to raise capital we need to fund our planned development and
construction program, or to fund distributions to investors.
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Construction risks inherent in the development and construction of new properties
could negatively affect our financial performance.

We currently estimate that we will need approximately $15,314,000 of additional eq-
uity and $50,288,000 of debt to complete the construction of our Bradley Park, Northridge,
and Highway 20 multifamily apartment communities. Development and construction costs
may exceed our original estimates due to events beyond our control, including:

* increased costs for or any unavailability of materials or labor;

* costs of complying with new regulations imposed by the government;
* weather delays;

* increased interest costs due to rising interest rates; and

* any financial instability of the developer (Roberts Properties), general contrac-
tor (Roberts Construction) or any subcontractor.

We may also be unable to complete development or construction of a property on
schedule, which could result in increased debt service expenses or construction costs and
loss of rents until the property is ready for occupancy. Additionally, the time required to
recoup our development and construction costs and to realize a return, if any, on those
costs can be prolonged. Further, we typically enter into construction contracts on a cost
plus basis. Because these contracts do not provide for a guaranteed maximum price, we
must bear the entire amount of any increase in costs above the amounts we initially esti-
mate, and these costs may be material.

We face leasing risks in our planned development and construction program.

The success of a multifamily development project depends in part on leasing to
residents with acceptable rental rates within the lease-up period. If the multifamily com-
munities we build are not leased on schedule and at the expected rental rates, the yields,
returns, and value creation on the communities could be adversely affected. Whether or
not residents are willing to enter into leases on the terms and conditions we project and
on the timetable we expect will depend on a large variety of factors, many of which are
outside our control.

We are currently concentrated in metropolitan Atlanta, and adverse changes in economic
or market conditions in Atlanta could negatively affect our financial performance and
condition.

All our properties are located in metropolitan Atlanta, Georgia, and adverse changes

in economic or market conditions in this area could negatively affect our performance. These
factors could include the following:
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* significant increases in the unemployment rate;

* declining neighborhood values in the submarkets in which our properties are
located;

* additional zoning and other regulatory conditions;

* competition from other properties;

* increasing property taxes;

* weather problems, including periods of prolonged drought;

* limited future economic growth due to judicial or other governmental action
that restricts withdrawals from Lake Lanier, Atlanta’s primary water supply;
and

* price increases for materials or labor.

Deteriorating general economic or social conditions or any natural disasters in the
metropolitan Atlanta area could materially and adversely affect the value of our portfolio,
our results of operations, and our ability to pay amounts due on our debt and to make
distributions to our investors.

We face conflicts of interest because of our business dealings with our Chief Executive
Officer and his affiliates.

Our business practice is to retain Roberts Properties to develop our properties
and Roberts Construction to construct our properties. Mr. Charles S. Roberts owns all of
the equity interests in these two companies. We have in the past acquired properties from
Mr. Roberts or his affiliates, and we may sell properties to Roberts Properties or an affil-
iate of Roberts Properties. Although each agreement between Roberts Realty or the op-
erating partnership on one hand and Roberts Properties or its affiliates on the other hand
must be approved by our audit committee and the independent members of our board of
directors, conflicts of interest inherent in these business transactions could result in our
paying more for property or services than we would pay an independent seller or provider
(or receiving less than we would receive from an independent buyer). These agreements
and transactions have not had and will not have the benefit of arm’s-length negotiation of
the type normally conducted between unrelated parties. These business relationships also
expose us to the following risks, among others:

* the possibility that the Roberts Companies might incur severe financial prob-
lems or even become bankrupt;
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* the possibility that the Roberts Companies may at any time have economic or
business interests or goals that are or that become inconsistent with our busi-
ness interests or goals; or

* the possibility that the Roberts Companies may be in a position to take action
contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or objectives.

Further, Mr. Roberts may face conflicts of interest in dealing with lenders who have made
loans both to us and to private entities he owns or controls.

We face substantial competition.

All of our properties are located in developed areas where we face substantial com-
petition from other properties and from other real estate companies that own or may
develop or renovate competing properties. The substantial number of competitive prop-
erties and real estate companies in our market areas could have a material adverse effect
on our ability to maintain and increase occupancy levels and rental rates, and to attract
creditworthy residents. As a result, these factors could materially and adversely affect the
value of our real estate portfolio, our results of operations, our ability to pay amounts due
on our mortgage debt, and our ability to pay distributions to our investors.

The ability of our potential residents to buy single-family homes could adversely affect
our revenues from the multifamily communities we develop and construct.

Our multifamily communities have historically competed with numerous housing
alternatives in attracting residents, including other multifamily communities, single-family
rental homes, as well as owner occupied single-family homes. The affordability of owner
occupied single-family homes caused by low mortgage interest rates may adversely af-
fect our ability to retain our residents, lease multifamily units, and increase or maintain
our rental rates. We expect the desire and ability of prospective residents to purchase a
single-family home to continue to be a substantial competitive risk.

Changes in market or economic conditions may affect our business negatively.

General economic conditions and other factors beyond our control may adversely
affect real property income and capital appreciation.

Losses from natural catastrophes may exceed our insurance coverage.

We carry comprehensive liability, fire, flood, extended coverage, and rental loss
insurance on our properties, which we believe is customary in amount and type for real
property assets. We intend to obtain similar coverage for properties acquired in the future.
Some losses of a catastrophic nature, such as losses from floods or high winds, may be sub-
ject to limitations. We may not be able to maintain our insurance at a reasonable cost or in
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sufficient amounts to protect us against potential losses. Further, our insurance costs could
increase in future periods. If we suffer a substantial loss, our insurance coverage may not
be sufficient to pay the full current market value of the lost investment. Inflation, changes
in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations, and other factors also
might make it impractical to use insurance proceeds to replace a damaged or destroyed

property.

Our business depends on key personnel.

Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain the services of executive
officers and key personnel. We face substantial competition for qualified personnel in the
real estate industry and the loss of our key personnel, particularly Mr. Roberts, could have
an adverse effect on us. We do not carry key person insurance on any of our executive
officers or key personnel.

Our real estate assets may be subject to further impairment charges.

We have recorded non-cash impairment losses on a number of our assets, and we
may have to record additional impairment losses in the future. Although we believe we
have applied reasonable estimates and judgments in determining the proper classifica-
tion of our real estate assets, these estimates require the use of estimated market values,
which are difficult to assess. If changes in circumstances require us to adjust our valuation
assumptions for our assets, we could be required to record additional impairment losses.
Any future impairments could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations
for the period in which we record the impairment losses.

Our exploration of potential strategic alternatives may be unsuccessful.

We continue to explore potential strategic alternatives for the company. These al-
ternatives could include a sale, merger, or other business combination. We caution that
there can be no assurance that the exploration of strategic alternatives will result in any
transaction, or that, if completed, any transaction will be on attractive terms.

If we acquire apartment communities as we plan, these communities may not achieve
anticipated results.

We may selectively acquire apartment communities that meet our investment cri-
teria. Our acquisition activities and their success may be exposed to the following risks:

* anacquired community may fail to achieve expected occupancy and rental rates
and may fail to perform as expected; and

* our estimates of the costs of repositioning or redeveloping the acquired prop-
erty may prove inaccurate, causing us to fail to meet our financial goals.
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Failure to succeed in new markets may limit our growth.

We may from time to time make acquisitions or commence development activity
outside of our existing market areas if appropriate opportunities arise. Our historical
experience primarily in metro Atlanta does not ensure that we will be able to operate
successfully in new markets. We may be exposed to a variety of risks if we choose to enter
new markets. These risks include, among others:

 aninability to evaluate accurately local apartment market conditions and local
economies;

* an inability to identify appropriate acquisition opportunities;
* an inability to hire and retain key personnel in those markets; and
» lack of familiarity with local governmental and permitting procedures.

Terrorism could impair our business.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war could have a material adverse
effect on our business and operating results. Attacks that directly affect one or more of
our properties could significantly affect our ability to operate those properties and im-
pair our ability to achieve the results we expect. Our insurance coverage may not cover loss-
es caused by a terrorist attack. In addition, the adverse effects that such violent acts
and threats of future attacks could have on the U.S. economy could similarly have a
material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Tax Risks

Our company may fail to qualify for REIT status under federal income tax laws.

Our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes depends upon our abil-
ity to meet on a continuing basis various qualification tests, through actual annual operating
results, distribution levels, diversity of stock ownership, and organizational requirements
for REITs under the Internal Revenue Code. We believe that we have qualified for taxa-
tion as a REIT for federal income tax purposes since our inception in 1994, and we plan
to continue to meet the requirements to qualify as a REIT in the future. Many of these
requirements, however, are highly technical and complex. We cannot guarantee, therefore,
that we have qualified or will continue to qualify in the future as a REIT. The determination
that we qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes requires an analysis of various
factual matters that may not be totally within our control. Even a technical or inadvertent
mistake could jeopardize our REIT status. Furthermore, Congress and the IRS might make
changes to the tax laws and regulations, and the courts might issue new decisions that make
it more difficult, or impossible, for us to remain qualified as a REIT.
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If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any taxable year, and certain relief
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code did not apply, we would be subject to tax (in-
cluding any applicable alternative minimum tax) on our taxable income at regular corpo-
rate rates, leaving less money available for distributions to investors. In addition, distribu-
tions to shareholders in any year in which we failed to qualify would not be deductible for
federal income tax purposes. Failing to qualify as a REIT would also eliminate our re-
quirement to make distributions to shareholders. We would be disqualified from taxation
as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which we ceased to qualify
as a REIT, unless we were entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions. We cannot
predict whether in all circumstances we would be entitled to such statutory relief. Our
failure to qualify as a REIT likely would have a significant adverse effect on the value of
our common stock.

Our operating partnership may fail to be treated as a partnership for federal income tax
purposes.

Management believes that our operating partnership qualifies, and has qualified
since its formation in 1994, as a partnership for federal income tax purposes and not as a
publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation. We can provide no assurance; how-
ever, that the IRS will not challenge the treatment of the operating partnership as a part-
nership for federal income tax purposes or that a court would not sustain such a challenge.
If the IRS were successful in treating the operating partnership as a corporation for fed-
eral income tax purposes, then the taxable income of the operating partnership would be
taxable at regular corporate income tax rates. In addition, the treatment of the operating
partnership as a corporation could cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT.

We may choose to pay dividends in our own stock, in which case shareholders may be
required to pay tax in excess of the cash they receive.

We may declare and distribute taxable dividends that are payable in part in our
stock, as we did in December 2008 and January 2009. Taxable shareholders receiving those
dividends will be required to include the full amount of the dividend as income to the ex-
tent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits for federal income tax purposes.
As a result, a U.S. shareholder may be required to pay tax with respect to those dividends
in excess of the cash received. If a U.S. shareholder sells the stock that the shareholder
receives as a dividend to pay this tax, the sales proceeds may be less than the amount
included in income with respect to the dividend, depending on the market price of our
stock at the time of the sale. In addition, the trading price of our stock would experience
downward pressure if a significant number of our shareholders sold shares of our stock to
pay taxes owed on dividends.

A redemption of units is taxable.

Holders of units in the operating partnership should keep in mind that redemption
of units will be treated as a sale of units for federal income tax purposes. The exchanging
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holder will generally recognize gain in an amount equal to the value of the common shares
received, plus the amount of liabilities of the operating partnership allocable to the units
being redeemed, less the holder’s tax basis in the units. It is possible that the amount of
gain recognized or the resulting tax liability could exceed the value of the shares received
in the redemption.

Environmental and Other Legal Risks

We may have liability under environmental laws.

Under federal, state, and local environmental laws, ordinances, and regulations,
we may be required to investigate and clean up the effects of releases of hazardous or
toxic substances or petroleum products at our properties, regardless of our knowledge or
responsibility, simply because of our current or past ownership or operation of the real
estate. Therefore, we may have liability with respect to properties we have already sold.
If environmental problems arise, we may have to take extensive measures to remedy the
problems, which could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to pay distributions to
our investors because:

* we may have to pay for property damage and for investigation and clean-up
costs incurred in connection with the contamination;

* the law typically imposes clean-up responsibility and liability regardless of
whether the owner or operator knew of or caused the contamination;

* even if more than one person may be responsible for the contamination, each
person who shares legal liability under the environmental laws may be held
responsible for all of the clean-up costs; and

» governmental entities or other third parties may sue the past or present owners
or operators of a contaminated site for damages and costs.

These costs could be substantial and in extreme cases could exceed the value of the con-
taminated property. The presence of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products
and the failure to remediate that contamination properly may materially and adversely
affect our ability to borrow against, sell, or lease an affected property. In addition, applica-
ble environmental laws create liens on contaminated sites in favor of the government for
damages and costs it incurs in connection with a contamination.

We face risks in complying with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports
and effectively prevent fraud. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent
fraud, we could be subject to regulatory action or other litigation, and our operating re-
sults could be adversely affected. Since 2007, we have been required to document and
test our internal control procedures to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the
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Sarbanes-sOxley Act of 2002, which requires our management to assess annually the effec-
tiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

During the course of our testing, we may identify deficiencies that we may not be
able to remediate in a timely manner. In addition, if we fail to maintain the adequacy of our
internal accounting controls, as those standards are modified, supplemented, or amended
from time to time, we may be unable to ensure that we can conclude on an ongoing basis
that we have effective internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with Section
404. Failure to achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment could cause
us to face regulatory action and also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported
financial information, either of which could have an adverse effect on our stock price.

Failure to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act or other similar laws could
result in substantial costs.

A number of federal, state, and local laws and regulations (including the Americans
with Disabilities Act) may require modifications to existing buildings or restrict certain
renovations by requiring improved access to such buildings by disabled persons and may
require other structural features that add to the cost of buildings under construction. Leg-
islation or regulations adopted in the future may impose further burdens or restrictions
on us with respect to improved access for disabled persons. The costs of compliance with
these laws and regulations may be substantial, and restrictions on construction or comple-
tion of renovations may limit implementation of our strategy in certain instances or reduce
overall returns on our investments, which could have a material adverse effect on us and
our ability to pay distributions to investors and to pay our mortgage debt as required.

Risks for Investors in Our Stock

We do not pay regular quarterly dividends, and we do not anticipate making distribu-
tions to investors for the indefinite future, other than possibly to preserve our REIT
status if so required.

Unlike other REITs that pay regular quarterly dividends, we have not paid a quar-
terly dividend since the third quarter of 2001, and we presently have no plans to resume
paying regular quarterly dividends. Since 2001, we have paid distributions only from the
net cash proceeds of property sales. In light of our negative cash flow from operations,
we will pay distributions only (a) from the net cash proceeds of a property sale or (b) if
we need to do so to maintain our status as a REIT for federal income tax purposes.

The market price of our stock is subject to fluctuation as a result of our operating re-
sults, the operating results of other REITs, and changes in the stock market in general.

The daily trading volume of our common stock on the NYSE MKT exchange has

historically been relatively light, and the market price may not reflect the fair market value
of our common stock (or our net asset value) at any particular moment. Prior sales data
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does not necessarily indicate the prices at which our common stock would trade in a more
active market. The market value of our common stock may or may not reflect the market’s
perception of our operating results, the potential for growth in the value of our proper-
ties as we develop and construct multifamily communities, the potential for future cash
dividends from property sales, and the real estate market value of our underlying assets.
In addition, general market conditions or market conditions of real estate companies in
general could adversely affect the value of our common stock.

Additional issuances of equity securities may dilute the investment of our current
shareholders.

Issuing additional equity securities to finance future developments and acquisitions
instead of incurring additional debt could dilute the interests of our existing shareholders.
Our ability to execute our business and growth plan depends on our access to an appro-
priate blend of capital, which could include a line of credit and other forms of secured and
unsecured debt, equity financing, or joint ventures.

Restrictions on changes of control could prevent a beneficial takeover for investors.

A number of the provisions in our articles of incorporation and bylaws have or
may have the effect of deterring a takeover of the company. In particular, to qualify as a
REIT for federal income tax purposes, we must comply with various requirements and
avoid various prohibited events. A company cannot be a REIT if, during the last half of a
taxable year, more than 50% in value of its outstanding stock is owned by five or fewer in-
dividual shareholders, taking into account certain constructive ownership tests. To help the
company comply with that test, our articles of incorporation provide in substance that (a)
Mr. Roberts cannot own more than 35% of the outstanding shares of our common stock,
and (b) no other person can own more than 3.7% of our outstanding common stock. These
provisions, which are intended to limit the ownership of our common stock by five persons
to no more than 49.8% of our outstanding shares, have or may have the effect of deterring
a takeover of the company.

In addition, our articles of incorporation and bylaws have other provisions that
have or may have the effect of deterring a takeover of the company, including:

* our classified board of directors, which may render more difficult a change in
control of the company or removal of incumbent management, because the
term of office of only one-third of the directors expires in a given year;

 the ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock;

 provisions in the articles of incorporation to the effect that no transaction of
a fundamental nature, including mergers in which the company is not the sur-
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vivor, share exchanges, consolidations, or sale of all or substantially all of the
assets of the company, may be effectuated without the affirmative vote of at
least three-quarters of the votes entitled to vote generally in any such matter;

* provisions in the articles of incorporation to the effect that they may not be
amended (except for certain limited matters) without the affirmative vote of at
least three-quarters of the votes entitled to be voted generally in the election of
directors;

* provisions in the bylaws to the effect that they may be amended by either the
affirmative vote of three-quarters of all shares outstanding and entitled to vote
generally in the election of the directors, or the affirmative vote of a majority of
the company’s directors then holding office, unless the shareholders prescribed
that any such bylaw may not be amended or repealed by the board of directors;

* Georgia anti-takeover statutes under which the company may elect to be pro-
tected; and

* provisions to the effect that directors elected by the holders of common stock
may be removed only by the affirmative vote of shareholders holding at least
75% of all of the votes entitled to be cast for the election of directors.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

Not applicable.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.
General

We own the following properties, all of which are located in north metropolitan
Atlanta, Georgia.

Real Estate Assets Held for Sale or Possible Joint Venture

1. North Springs is a 10-acre transit-oriented site located in Sandy Springs that
is zoned for a mixed-use development consisting of 356 multifamily units,
210,000 square feet of office space, and 56,000 square feet of street-level
retail space.

2. Johns Creek is a 1.3-acre commercial site located in Johns Creek that is
under contract to be sold for $700,000.

Land Parcels Held for Development and Construction

1. Bradley Park is a 22-acre site near the GA-400 and Highway 20 interchange,
zoned for 154 multifamily units.

2. Northridge is a 10.9-acre site located in Sandy Springs near the GA-400 and
Northridge interchange, zoned for 220 multifamily units.

3. Highway 20 is a 38-acre site located in the City of Cumming in Forsyth
County zoned for 210 multifamily units.

All of these properties are included within the land segment as reported in our
financial statements.

Demographic Data

We believe the long-term demand for multifamily housing in Atlanta will continue
to increase as Atlanta’s population grows. We believe that the outlook for Atlanta’s mul-
tifamily market is positive and the trends for the apartment industry as a whole are on the
upswing. We believe that the projected long-term decrease in home ownership rates will
result in more renters, which will in turn increase the demand for multifamily housing.

The following information is based on statistical estimates published by the Atlanta
Regional Commission, which we refer to as the ARC. The ARC is the regional planning
and governmental coordination agency for the 10-county Atlanta Region, which is com-
posed of Cherokee, Clayton, Cobb, DeKalb, Douglas, Fayette, Fulton, Gwinnett, Henry,
and Rockdale counties. The population of the Atlanta Region increased by 23% from
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3,429,379 persons in 2000 to 4,219,600 persons in 2013, making it one of the largest metro-
politan areas in the country and the largest in the Southeast. The ARC also produces pop-
ulation forecasts for the Greater Atlanta Region, which is a 20-county area that includes
the 10 counties noted above plus Barrow, Bartow, Carroll, Coweta, Forsyth, Hall, Newton,
Paulding, Spalding, and Walton counties. The population of the Greater Atlanta Region is
forecast to increase by 39% from 4,263,255 persons in 2000 to 5,925,900 persons in 2015.

As described below, our five tracts of land are located primarily along the Georgia
400 corridor in submarkets within Fulton and Forsyth counties. Each heading identifies
the property or properties within the specified county and submarket. We obtained popu-
lation and employment data for each Atlanta submarket from the ARC.

Fulton County

Fulton County is the largest county in the Atlanta region in terms of population,
employment, housing units, and land area. Three of our five properties are located in
north Fulton County. From 2000 to 2013, Fulton County’s population increased 15.9%
from 816,006 in 2000 to 945,400 in 2013.

Perimeter Center/North Springs/North Fulton Area

The Perimeter Center/North Springs/North Fulton area offers convenient prox-
imity and access to both urban and suburban employment bases and retail conveniences.
Georgia 400 and I-285 provide direct access within minutes to major regional malls such
as Perimeter Mall and North Point Mall. The Phipps Plaza/Lenox Mall/Buckhead area and
downtown Atlanta’s Central Business District are also readily accessible via Georgia 400,
which connects to I-85 South near downtown Atlanta. The Perimeter Center submarket is
one of the largest office, retail, and housing submarkets in the Southeastern United States.
It is Atlanta’s largest employment center outside of Atlanta’s Central Business District and
includes approximately 32 million square feet of office and retail space.

North Springs Land Parcel Held for Sale or Possible Joint Venture. The North Springs
transit-oriented, mixed-use property is a 10-acre site located on Peachtree Dunwoody
Road across the street from the North Springs rail station in Sandy Springs. The North
Springs property is zoned for a mixed-use development consisting of 356 multifamily units,
210,000 square feet of office space, and 56,000 square feet of street- level retail space.
North Springs has a book value of $11,000,000 and an independent appraised value of
$16,350,000. We believe the current market and demand for a transit-oriented, mixed-use
site like North Springs provides us with an excellent opportunity to sell this asset or use
it to participate in a joint venture. This sale or joint venture would pay off the $5,500,000
North Springs land loan and significantly increase our cash available for investment in the
development and construction of the Bradley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 multifamily
apartment communities.
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Johns Creek Land Parcel Held for Sale. Johns Creek is a 1.3-acre commercial site
located in Johns Creek that is under contract to be sold for $700,000. We would use the net
proceeds from the sale to pay down our Highway 20 land loan.

Northridge. Northridge is a 10.9-acre site located in Sandy Springs near the GA-
400 and Northridge interchange, being developed for 192 multifamily units. The com-
munity’s location is almost equidistant from North Point, Perimeter Center, and Phipps
Plaza/Lenox Mall/Buckhead, which are three of Atlanta’s major employment and retail
bases. The community has easy access to Georgia 400, MARTA, Atlanta’s rapid rail tran-
sit system; and, outside of peak congestion periods, is within approximately a 30 minute
drive of virtually the entire metro area, including Hartsfield Jackson International Airport.
We have purchased our land disturbance permit and are currently completing the architec-
tural design to enable us to apply for our building permits from the City of Sandy Springs.
The Northridge land has a book value of $4,373,789 and is owned debt free. We currently
estimate the remaining construction costs to construct this community to be approximately
$24,880,000.

Forsyth County/Cumming

The City of Cumming is a rapidly growing area located approximately 30 miles
north of Atlanta in Forsyth County near Georgia 400. Forsyth County is ranked as America’s
7th fastest growing county by Forbes magazine. Between 2000 and 2012, the population
of Forsyth County increased 91% from 98,407 to 187,928. The ARC forecasts that Forsyth
County’s population will be 250,042 by 2020, which is an increase of an additional 33.1%.

Bradley Park. Bradley Park is a 22-acre site near the GA-400 and Highway 20 in-
terchange, being developed for 152 multifamily apartment units. Bradley Park is also located in
close proximity to the Northside Hospital - Forsyth complex, which employs more than
2,200 physicians and 1,800 employees. This 152-unit community will be similar in size
to Rosewood Plantation and Ivey Brook, two other 150-unit communities we previously
developed and sold for a substantial return. During 2013, we redesigned Bradley Park
and successfully completed the sketch plat process required by Forsyth County. The new
sketch plat was approved at a public hearing on November 7, 2013 by the Forsyth County
Board of Commissioners. We have also received approval from the Corps of Engineers for
our Creek Crossing Permit and have submitted our engineering plans to Forsyth County to
obtain the clearing and grading permits for Bradley Park. We expect to obtain the clearing
and grading permits during the second quarter of 2014. We currently estimate the remain-
ing construction costs to construct this community to be approximately $18,602,000.

Highway 20. Our 38.2-acre Highway 20 land parcel is zoned for 210 multifamily
units. The property is located on Georgia Highway 20 at the intersection of Elm Street,
three blocks from the elementary, middle, and high schools and just north of Cum-
ming’s town square, which provides shopping, restaurants, and other entertainment and
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educational venues. The Cumming area continues to experience rapid growth with the
expansion of the Northside Hospital — Forsyth complex, the City’s new three-pool aquatic
center, and the opening of a satellite campus for the University of North Georgia. We
currently estimate the cost to construct this community to be approximately $22,120,000.

Summary of Debt Secured by Our Properties

See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Re-
sults of Operation — Liquidity and Capital Resources — Debt Summary Schedule, for an ex-
planation of our current debt structure, including the following information for each loan:
(a) principal balance at December 31, 2013, (b) principal balance at its scheduled maturity
date, (c) interest rate, (d) maturity date, and (¢) monthly principal and interest payment.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

None of Roberts Realty, the operating partnership, or our properties is presently
subject to any material litigation nor, to our knowledge, is any material litigation threat-
ened against any of them. Routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of business is
not expected to result in any material losses to us or the operating partnership.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES.

Market Data for 2013 and 2012

Our common stock trades on the NYSE MKT exchange under the symbol “RPL.”
The following table provides the quarterly high and low sales prices per share reported on
the NYSE MKT exchange during 2013 and 2012. We declared no dividends during 2012
or 2013.

Dividends

Year Quarter Ended High Low Declared
2013 First Quarter $1.40 $1.12 None
Second Quarter 1.40 1.06 None
Third Quarter 1.34 81 None
Fourth Quarter 1.15 .81 None
2012 First Quarter $1.77 $1.28 None
Second Quarter 1.54 1.27 None
Third Quarter 1.62 1.32 None
Fourth Quarter 1.38 1.15 None
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Shareholder Data

As of March 3, 2014, there were approximately 226 holders of record of our com-
mon stock.

As of March 3, 2014, we had 10,702,934 shares issued and 10,045,832 shares outstand-
ing. In addition, 2,501,888 shares are reserved for issuance to unitholders from time to time
upon the exercise of their redemption rights as explained in Item 1, Business — The Operating
Partnership. There is no established public trading market for the units. As of March 3, 2014,
the operating partnership had 93 unitholders of record.

Distribution Policy
We depend upon distributions from the operating partnership to fund our distribu-

tions to shareholders. Distributions by the operating partnership, and thus distributions by
us, will continue to be at the discretion of our board of directors.
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We have not paid regular quarterly dividends since the third quarter of 2001.
While we have in the past paid distributions from the net cash proceeds of property sales,
we presently have no plans to pay a distribution or to resume paying regular quarterly
dividends. We expect to distribute the net cash proceeds from any 2014 property sales
to shareholders and unitholders only to the extent necessary to maintain our status as
a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Any distributions beyond that amount will be
at the sole discretion of our board of directors. To maintain our qualification as a REIT
under the Internal Revenue Code, we must make annual distributions to shareholders of
at least 90% of our taxable income, which does not include net capital gains. Under some
circumstances, we may be required to make distributions in excess of cash available for
distribution to meet IRS distribution requirements.

Existing Stock Repurchase Plan

Our board of directors has established a stock repurchase plan under which the
company is authorized to repurchase shares of our outstanding common stock from time
to time by means of open market purchases and in solicited and unsolicited privately ne-
gotiated transactions, depending on the availability of shares, our cash position, and share
price. We have purchased 59,638 shares and have the authority to repurchase an additional
540,362 shares under the plan. We repurchased no shares in the fourth quarter of 2013.
The plan does not have an expiration date. We do not expect to make any repurchases in
the next 12 months.

Sales of Unregistered Shares

In 2013 and 2012, we did not sell any shares of stock that were not registered under
the Securities Act, other than those sales previously reported in a Current Report on Form
8-K.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

Not required for smaller reporting companies.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDI-
TION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION.

Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The
statements in this report that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements that in-
volve a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors, all of which are
difficult or impossible to predict and many of which are beyond our control, that may cause
our actual results, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future re-
sults, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by those forward-looking statements.
These risks are detailed in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors, in this report and our other SEC fil-
ings. Please also see the cautionary statements included in the Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements at the beginning of this report.

Overview

We are a self-administered, self-managed equity real estate investment trust,
or REIT. Our business is to acquire, develop, construct, own, and manage multifam-
ily apartment communities. The operating partnership, either directly or through its
wholly owned subsidiary, owns all of our properties. At December 31, 2013, we owned
an 80.06% interest in the operating partnership and were its sole general partner. We
expect to continue to conduct our business in this organizational structure. As of the
filing date of this report, we own the following properties, all of which are located in
metropolitan Atlanta, Georgia:

 three tracts of land totaling 71 acres, zoned for 584 multifamily apartment units,
that are in various phases of development and construction; and

e two tracts of land totaling 11 acres that are held for sale, including a 1.3-acre
tract which is under contract to be sold (these assets are classified as real estate
assets held for sale in our consolidated balance sheets).

In the near term, we intend to focus exclusively on developing, constructing, and
managing high quality multifamily apartment communities for cash flow and long-term
capital appreciation. After we have obtained the necessary debt and equity capital to fund
our development and construction program, as part of our future business and growth
plan, we expect to acquire existing multifamily apartment communities and to concentrate
our acquisitions on well-located Class B apartment communities in the Southeastern United
States that can be upgraded and repositioned in their respective markets. We describe our
business plan in Item 1, Business — Business Plan, beginning on page 3 above, and we refer
to it as our “Business Plan” in this Item 7.
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Recent Developments
As described in detail in Item 1, Business — Recent Developments:

* We entered into a sales contract to sell our 1.3-acre Johns Creek commercial
site for $700,000. The closing of the sale is contingent on the successful rezon-
ing of the property. Provided this contingency is satisfied, the closing of the
transaction would occur on or before July 21, 2014, and we would use the net
proceeds from the sale to pay down our Highway 20 land loan.

* We transferred the Bassett retail center to the lender in satisfaction of the
$2,406,883 in debt secured by the property, which completed our exit from the
office and retail business and reduced our outstanding debt and accrued inter-
est by $2,550,785 or 16%.

* We sold our Northridge Office Building for $5,280,000. At the closing, we
paid off our $2,422,533 Northridge Office Building loan and intend to use the
$2,520,000 in net sales proceeds to continue the development of our 152-unit
Bradley Park apartment community.

Additionally, we expect to begin construction on our Bradley Park multifamily apartment
community in the second quarter of 2014 after we obtain our clearing and grading per-
mits. We cannot make substantial progress on constructing and leasing up Bradley Park,
however, until we raise the necessary equity and obtain the construction loan as described
in Item 1, Business — Business Plan — Development and Construction of Multifamily Com-
munities above.

Continuing Negative Operating Cash Flow and Maturing Short-Term Debt

Our primary liquidity requirements relate to (a) our continuing negative op-
erating cash flow and (b) our maturing short-term debt. The primary reason for our
negative operating cash flow is that we have five tracts of land totaling 82 acres that
do not produce revenue but incur carrying costs of interest expense and real es-
tate taxes. These five tracts of land have a combined book value of $23,950,385
and a total independent appraised value of $32,890,000 and are encumbered
with land loans totaling $11,090,000. We have substantial equity in these proper-
ties, which are an integral part of our future business and growth plan. Because we
have disposed of all of our operating properties, we expect to continue to generate
negative operating cash flow and to operate at a loss until we complete the sale or joint
venture of our North Springs property and raise the equity and obtain the construction
loans needed to construct and lease up our planned Bradley Park, Northridge, and High-
way 20 multifamily apartment communities as described in our Business Plan.

As of March 3, 2014, we had total debt of $11,090,000 that is scheduled to mature
within the next 12 months: (a) the $5,500,000 North Springs land loan that matures on
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July 17,2014 (which we can extend to January 17, 2015 through two 3-month extensions by
paying a 1.0% extension fee for each 3-month extension); (b) the $3,000,000 Bradley Park
land loan that matures on August 10, 2014; and (c) the $2,590,000 Highway 20 land loan
that matures on October 8, 2014.

To address these issues, during the past year, we have reduced our net debt by
$13 million or 53%, decreased our annual operating expenses by $850,000, and increased
our liquidity by $5.6 million. Additionally, we are seeking to sell the North Springs prop-
erty, which has a book value of $11,000,000 and an independent appraised value of
$16,350,000. We intend to pay off the $5,500,000 North Springs land loan from the sales
proceeds. We could use the remaining sales proceeds for investment in the development
and construction of the Bradley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 multifamily apart-
ment communities.

If we do not sell the North Springs property as we intend or we are unable to extend
or refinance the North Springs, Bradley Park, and Highway 20 loans at maturity on accept-
able terms, or at all, we might be compelled to dispose of one or more of our properties
on disadvantageous terms, which could result in significant losses to us. Additionally, if we
are unable to sell one or more properties or find alternative funding to repay the North
Springs, Bradley Park, and Highway 20 loans as they mature, we might be forced to return
these properties to the respective lenders in satisfaction of the debt secured by these prop-
erties, which would result in substantial losses to us.

Results of Operations
Comparison of 2013 to 2012

The following table highlights our operating results and should be read in con-
junction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes
included in this report.

Years Ended December 31, Increase
2013 2012 (Decrease)
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES $ 28,672 $ 12810 $ 15,862
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Property operating expenses 354,292 190,643 163,649

General and administrative cxpenses 1,801,887 1,453,663 348,224
Impairment loss on rcal estate asscts — 3,459,283  (3,459,283)

Depreciation and amortization cxpense 621 128 493
Total opcrating expenses 2,156,800 5,103,717 (2,946,917)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) 314,406 (638,497) 952,903
LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS $(1,813,722) $(5,729,404) $(3,915,682)
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Loss from continuing operations decreased $3,915,682 in 2013 when compared to
2012. We did not have any non-cash impairment losses in 2013 compared to a non-cash
impairment loss of $3,459,283 in 2012. This $3,459,283 decrease in non-cash impairment
loss coupled with the $856,752 increase in the gain on the sale of the Peachtree Parkway
property were the primary reasons for the decrease in loss from continuing operations for
2013. We explain below the major variances between 2013 and 2012.

Total operating revenues increased by $15,862 in 2013 compared to 2012, primarily
as a result of the forfeited earnest money deposit received from the expiration of the sales
contract on the Northridge property.

Property operating expenses — consisting of utilities, repairs and maintenance,
real estate taxes, marketing, insurance, and other expenses — increased by $163,649 from
$190,643 in 2012 to $354,292 in 2013, primarily as a result of expenses related to the work
on the Bradley Park property.

General and administrative expenses increased by $348,224 from $1,453,663 in
2012 to $1,801,887 in 2013, primarily resulting from increased professional services and
compensation expense.

Other income (expense) increased by $952,903 during from 2012 to 2013. This in-
crease was primarily due to an $856,752 increase in the gain on the sale of the Peachtree
Parkway property, coupled with a $129,511 decrease in interest expense, which was partially
offset by a $37,341 increase in the amortization of deferred financing costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

At December 31, 2013, we had $28,334,958 in total assets, of which $3,522,867 was
cash and cash equivalents. In addition, we held $574,204 in restricted cash reserved for the
payment of interest on our North Springs and Highway 20 loans. As of March 3, 2014, we
held $3,053,483 in cash and cash equivalents and $373,118 in restricted cash reserved for
the payment of interest on our North Springs and Highway 20 loans.

We believe that the most important uses of our capital resources will be (a) to pro-
vide working capital to enable us to pay our operating expenses as we pursue our business
and growth plan and (b) to invest in the development and construction of the Bradley Park,
Northridge, and Highway 20 multifamily apartment communities, although we cannot make
substantial progress on constructing and leasing up these apartment communities until we
raise the necessary equity and obtain the construction loans. We currently estimate that we
will need approximately $15,314,000 of additional equity and $50,288,000 of debt to com-
plete the construction of these multifamily apartment communities, and our current cash
resources are inadequate to meet these needs. We are unable to provide any assurance that we
will be able to raise the equity and debt needed to complete the construction of any new multi-
family communities. We have described our plans to address these needs in our Business Plan.
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Our primary liquidity requirements relate to our continuing negative operating
cash flow and our maturing short-term debt. We have three loans with a total principal
balance of $11,090,000 that are scheduled to mature within the next 12 months, as listed in
the following table in their order of maturity:

Principal Payments Due

Property Securing Loan Maturity Date Within 12 Months
North Springs 7/17/14 $ 5,500,000
Bradley Park 8/10/14 3,000,000
Highway 20 10/08/14 2,590,000
Total $11,090,000

We are currently generating negative operating cash flow, and we expect to con-
tinue to generate negative operating cash flow and to operate at a loss in 2014. The two
primary reasons for our negative operating cash flow are as follows:

e We own five tracts of land totaling 82 acres with an aggregate book value of
$23,950,385 that secure land loans totaling $11,090,000. Because land does not
generate revenue, a substantial portion of our negative cash flow is a result of
the carrying costs (interest expense and real estate taxes) on our land.

e Our general and administrative expenses were $1,801,887 for 2013; these ex-
penses include the costs of being an SEC reporting company and having our
shares listed on the NYSE MKT stock exchange. These costs also include
accounting and related fees to our independent auditors as well as to an-
other accounting firm required for our compliance with Section 404(a) of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, legal fees, listing fees, director compensation, and
directors and officers insurance premiums. We estimate that these addi-

tional costs related to being a public reporting company are approximately
$600,000 per year.

Short- and Long-Term Liquidity Outlook

Our operating revenues are not adequate to provide short-term (12 months) li-
quidity for the payment of all operating expenses, interest, and scheduled amortization of
principal on our mortgage debt. We are currently using our cash balance of $3,053,483 to
meet our short-term liquidity requirements, including general and administrative expens-
es, principal reductions on our debt, and funding carrying costs and improvements at our
existing properties. We have the ability to defer property development costs, if needed, to
meet our short-term liquidity needs. With respect to the $11,090,000 in debt that matures
in the next 12 months, we intend to repay or refinance these loans as they mature. We
expect to meet our long-term liquidity requirements, including future debt maturities and
construction and development costs, from the proceeds of construction and permanent
loans, the sale of properties, and/or the equity we may raise in a private offering, or from
joint ventures. See Item 1, Business — Business Plan, beginning on page 3 above.
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If we do not sell the North Springs property as we intend or we are unable to extend
or refinance the North Springs, Bradley Park, and Highway 20 loans at maturity on accept-
able terms, or at all, we might be compelled to dispose of one or more of our properties
on disadvantageous terms, which could result in significant losses to us. Additionally, if we
are unable to sell one or more properties or find alternative funding to repay the North
Springs, Bradley Park, and Highway 20 loans as they mature, we might be forced to return
these properties to the respective lenders in satisfaction of the debt secured by these prop-
erties, which would result in substantial losses to us.

Comparison of 2013 to 2012

Cash and cash equivalents increased $3,121,849 during 2013 compared to a de-
crease of $167,173 during 2012. During 2013, $1,959,141 of the increase in cash and cash
equivalents resulted from discontinued operations. The respective changes in cash are
described below.

Net cash used in operating activities in 2013 was $1,972,308 compared to
$2,249,577 used during 2012, which was a decrease in cash used in operating activities
of $277,269. Discontinued operations had net cash provided by operating activities of
$377,499 in 2013.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $11,727,133 during 2013 compared to
$1,770,186 during 2012. This change was primarily due to:

* an increase of $12,120,000 in proceeds from the sale of real estate assets held
for sale; of which $5,280,000 resulted from discontinued operations related to
the sale of the Northridge Office Building;

* an $891,667 increase in cash used for the payment of costs related to the sale of
real estate assets; and

* an $882,863 increase in the change in restricted cash;

offset by a decrease of $163,573 in cash used for the development and construc-
tion of real estate assets.

Net cash used in financing activities was $6,632,976 compared to net cash provided
by financing activities of $312,218 for 2012. This change was primarily due to:

* proceeds of $5,500,000 from the North Springs land loan;

offset by increases of:

40



«  $5,825,400 in principal repayments on liabilities related to real estate asscts
held for sale;

+  $2,265,000 in principal repayments on land notes payable, primarily resulting
from the payoff of the Northridge land loan and the pay down on the Highway
20 land loan during the renewal and extension of this loan;

e $2,253,171 in principal repayments on liabilities related to discontinued oper-
ations, primarily resulting from the payoff of the Northridge Office Building
loan at the closing of the sale; and

+  $101,623 in the payment of loan costs, primarily for the North Springs land loan.

Debt Summary

The table and accompanying footnotes on the following page explain our debt
structure, including for each loan the principal balance at December 31, 2013 and at its
scheduled maturity date, the interest rate, the amount of the monthly principal and inter-
est payment, and the maturity date. For each loan, the operating partnership, or one of
its wholly owned subsidiaries, is the borrower and Roberts Realty is the guarantor. The
amount shown in the column titled “Balance at Maturity” assumes we make any required
principal payments prior to maturity.

ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
DEBT SUMMARY SCHEDULE
(Listed in order of maturity by type of loan)
As of December 31, 2013

Interest Maturity Balance at Monthly Dec. 31, 2013

Interest Terms Rate? Date Maturity  Payment Balance
Land Loans
Bradley Park® LIBOR plus 350 b.p.  3.66% 08/10/14 $ 3,000,000 $ 9,466 $ 3,000,000
Highway 20¢) Prime plus 175 b. p. 5.00% 10/08/14 2,555,000 16,194 2,600,000
Subtotal $ 5,555,000 $ 25660 $ 5,600,000
North Springs® Fixed-rate 13.00% 07/17/14 5,500,000 59,583 5,500,000
Grand Totals $11,055,000 $ 85243 $ 11,100,000

(1)  The interest rates and monthly payments arc as of December 31, 2013.

(2) On April 1, 2014, this loan will have an interest rate floor of 4.75%.

(3)  This loan has an interest rate floor of 5.0% and an interest reserve account.

(4) This loan has an interest reserve account and can be extended to January 17, 2015 through
two 3-month extensions by paying a 1.0% extension fee for each 3-month extension).
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Debt Maturities

Our existing loans will be amortized with scheduled monthly payments, as well as
balloon payments at maturity, through 2014 as summarized below:

Debt Maturity Schedule as of December 31, 2013

Total
Principal Recourse Loans
Payments with Balloon
Year Per Year Payments
2014 $ 11,100,000 North Springs,
Bradley Park,
Highway 20
2015 —
2016 —
2017 —
2018 —
Thereafter —
Total $11,100,000

Short-Term and Long-Term Debt

We have a total of $11,090,000 in debt that matures on or before October 8, 2014.
See Short-and Long-Term Liquidity Outlook above for how we intend to refinance or re-
pay these loans.

Effect of Floating Rate Debt

We have two loans that bear interest at floating rates. These loans had an aggregate
outstanding principal balance of $5,590,000 at March 3, 2014. One loan totaling $3,000,000
bears interest at 350 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR, with an interest rate floor of
4.75% that commences on April 1, 2014; and a $2,590,000 loan bears interest at the prime
rate plus 175 basis points with an interest rate floor of 5.0%. Changes in LIBOR and
the prime rate that increase the interest rates on these loans above their respective
interest rate floors will increase our interest expense. For example, a 1.0% increase in
the interest rates on these loans above their respective interest rate floors would increase
our interest expense by approximately $55,900 per year and reduce our liquidity and
capital resources by that amount.
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Contractual Commitments

Roberts Properties provides us with various development services that include
market studies, business plans, design, finish selection, and interior design. We enter into
construction contracts in the normal course of business with Roberts Construction and
currently have four ongoing construction contracts with Roberts Construction. The terms
of the construction contracts are cost plus 5% for overhead and 5% for profit.

No Quarterly Dividends

We have not paid regular quarterly dividends since the third quarter of 2001, and
we have no plans to resume paying regular quarterly dividends for the indeterminate fu-
ture. We will make distributions, however, to the extent required to maintain our status as
a REIT for federal income tax purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. See Recent Accounting Pronouncements below for a summary of
recent accounting pronouncements and the expected impact on our financial statements.
A critical accounting policy is one that requires significant judgment or difficult estimates,
and is important to the presentation of our financial condition or results of operations.
Because we are in the business of owning, operating, and developing multifamily apart-
ment communities, our critical accounting policies relate to cost capitalization and asset
impairment evaluation. The following is a summary of our overall accounting policy in
these areas.

Cost Capitalization

We state our real estate assets at the lower of depreciated cost or fair value, if
deemed impaired. We expense ordinary repairs and maintenance as incurred. We capital-
ize and depreciate major replacements and betterments over their estimated useful lives.
Depreciation expense is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of 27.5 years for buildings and improvements, 15 years for land improvements, and five to
seven years for furniture, fixtures, and equipment.

We capitalize direct costs associated with the development and construction of our
real estate assets. We expense all internal costs associated with the acquisition and oper-
ation of these assets to general and administrative expense in the period we incur these
costs. For our real estate assets, we capitalize interest on qualifying construction expendi-
tures in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 835-20,
Interest — Capitalization of Interest. During the development and construction of a property,
we capitalize related interest costs, as well as other carrying costs such as real estate taxes
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and insurance. We begin to expense these items as the property becomes substantially com-
plete and available for initial occupancy. During the lease-up period, as a property tran-
sitions from initial occupancy to stabilized occupancy, revenues are generally insufficient
to cover interest, carrying costs, and operating expenses, resulting in an operating deficit.
The size and duration of this lease-up deficit depends on the rate at which construction is
completed, the pace at which we lease the property, and the rent levels we achieve.

Asset Impairment Evaluation

We periodically evaluate our real estate assets, on a property-by-property basis, for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 360-10, Property, Plant,
and Equipment — Overall.

FASB ASC Topic 360-10 requires impairment losses to be recorded on long-lived
assets used in operations and land parcels held for use when indicators of impairment are
present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less
than the assets’ carrying amounts. The expected future cash flows depend on estimates
made by management, including (1) changes in the national, regional, and/or local eco-
nomic climates, (2) rental rates, (3) competition, (4) operating costs, (5) occupancy, (6)
holding period, and (7) an estimated construction budget. A change in the assumptions
used to determine future economic events could result in an adverse change in the value
of a property and cause an impairment to be recorded in the future. Due to uncertainties
in the estimation process, actual results could differ from those estimates. Our determi-
nation of fair value is based on a discounted future cash flow analysis, which incorporates
available market information as well as other assumptions made by our management, eval-
uation of appraisals, and other applicable valuation techniques. Because the factors we
use in generating these cash flows are difficult to predict and are subject to future events
that may alter our assumptions, we may not achieve the discounted or undiscounted future
operating and residual cash flows we estimate in our impairment analyses or those estab-
lished by appraisals, and we may be required to recognize future impairment losses on our
properties held for use.

Non-Cash Impairments on Operating Real Estate Assets. During 2013, we deter-
mined that the carrying amounts of our operating real estate assets were recoverable.
Accordingly, we did not record an impairment loss on our operating assets during 2013.

During 2012, we determined that the carrying amounts of the Bassett and Spectrum
retail centers and the Northridge Office Building were not recoverable as a result of (a) a
change in the occupancy at the Spectrum retail center, coupled with lower projected rental
rates in the surrounding market area; and (b) lower projected renewal rental rates at the
Bassett retail center and the Northridge Office Building resulting from lease negotiations
with tenants whose leases were expiring within the next twelve months. The determination
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of fair value was based on a discounted cash flow analysis and as a result of this analysis;
we recorded fair value adjustments of $984,342 on the Spectrum retail center, $754,278 on
the Bassett retail center, and $725,304 on the Northridge Office Building.

Non-Cash Impairments on Land Parcels. During 2013, we determined that the car-
rying amount of our land parcels was recoverable. Accordingly, we did not record an im-
pairment loss on our land parcels in 2013.

During 2012, we determined that the carrying amounts for the North Springs land
and the 1.3-acre commercial site in Johns Creek that are held for sale were not recov-
erable. The determination of fair value for the North Springs land parcel and the Johns
Creek commercial site was based on available market information, including offers and
expressions of interest from unrelated purchasers and market participants. As a result of
this analysis, we recorded fair value adjustments of $2,100,000 on the North Springs land
and $375,949 on the Johns Creek commercial site during 2012.

Also during 2012, we determined that the carrying amounts of the Bradley Park
and Highway 20 land parcels were not recoverable due to the then current market condi-
tions. The determination of fair value was based on a discounted cash flow analysis and
the review of current market sales comparables for other land parcels. As a result of this
analysis, we recorded fair value adjustments related to our land parcels of $773,334 on the
Bradley Park land parcel and $210,000 on the Highway 20 land parcel. We determined that
the carrying amounts of our other land parcels were recoverable at December 31, 2012.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Please refer to Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Recent
Accounting Pronouncements, to the notes to the audited consolidated financial state-
ments included in this report for a discussion of other recent accounting standards and
pronouncements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET
RISK.

Not required for smaller reporting companies.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

Our financial statements are listed under Item 15(a) and are filed as part of this
annual report on the pages indicated.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . . ... ... .F-1
Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2013 and
2012 and for the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Consolidated Balance Sheets................................ .F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations....................... .F-3
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity. . ............. .F-4
Consolidated Statementsof Cash Flows. ...................... .F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ................... F-7

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on our management’s evaluation, with the participation of our Chief Exec-
utive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as of December 31, 2013, the end of the period
covered by this report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have con-
cluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(¢) under the
Exchange Act) were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized,
and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and is ac-
cumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal

control over financial reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Our internal control over financiat reporting is a process
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designed, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act, to provide reasonable as-
surance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to fu-
ture periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may dete-
riorate.

In connection with the preparation of our annual consolidated financial statements,
our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2013. Management based this assessment on the criteria established in
Internal Control over Financial Reporting — Guidance for Smaller Public Companies issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (which is
sometimes referred to as the 1992 COSO Framework). Management’s assessment included
an evaluation of the design of our internal control over financial reporting and testing of
the operational effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Based on
this assessment, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2013.

This annual report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our
independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
reporting. Under applicable SEC rules, our management’s report is not subject to attesta-
tion by our independent registered public accounting firm.

Changes in Internal Controls

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the quarter ended December 31, 2013 that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

The design of any system of controls and procedures is based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events. There can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, re-
gardless of how remote.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE.

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table provides information about our directors and executive officers
as of the date of this report.

Term as
Director
Name Age [Expires Position
CharlesS.Roberts .................... 67 2015 Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer, and President
JohnL.Davis......................... 48 2016 Director, Chairman of the
Compensation Committee and Member
of Audit Committee and Nominating
and Governance Committee
CharlesR.Elliott ..................... 60 2015 Director, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, and Treasurer
Weldon R. Humphries ................. 76 2016 Director, Member of Audit Committee
and Compensation Committee
Wm. JarellJones...................... 65 2014 Director, Chairman of Audit Committee

and Chairman of Nominating and
Governance Committee, Member of
Compensation Committee

Biographical Information

Charles S. Roberts has served as our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer, and President since he founded the company in 1994. Mr. Roberts owns, directly
or indirectly, all of the outstanding stock of, and is the president and sole director of, each
of the Roberts Companies.

In 1970, Mr. Roberts established Roberts Properties, Inc. to develop, construct,
and manage multifamily apartment communities. Mr. Roberts and Roberts Properties
have won numerous local, regional, and national awards for the development of these
communities. Mr. Roberts has been a national speaker on the topic of developing up-
scale multifamily housing and has been recognized as a leader in this industry. On a regional
level, Roberts Properties has been awarded 21 prestigious Aurora Awards by the Southeast
Builders Conference; including eight times for the best rental apartment community. Rob-
erts Properties has also been awarded the coveted Golden Aurora Award for best overall
development in the Southeast. On a national level, Roberts Properties Management was
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recognized as the Property Management Company of the Year by the National Associa-
tion of Home Builders, and Roberts Properties has twice been awarded the prestigious
Pillars of the Industry Award from the National Association of Home Builders for the best
upscale apartment community.

Mr. Roberts served as chairman of the board of directors of Big Trees Forest Pre-
serve, a 30-acre urban forest in Sandy Springs, Georgia dedicated to conservation, pres-
ervation, and education, from 2006 to 2009. During this period, he personally donated
over $100,000 to the Preserve in support of its mission. Additionally, in January 2012,
Mr. Roberts was appointed to the City of Sandy Springs Economic Development Council,
and in October 2012, he was appointed to the City of Sandy Springs Design Review Board.

As a result of his experience in design, development, and construction, coupled
with his knowledge of architectural history, Mr. Roberts was appointed as a com-
missioner to the Landmarks Preservation Commission of the historic Town of Palm

Beach, Florida. He served as a Landmarks Preservation Commissioner from 2007
through 2010.

Mr. Roberts supports numerous charitable organizations and has participated in
a wide variety of philanthropic endeavors. He has been actively involved with the Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation for more than 20 years and served as Auction Chairman of the 2008
Sixty-Five Roses Ball, which raised more than $500,000. Mr. Roberts was a founding spon-
sor of the Fulton County “Beat the Odds” program, which provided college scholarships
and other assistance to Fulton County high school students who triumphed over life’s
hardships to excel both academically and personally. As a lifelong supporter of the YMCA,
Mr. Roberts donated $75,000 for the construction of an Aerobics Center at the Ed Isak-
son/Alpharetta Family YMCA in Alpharetta, Georgia.

The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has conclud-
ed that Mr. Roberts should serve as a director because he is our founder and largest share-
holder, he has served as our Chief Executive Officer since 1994, and he has more than 40
years of experience in real estate development, construction, and management, particularly
with respect to multifamily apartment communities.

John L. Davis, a director since November 2008, has more than 20 years of
experience in the commercial banking industry. Mr. Davis has been an Executive Vice
President, Capital Markets — Real Estate Investment Banking, with Jones Lang LaSalle in
Atlanta since June 2013. In that role at Jones Lang LaSalle, he focuses on loan origina-
tions for the office and retail property sectors. Mr. Davis is also President of Bravo Re-
alty Consulting, Inc., a company that he formed in 2007 to provide consulting services
for small and middle market real estate companies seeking debt and equity. In 2011,
he co-founded Spring Street Capital, LL.C, a commercial real estate mortgage banking
company. From May 2005 to November 2007, he served as a Senior Director of Wright-
wood Capital, a structured debt and equity provider. Prior to 2005, he was a Senior
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Vice President with Compass Bank for 10 years. During his tenure with Compass Bank,
Mr. Davis was our relationship manager and was involved in all facets of our business
relationship with Compass Bank. Prior to joining Compass Bank, he was a banker for
seven years with Hibernia Bank in New Orleans. Mr. Davis has also been a principal in
Sacred Heart Management, LLC, a healthcare management and investment company,
since 1999.

The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has con-
cluded that Mr. Davis should serve as a director because he has extensive banking
experience, particularly as a real estate lender. This experience is particularly valu-
able to us as we extend our current financing and seek to obtain new financing for
the construction of new multifamily apartment communities. The committee also
values his extensive business experience and his substantial knowledge about our
business and properties. The committee also took into account that he is “indepen-
dent” under SEC Rule 10A-3 and under Section 803A of the NYSE MKT exchange
listing standards and that his financial expertise qualifies him to serve on our audit
committee.

Charles R. Elliott served as a director from October 1994 to February 1995 and
became a director again in 2000. Effective May 31, 2006, Mr. Elliott again became our
Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer. Previously, he was our Secretary and
Treasurer from our inception until July 15, 2002, and our Chief Financial Officer from
April 1995 until July 15, 2002, when he became our Senior Vice President — Real Es-
tate. He left Roberts Realty as a full-time employee on August 30, 2002 and returned
on a full-time basis from February 17, 2003 to September 30, 2003 as our Chief Oper-
ating Officer. Mr. Elliott joined Roberts Properties in August 1993 as Chief Financial
Officer and served in that role until April 1995, when he joined Roberts Realty as our
Chief Financial Officer. He worked for Hunneman Real Estate Corporation in Boston,
Massachusetts from 1979 to 1993. He holds an undergraduate degree in Accounting and
a master’s degree in Finance.

The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has conclud-
ed that Mr. Elliott should serve as a director because of his experience in serving as our
Chief Financial Officer for much of our existence and his expertise in real estate finance,
acquisitions, and dispositions, which we believe will continue to be particularly valuable
to us.

Weldon R. Humphries, a director since December 2011, had a distinguished
twenty-year career with Manor Care, Inc. and subsidiary companies (Choice Hotels In-
ternational and SunBurst Hospitality Corp.) where he served as Senior Vice President of
Real Estate and Development from 1978 — 1998. He was responsible for asset manage-
ment, acquisitions, and development for all three companies. During his tenure, each
company was listed on the New York Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Humphries earned a BBA from the University of Houston, an MBA from
the University of Hartford, and served as an officer in the United States Marine Corps
before starting his career in the field of real estate and finance. He began his career
in commercial mortgage lending at Connecticut General Life Insurance Company and
later became Vice President and head of real estate for Arvida Corporation, one of
Florida’s largest land owners/developers. He was subsequently selected by Republic
Mortgage Investors, a REIT, to head its real estate portfolio as Vice President of Invest-
ments before joining Manor Care. Mr. Humphries is also a licensed real estate broker,
has taught real estate appraisal and mortgage banking courses, and has been a guest
speaker at numerous real estate and investment seminars and at the National Associa-
tion of Home Builders.

The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has con-
cluded that Mr. Humphries should serve as a director because of his extensive experi-
ence as a real estate executive, commercial mortgage banker, and real estate investor.
His commercial mortgage banking background is of particular value as we extend our
current financing and seek to obtain new financing for the construction of new multifam-
ily apartment communities. The committee also took into account that Mr. Humphries
is “independent” under SEC Rule 10A-3 and under Section 803A of the NYSE MKT
exchange listing standards and that his financial expertise qualifies him to serve on our
audit committee.

Wm. Jarell Jones, a director since October 1994, is an attorney and has practiced
law with the firm of Wm. Jarell Jones, P.C., since November 1993, except that he prac-
ticed with Jones + Turner Law Offices LLP from August 2011 to July 2012. Mr. Jones is
a former Certified Public Accountant, and in 1976 he formed the public accounting firm
of Jones & Kolb in Atlanta, Georgia and served as Senior Tax Partner and Co-Managing
Partner until December 1988. In 1990, Mr. Jones moved to Statesboro and practiced law
with the firm of Edenfield, Stone & Cox until November 1992 and then with the firm of
Jones & Rutledge from November 1992 until November 1993. Mr. Jones was formerly
a director for six years and the Chairman for two years of the Downtown Statesboro
Development Authority.

Mr. Jones is also the President and the sole shareholder of Palmetto Realty Com-
pany, a real estate development and brokerage company that was primarily involved in
the development of single-family residential lots in coastal South Carolina and Georgia.
Mr. Jones was also a partner and investor in several other real estate developments pri-
marily involved in residential lot and home sales in coastal Georgia and South Carolina.
Mr. Jones personally guaranteed the loans for these developments along with his other
partners who were the real estate developers of these developments. With the collapse
of the residential real estate market beginning in 2008, particularly in those coastal areas,
the developments were unable to generate sufficient cash flow to maintain the properties
and keep the development/construction loans current. Additionally, the market value of

all of these properties plummeted far below the amount of the debt and the real estate
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developers were unable to secure refinancing of any of these properties or work out any suit-
able modifications with the lenders. As a result of these difficulties and his personal guaran-
ties of the loans, Mr. Jones personally filed a bankruptcy petition under Chapter 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code on September 2, 2010 in the United States Bankruptcy
Court for the Southern District of Georgia. This proceeding was converted to Chapter 7 on
January 17, 2012 and was discharged on December 18, 2012.

The nominating and governance committee of our board of directors has concluded
that Mr. Jones should serve as a director because of his legal and accounting expertise and
his service as chairman of several committees of the board of directors, including the audit
committee. The committee also took into account that Mr. Jones is “independent” under
SEC Rule 10A-3 and under Section 803A of the NYSE MKT exchange listing standards
and is an “audit committee financial expert.”

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires Roberts Realty’s
directors, executive officers, and persons who own beneficially more than 10% of our out-
standing common stock to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of
changes in their ownership of our common stock. Directors, executive officers and greater
than 10% shareholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of the
forms they file. To our knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports
furnished to us, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, our directors, executive
officers and greater than 10% shareholders complied with all applicable Section 16(a)
filing requirements.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics as re-
quired by the rules of the NYSE MKT exchange and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our code is
designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote:

* honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of corporate oppor-
tunities and actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and pro-
fessional relationships;

* full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reports and docu-
ments that we file with, or submit to, the SEC and in other public communica-
tions we make;

* compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules, and regulations;
* confidentiality;
* protection and proper use of company assets;

* equal employment opportunities and prohibition of discrimination or harassment;
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» the prompt internal reporting of violations of the code to an appropriate
person or persons identified in the code; and

e accountability for adherence to the code.

We will provide a copy of the code of business conduct and ethics free of charge to any
person who requests it in writing. Please direct your request to our Chief Financial Officer,
450 Northridge Parkway, Suite 302, Atlanta, Georgia 30350.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of our board of directors is composed of Mr. Jones, its
chairman, Mr. Davis and Mr. Humphries. The board has determined that Mr. Jones
is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined under applicable SEC rules and is
“independent” under the listing standards of the NYSE MKT exchange, on which the shares
of our common stock are listed. Additionally, our proxy statement, which includes the
charters of our Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Governance committees of our
Board of Directors, is filed with the SEC and available to the public at the SEC’s website at
www.sec.gov. We will also provide a copy of the charters of our Audit, Compensation and
Nominating and Governance committees free of charge to any person who requests it in
writing. Please direct your request to our Chief Financial Officer, 450 Northridge Parkway,
Suite 302, Atlanta, Georgia 30350.




ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Compensation of Executive Officers

Our executive officers are Charles S. Roberts, our Chief Executive Officer, President,
and Chairman of the Board, and Charles R. Elliott, our Chief Financial Officer, Secretary,
and Treasurer. Biographical information for Mr. Roberts and Mr. Elliott is included in Item
10 above. Under applicable SEC rules, Mr. Roberts and Mr. Elliott are our “named execu-
tive officers.” Neither of our executive officers has an employment agreement.

Summary Compensation Table for 2013 and 2012

Name and Salary Bonus Total
Principal Position Year ($) (&) $)
Charles S. Roberts, 2013 225,000 $ 150,000@ 375,000
Chief Executive Officer, 2012 225,000 $ 125,000® 350,000
President, and Chairman
of the Board
Charles R. Elliott, 2013 18,000 — 18,000
Chief Financial Officer, 2012 18,000 — 18,000

Secretary, and Treasurer

(1) We do not compensate Mr. Roberts for his service as a director. Mr. Roberts has not received
an increase in his annual salary since January 2007, and we have never provided him with
any employee benefits such as medical and life insurance, retirement plan contributions or
deferred compensation. Mr. Roberts also does not receive any auto allowance or reimburse-
ment for mileage.

(2) In approving Mr. Roberts’ bonus for 2013, the compensation committee took into account
Mr. Roberts’ efforts in leading: (a) the sale of 20.6 acres of the Peachtree Parkway property
to Lennar Multifamily Investors, LLC, resulting in $7,090,000 of sales proceeds (without the
involvement of a broker and thus without the payment of a brokerage commission), the re-
payment of $7,000,200 in debt and the decrease in our annual operating expenses of $475,000;
(b) the sale of an additional 1.5 acres of the Peachtree Parkway property to another unrelated
purchaser, resulting in $450,000 of sales proceeds (without the payment of a brokerage com-
mission); (c) the sale of the Northridge Office Building, resulting in $5,280,000 of sales pro-
ceeds, the repayment of $2,422,533 in debt and the decrease in our annual operating expenses
of $210,000; (d) the acquisition and closing of a new $5,500,000 loan secured by the North
Springs property, resulting in $2,553,660 of net proceeds for working capital purposes and the
repayment of the $2,000,000 Northridge land loan, leaving the Northridge land, which has a
book value of $4,373,789, unencumbered; (¢) the renewal and extension of $13.0 million of
maturing debt; and (f) the completion of the Company’s exit from the retail and office business
through the disposition of the Bassett and Spectrum retail centers in satisfaction of $7,098,411
of debt and the decrease in our annual operating expenses of $165,000. We paid this bonus in
2014 for 2013.
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3)

(4)

In approving Mr. Roberts’ bonus for 2012, the compensation committee took into account
Mr. Roberts’ efforts in leading (a) the sale of 2.937 acres of the Peachtree Parkway property
resulting in $1,200,000 of sales proceeds (without the involvement of a broker and thus with-
out the payment of a brokerage commission), the reimbursement of $515,530 in costs previ-
ously incurred to allow the Peachtree Parkway property to be rezoned for a commercial use
and the repayment of $1,174,800 in debt; (b) the acquisition and closing of a new $2,000,000
loan secured by the Northridge property; (¢) the renewal and extension of $12.9 million of
maturing debt; (d) the pursuit of and litigation with a tenant on a defauited lease obligation
resulting in a $135,000 settlement being paid by the defaulting tenant; and (e) the closing of
four new leascs and the renewal and extension of five leases representing 27,684 square fect
at our Bassett and Spectrum retail centers, all but one of which was accomplished without the
payment of a brokerage commission. We paid this bonus in 2013 for 2012.

We have agreed to pay Mr. Elliott $70 per hour for his service as our Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, and Treasurer. Mr. Elliott receives no employee bencfits, such as medical and lifc
insurance, retircment plan contributions, or deferred compensation, and we pay him only for
the actual number of hours he works. In addition, Mr. Elliott received our standard direc-
tor fecs of $18,000 during each of 2013 and 2012, which amounts arc included in the salary
amounts shown in the table.

Compensation of Directors

The following table summarizes the compensation we paid to our non-employee

directors in 2013.

Director Compensation for 2013

Fees Earned

Name or Paid in Cash ($) Total ($)
John L. Davis 18,000 18,000
Wm. Jarell Jones 30,000 30,000
Weldon R. Humphries 18,000 18,000

During 2013, we paid our directors other than Mr. Roberts an annual fee of $18,000

for attendance, in person or by telephone, at meetings of the board of directors and its
committees. We paid additional compensation of $1,000 per month to Mr. Jones for serv-
ing as the chairman of the audit committee and the nominating and governance committee.
In addition, we reimburse our directors for reasonable travel expenses and out-of-pocket
expenses incurred in connection with their activities on our behalf. These reimbursements
are not reflected in the table above. Our directors hold no stock options or shares of re-
stricted stock.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Ownership of Common Stock and Units

The table on the following page describes the beneficial ownership of shares of our
common stock as of March 3, 2014 for:

* each person or entity known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5%
of the outstanding shares of our common stock;

* each director and each named executive officer; and
* our directors and executive officers as a group.

Except as noted in the footnotes, each person named in the following table directly
owns all shares and units of partnership interest in Roberts Properties Residential, L.P,
our operating partnership, and has sole voting and investment power. Mr. Roberts, the
only person known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock, has an
address in care of our principal office. The Number of Shares Beneficially Owned column
in the table includes the shares owned by the persons named but does not include shares
they may acquire by exchanging units for shares of common stock as explained in the fol-
lowing paragraphs. The Number of Shares Underlying Units Beneficially Owned column
in the table reflects all shares that each person has the right to acquire by exchanging units
for shares, subject to the limitations described in the following paragraphs. In the case of
persons who own shares and units (and all directors and executive officers as a group), the
percentages in the Percent of Class column are not equal to the number of shares then
owned by the person divided by the number of outstanding shares. Instead, under SEC
rules, the shares that the person or group can acquire in exchange for units are deemed
to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person or group holding those units
when calculating the percentage ownership of that person or group, although shares that
other persons can acquire in exchange for units are not treated as outstanding for purposes
of that calculation.

Unitholders generally have the right to require the operating partnership to re-
deem their units. To preserve our qualification as a real estate investment trust, our arti-
cles of incorporation limit beneficial ownership by Mr. Roberts to 35% of the outstanding
shares. Accordingly, Mr. Roberts cannot redeem units for shares if upon their redemption
he would hold more than 35% of our outstanding shares.

Any unitholder who submits units for redemption will receive, at our election,

either: (a) a number of shares equal to the number of units submitted for redemption
multiplied by the applicable conversion factor, which is currently 1.647 shares for each

56



unit submitted for redemption, or (b) cash equal to the average of the daily market prices
of the common stock for the 10 consecutive trading days before the date of submission
multiplied by the number of units submitted. Our policy is to issue shares in exchange for

units submitted for redemption.

Number of
Shares
Number of  Underlying
Name of Shares Units Percent
Beneficial Beneficially Beneficially of
Owner Owned Owned Total Class®
Charles S. Roberts 2,752,824® 1,533,895 4,286,719 37.0%
John L. Davis 27,8524 — 27,852 *
Charles R. Elliott 46,2000 — 46,200 *
Weldon R. Humphries 62,029 —_ 62,029 *
Wm. Jarell Jones 48,968 — 48,968 *
All directors and executive
officers as a group: (5 persons)® 2,937,873 1,533,895 4,471,768 38.6 %

*  Less than 1%.

(1) The total number of shares outstanding used in calculating this percentage is
11,579,727, which is the sum of (a) 10,045,832, the number of shares deemed out-
standing, for the purposes of this calculation as of March 3, 2014, plus (b) 1,533,895,
the number of shares underlying units beneficially owned as of March 3, 2014.

(2) Includes 258,705 shares owned by Mr. Roberts’ spouse; Mr. Roberts disclaims bene-
ficial ownership of those shares. ‘

(3) Reflects Mr. Roberts’ beneficial ownership of 931,329 units, each of which is ex-
changeable for 1.647 shares of our common stock.

(4) Includes 24,588 shares owned indirectly through the 401(k) plan of Bravo Realty
Consulting, Inc.

(5) Owned jointly with Mr. Elliott’s spouse.

(6) Owned indirectly through The Humphries Living Trust.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides equity compensation plan information at Decem-
ber 31, 2013. At our annual shareholders meeting on August 21, 2006, our shareholders
approved and adopted the 2006 Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. Restricted Stock Plan.
The Plan provides for the grant of stock awards to our employees, directors, consultants,
and advisors, including employees of Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction.
The maximum number of shares of restricted stock that may be granted to any one
individual during the term of the Plan may not exceed 20% of the aggregate number of
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shares of restricted stock that may be issued under the Plan. Under the Plan as amended
on January 27, 2009, we could grant up to 654,000 shares of restricted common stock
under the Plan, subject to the anti-dilution provisions of the Plan. Subsequent grants of
restricted stock have reduced the number of shares available to be granted under the
Plan to the number shown.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of
securities Weighted-
to be issued average exercise
upon exercise of price of Number of securities
outstanding outstanding remaining available for future
options, war- options, war- issuances under equity
rants rants compensation plans (excluding
and rights and rights securities reflected in column (a))
Plan category (a) (b) ()
Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders N/A N/A 514,962
Equity compensation
plans not approved
by security holders N/A N/A N/A
Total — — 514,962

Other than our restricted stock plan described above, we have no equity compen-
sation plans under which we could issue stock, restricted stock or restricted stock units,
phantom stock, stock options, SARs, stock options in tandem with SARs, warrants, con-
vertible securities, performance units and performance shares, or similar instruments.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS,
AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

General

Roberts Realty conducts its business through Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P, which we refer to as the operating partnership. Roberts Realty owns an 80.06% in-
terest in the operating partnership as of March 3, 2014 and is its sole general partner.
Mr. Charles S. Roberts, our Chief Executive Officer, owns all of the outstanding shares
of each of the Roberts Companies. As explained below, we have entered into transactions
with the Roberts Companies and paid them to perform services for us.

Under applicable SEC rules, this Item 13 describes any transaction that has oc-
curred since January 1, 2012, or any currently proposed transaction, in which we were or
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are to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds the lesser of $120,000 or one per-
cent of our total assets at year end for the last two completed fiscal years, and in which our
officers, directors, and certain other “related persons” as defined in the SEC rules had or
will have a direct or indirect material interest. Notes 3 and 9 to our audited consolidated
financial statements included in this report provide further detail regarding some of the
transactions described in this section.

Transactions with the Roberts Companies and Their Affiliates

Overview. We have paid fees to the Roberts Companies for various services and
will continue to do so in the future. We reimburse the Roberts Companies for the costs
of certain services and personnel the Roberts Companies provide to us, and we have
retained the Roberts Companies for development services and construction services for
some of our land parcels. Roberts Realty, its predecessor limited partnerships, and other
limited partnerships sponsored by Mr. Roberts have previously entered into agreements
with Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction to provide some of these services for
20 apartment communities with a total of 4,648 units that were sold for a total sales price
of $431,701,143. All of these communities were sold for a substantial profit.

Lease of Office Space in Northridge Office Building. On October 30, 2013, we sold
our 37,864 square foot Northridge Office Building to the Fulton County Board of Educa-
tion, an unrelated third party, for $5,280,000. Prior to the sale, we leased 4,431 rentable
square feet in the Northridge Office Building to Roberts Properties and 1,920 rentable
square feet to Roberts Construction. Effective as of January 1, 2012, we renewed our
leases with the Roberts Companies for a one-year term with a rental rate of $17.50 per
rentable square foot. Effective as of January 1, 2013, Roberts Realty again renewed its
leases with the Roberts Companies for a one-year term with a new rental rate of $17.00
per rentable square foot. The renewal rental rate was higher than a December 2012 lease
renewal with an unrelated third party at the Northridge Office Building. We recognized
total rental income from Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction of $90,342 for
the year ended December 31, 2012 and $80,975 for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Sublease of Office Space. On October 30, 2013, we sold our Northridge Office
Building to the Fulton County Board of Education for $5,280,000 and paid off our
$2,422,533 Northridge Office Building loan. This sale also reduced our operating expenses
by approximately $210,000 per year. The Fulton County Board of Education intends to
occupy 100% of the building and as a condition of closing, required that we vacate the
building by February 28, 2014, which was later extended to April 5, 2014. Consequently,
we were required to seek new office space in another building. On February 19, 2014, we
entered into a sublease for 1,817 square feet of office space with Roberts Capital Part-
ners, LLC. The sublease has a commencement date of April 7, 2014. Roberts Capital
Partners, LLC is owned by Mr. Charles S. Roberts, our Chairman of the Board, Chiet
Executive Officer, and President. The rental rates and lease term are the same rental
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rates and lease term that Roberts Capital Partners, LLC has with KBS SOR Northridge
LLC, the unrelated third party owner of the building. Roberts Capital Partners, LLC
is liable to the building owner for the full three-year term of its lease; however, we
negotiated a 90-day right to terminate our sublease as described below. The sublease
has a three-year term, with a one-year option, which provides for rental rates of $16.50
per square foot in Year 1, $17.25 per square foot in Year 2, $18.00 per square foot in
Year 3, and $18.75 per square foot for the Year 4 option. We have the right to terminate
the sublease upon 90 days notice by paying (a) a minimum of 12 months of rent under
the sublease, plus (b) an early termination amount, which will be the lesser of (x) the
next 12 months of rent due under the sublease or (y) the remaining amounts due under
the term of the sublease, as calculated on the early termination date. The minimum total
lease payments to Roberts Capital Partners, LLC will be $61,324 and the maximum total
lease payments, assuming the full three-year term and the exercise of the Year 4 op-
tion, would be $128,099. We believe the favorable terms of our sublease provide us with
significant flexibility in successfully implementing our business plan.

Release of Restrictive Covenant on Peachtree Parkway Property. In acquiring the
Peachtree Parkway land parcel in December 2004, we assumed and became bound by a
restrictive covenant on the property that was already recorded in the Gwinnett Coun-
ty records in favor of Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction. The restrictive
covenant provided that if the then-owner of the property developed it for residential
use, Roberts Construction, or any other entity designated by Mr. Roberts, would be
engaged as the general contractor for the project on a cost plus basis and would be
paid the cost of constructing the project plus 5% profit and 5% overhead. (The restrictive
covenant also provided that Roberts Properties, or any entity designated by Mr. Roberts,
would be engaged as the development company for the project, but we previously
paid the development fees to Roberts Properties for the services they provided in full
satisfaction of that part of the covenant.) These terms and conditions were consistent
with our previous agreements with Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction for
development and construction services for multifamily apartment communities. The
restrictive covenant was scheduled to expire on October 29, 2014,

On February 7, 2013, we sold the 20-acre Peachtree Parkway land parcel
to Lennar Multifamily Investors, LLC (“Lennar”), an unrelated third party, for
$7,590,000, in accordance with the terms of sale previously reported in our Current
Reports on Form 8-K. Lennar had previously informed us and stated in its offer
and in the sales contract that it would not use Roberts Construction as the general
contractor. The sales contract provided that Lennar would not enter into the sales
contract unless the restrictive covenant was terminated no later than the closing date
at no cost to Lennar. After being advised by Lennar of this requirement, the Audit
Committee negotiated with Roberts Construction for the release of the restrictive
covenant. Roberts Construction agreed in the sales contract to give up its contrac-

60



tual rights to be the general contractor for the project and to release the restrictive
covenant on the closing date for a payment of $500,000 from the purchase price to be
paid by Lennar. On February 7, 2013, the closing occurred and Roberts Construction
received the payment for releasing the restrictive covenant. We used the remaining
sales proceeds to repay the Peachtree Parkway loan and recorded a $1,214,192 gain
on the sale.

Restrictive Covenant on North Springs Property. Our 10-acre North Springs property
in Fulton County is zoned for 356 multifamily units, 210,000 square feet of office space and
56,000 square feet of retail space. In acquiring the North Springs property in January 2005,
we assumed and became bound by a pre-existing restrictive covenant on the property that
was already recorded in the Fulton County, Georgia real estate records in favor of Roberts
Properties and Roberts Construction. The covenant has the same terms and conditions as
the restrictive covenant related to the Peachtree Parkway land described above. The restric-
tive covenant expires on January 3, 2015. We have paid the development fees to Roberts
Properties for the services they provided in full satisfaction of that part of the covenant.

Development Fees. Roberts Properties provides various development services that
include market studies; business plans; assistance with permitting, land use and zoning
issues, easements, and utility issues, as well as exterior design, finish selection, and interior
design. We have entered into a design and development agreement with Roberts Proper-
ties for the Highway 20 project and made payments to Roberts Properties as outlined in
the following table:

Total Amounts Amounts Remaining
Contract Incurred in Incurred in Contractual
Amount 2012 2013 Commitment
Highway 20 $ 1,050,000 $ 0 $ 35,000 $ 390,000 '

Construction Contracts. We have entered into cost plus contracts with Roberts Con-
struction for the Bradley Park, Northridge, Peachtree Parkway, North Springs, and High-
way 20 properties. Under these contracts, we will pay Roberts Construction the cost of
constructing the project plus 5% for overhead and 5% for profit. We pay progress payments
monthly to Roberts Construction based on the work that has been completed. (We will
not make any further payments with respect to the Peachtree Parkway property, which we
have sold.) The following table lists the amounts incurred on these contracts during 2012
and 2013.
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Amounts Amounts

Incurred for Incurred for

Labor and Materials 5% Profit and

Costs 5% Overhead

For Twelve Months For Twelve Months
Ended December 31, Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012

Bradley Park $ 0 $ 922 $ 0 $ 92
Northridge 999 145,085 100 14,508
Peachtree Pkwy 0 1,126 0 113
North Springs 0 286 0 29
Highway 20 0 622 _ 0 62
Totals $999 $148,041 $100 $14,804

Other Payments to Roberts Construction. At our request, Roberts Construction per-
formed repairs and maintenance and made tenant improvements for new leases at our
retail centers and office building. Roberts Construction also performed maintenance on
the land parcels. In 2012, we paid Roberts Construction $149,806 for labor and materials
costs plus $14,981 (5% for profit and 5% for overhead). Additionally, Roberts Construc-
tion received cost reimbursements of $42,914 in 2012 and $279,326 in 2013.

Reimbursements to Roberts Properties for Consulting Services. We entered into a re-
imbursement arrangement for services provided by Roberts Properties, effective February
4, 2008, as amended January 1, 2014. Under the terms of the arrangement, we reimburse
Roberts Properties the cost of providing consulting services in an amount equal to an
agreed-upon hourly billing rate for each employee multiplied by the number of hours that
the employee provided services to us. As amended, the arrangement provides that the
appropriate billing rate shall be calculated by multiplying an hourly cost for an employee
(which is defined as the employee’s salary, plus benefits paid by the Roberts Companies,
divided by 2,080 annual hours) by a factor of 2.25 for all employees (increased from a fac-
tor of 1.7), including Roberts Properties’ Chief Financial Officer (increased from a factor
of 1.8). The reimbursement arrangement allows us to obtain services from experienced
and knowledgeable personnel without having to bear the cost of employing them on a
full-time basis. Under this arrangement, we incurred $136,297 in 2012 and $261,014 in
2013. The 2013 increase was because Roberts Properties provided additional services in
2013 that replaced the services of a full-time temporary contractor we had retained, which
resulted in a net savings to us.

Other Reimbursements to Roberts Properties. We reimbursed Roberts Properties
$7,221 in 2012 and $10,331 in 2013 for our operating costs and other expenses.

Expiration of Sales Contract for Northridge Land. As disclosed in our previous SEC

filings, on June 30, 2011, we entered into a contract to sell our 11-acre Northridge prop-
erty to Roberts Properties for $5,060,000, plus the reimbursement of $303,789 of certain
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development and construction expenses. The sales contract was amended on December 19,
2011 to provide for a sales price of $4,070,000 and was subsequently amended several times
to extend the closing date, most recently to June 30, 2013. On July 1, 2013, the sales contract
expired according to its terms, which resulted in our receipt of the $25,000 earnest money
deposit, which Roberts Properties forfeited. Additionally, during the term of the sales con-
tract Roberts Properties reimbursed us $383,373 for certain development and construction
expenses that we had incurred.

Determination of Director Independence

We have established an audit committee, a nominating and governance com-
mittee and a compensation committee. Our audit committee is composed of Mr. Jones
(Chairman), Mr. Davis, and Mr. Humphries. Our board of directors has determined
that each member of the audit committee is “independent” under SEC Rule 10A-3 and
Section 803A of the NYSE MKT exchange listing standards. Our compensation com-
mittee is composed of Mr. Davis (Chairman), Mr. Jones, and Mr. Humpbhries, and
our nominating and governance committee is composed of Mr. Jones (Chairman) and
Mr. Davis. Our board of directors has determined that each of Mr. Davis, Mr. Jones,
and Mr. Humphries is “independent” within the meaning of Section 803A of the NYSE
MKT exchange listing standards. In determining that Mr. Davis is independent, the
board considered that Mr. Davis is an Executive Vice President of Jones Lang LaSalle
(“JLL), which offers specialized real estate services to clients in 70 countries from more
than 1,000 locations worldwide. We recently retained JLL as the real estate broker for
the sale of one of our properties. In determining that this engagement did not affect
Mr. Davis’ status as an independent director, the board noted that Mr. Davis’ work at
JLL focuses on loan originations for the office and retail property sectors and not prop-
erty sales, he would not be involved in the marketing or sale of the property, and he
would receive no financial or other compensation or benefits that relate, either directly
or indirectly, to any compensation earned by JLL as a result of the real estate brokerage
services that JLL performs for us. There were no other transactions, relationships, or
arrangements not disclosed in this Item 13 pursuant to Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K
that our board considered in making the determinations of independence described in
this paragraph.

Approval of Transactions with Related Persons

We have two types of policies and procedures for the review, approval, or rat-
ification of any transaction we are required to report in the preceding portion of this
Item 13. The first is our longstanding policy that conflicting interest transactions by
directors as defined under Georgia law must be authorized by a majority of the dis-
interested directors, but only if there are at least two directors who are disinterested
with respect to the matter at issue. The second is that under our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics, related party transactions are subject to appropriate review and
oversight by the audit committee of our board of directors. We describe each of these
policies in more detail below.
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The board of directors is subject to provisions of Georgia law that are designed to
eliminate or minimize potential conflicts of interest. Under Georgia law, a director may
not misappropriate corporate opportunities that he learns of solely by serving as a member
of the board of directors. In addition, under Georgia law, a transaction effected by us or
any entity we control (including the operating partnership) in which a director, or specified
related persons and entities of the director, have a conflicting interest of such financial
significance that it would reasonably be expected to exert an influence on the director’s
judgment, may not be enjoined, set aside, or give rise to damages on the grounds of that
interest if either:

* the transaction is approved, after disclosure of the interest, by the affirmative
vote of a majority of the disinterested directors, or by the affirmative vote of a
majority of the votes cast by disinterested shareholders; or

* the transaction is established to have been fair to us.

Underour Code of Business Conductand Ethics, a “conflictof interest” occurswhenan
individual’s private interest interferes or appears to interfere with the interests of the com-
pany. A conflict of interest can arise when a director or officer takes actions or has interests
that may make it difficult to perform his or her work for us objectively and effectively. For
example, a conflict of interest would arise if a director or officer, or a member or his or her
family, receives improper personal benefits as a result of his or her position in the company.

Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics provides that a conflict of interest situa-
tion involving directors or executive officers may include the following:

* any significant ownership interest in any service provider;

* any consulting or employment relationship with any service provider, supplier,
or competitor;

* any outside business activity that detracts from an individual’s ability to devote
appropriate time and attention to his or her responsibilities with the company;

* the receipt of excessive entertainment or other than nominal gifts from any
company with which the company has current or prospective business dealings;

* being in the position of supervising, reviewing, or having any influence on the
job evaluation, pay, or benefit of any immediate family member; and

* selling anything to the company or buying anything from the company.

Anything that would present a conflict for a director, officer, or employee would
likely also present a conflict if it were related to a member of his or her family. The Code of
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Business Conduct and Ethics provides that any conflict of interest situation, including those
described above, should be discussed with the appropriate contact person. For officers and
directors, that person is the chairman of the audit committee, Mr. Wm. J arell Jones.

Under the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the approval of conflicting
interest transactions is two-pronged. As noted above, our board of directors has ad-
opted and has always followed a policy that all conflicting interest transactions must
be authorized by a majority of the disinterested directors, but only if there are at least
two directors who are disinterested with respect to the matter at issue. In addition,
under the applicable rules of the NYSE MKT exchange, related party transactions
are subject to appropriate review and oversight by the audit committee of our board
of directors. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics provides that any transaction
or relationship that is approved as described in this paragraph is in compliance with
the Code, and that approval as described in this paragraph is not to be regarded as a
waiver of the Code.

The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics specifically provides that we may engage
in transactions of various types with Mr. Roberts, the Roberts Companies and/or other
affiliates of Mr. Roberts, including the development or acquisition of real estate, so long
as the transaction or agreement complies with the policy described above. We followed
these policies in approving the transactions and agreements with the Roberts Companies
described in this Item 13.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

In October 2012, we were informed by Reznick Group, P.C. (“Reznick Group”),
our independent registered public accounting firm, that Reznick Group had entered into a
business combination with J.H. Cohn, LLP (“J.H. Cohn”), another independent registered
public accounting firm. In connection with the business combination, J.H. Cohn legally
changed its name to CohnReznick LLP (“CohnReznick”) and continues to be registered
with the PCAOB. As a result of the business combination and in accordance with applica-
ble SEC rules related to business combinations of independent registered public account-
ing firms, on November 5, 2012, Reznick Group resigned as our independent registered
public accounting firm. The audit committee of our board of directors then appointed
CohnReznick, the combined firm, as our independent registered public accounting firm
effective November 5, 2012. Our audit engagement team did not change as a result of the
business combination.

Audit Fees
For 2013

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for professional services rendered
for the audit of our annual financial statements for 2013 and for the review of the
financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q during 2013 were
$125,000.
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For 2012

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for professional services rendered for
the audit of our annual financial statements for 2012 and for the review of the financial
statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q during 2012 were $135,000.

Audit-Related Fees
For 2013

We did not engage CohnReznick to provide, and CohnReznick did not bill us for,
any professional services that were reasonably related to the performance of the audit of
our 2013 financial statements, but which are not reported under Audit Fees above.

For 2012

CohnReznick provided professional services in the amount of $22,300 that were
reasonably related to the performance of the audit of our 2012 financial statements, but
which are not reported under Audit Fees above.

Reznick Group provided professional services in the amount of $4,500 that were
reasonably related to the performance of the audit of our 2012 financial statements, but
which are not reported under Audit Fees above.

Tax Fees
For 2013

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for professional services rendered related
to tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning for 2013 were $18,000.

For 2012

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for professional services rendered related
to tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning for 2012 were $18,000.

All Other Fees
For 2013

The aggregate fees billed by CohnReznick for real estate consulting services in
2013 were $2,000.

For 2012

The aggregate fees billed by Reznick Group for real estate consulting services in
2012 were $7,500.
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Pre-Approval Policy

Our audit committee pre-approval guidelines with respect to pre-approval of audit
and non-audit services are summarized below.

General. The audit committee is required to pre-approve the audit and non-audit
services performed by the independent auditor in order to assure that the provision of
such services does not impair the auditor’s independence. Unless a type of service to be
provided by the independent auditor has received general pre-approval, it will require spe-
cific pre-approval by the audit committee. Any proposed services exceeding pre-approved
cost levels require specific pre-approval by the audit committee.

Audit Services. The annual audit services engagement terms and fees are subject to
the specific pre-approval of the audit committee. In addition to the annual audit services
engagement specifically approved by the audit committee, the audit committee has granted
general pre-approval for other audit services, which are those services that only the inde-
pendent auditor reasonably can provide.

Audit-related Services. Audit-related services are assurance and related services that
are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial state-
ments and that are traditionally performed by the independent auditor. The audit commit-
tee believes that the provision of audit-related services does not impair the independence
of the auditor.

Tax Services. The audit committee believes that the independent auditor can pro-
vide tax services to us, such as tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice, without im-
pairing the auditor’s independence. The audit committee will not permit the retention of
the independent auditor in connection with a transaction initially recommended by the
independent auditor, the purpose of which may be tax avoidance and the tax treatment of
which may not be supported in the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations.

All Other Services. The audit committee has granted pre-approval to those permis-
sible non-audit services classified as “all other services” that it believes are routine and
recurring services, and would not impair the independence of the auditor.

Pre-Approval Fee Levels. To facilitate management’s day-to-day conduct of our busi-
ness, the audit committee deemed it advisable and in our best interests to permit certain
routine, non-audit services without the necessity of pre-approval by the audit committee.
Therefore, the audit committee expects to establish a pre-approval fee level per engage-
ment. Any proposal for services exceeding this level will require specific pre-approval by
the audit committee. Although management may engage non-audit services from our in-
dependent auditor within this limit, management cannot enter into any engagement that
would violate the SEC’s rules and regulations related to auditor independence. These
non-audit service engagements are to be reported to the audit committee as promptly as
practicable.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(a) (1) and (2). Financial Statements and Schedules.

The financial statements listed below are filed as part of this annual report on the
pages indicated.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Shareholders of Roberts Realty Investors, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Roberts Realty In-
vestors, Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its subsidiary (together, the “Company”), as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. Roberts Realty Investors,
Inc’s management is responsible for these financial statements. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Ac-
counting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits
included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of ex-
pressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our au-
dits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. and its sub-
sidiary as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated results of their operations
and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s execution
of its business plan is predicated on the sale of certain of its real estate assets and on raising
additional equity and obtaining construction loans for the development and construction
of new multifamily apartment communities. The Company’s outstanding debt matures
within the next twelve months and there is no assurance that the outstanding debt can be
refinanced or further extended. If the Company is unable to further extend or refinance
its maturing debt on acceptable terms, or at all, it might be compelled to sell one or more
of its properties on disadvantageous terms, which could result in significant losses, or to
return the properties to their respective lenders in satisfaction of the debt secured by these
properties, which could also result in substantial losses.

/s/ CohnReznick LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 6, 2014
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ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
REAL ESTATE ASSETS:

Construction in progress and real estate under

development
Real estate assets held for sale
Net real estate assets

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
RESTRICTED CASH
DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS - Net of accumulated

amortization of $95,013 and $122,583 at December 31, 2013

and 2012, respectively
DUE FROM AFFILIATES
OTHER ASSETS - Net
ASSETS RELATED TO DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
LIABILITIES:

Land notes payable

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Due to affiliates

Prepaid rents

Liabilities related to real estate assets held for sale

Liabilities related to discontinued ope rations

Total HLabilities

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 10)

NONCONTROLLING INTEREST ~ OPERATING
PARTNERSHIP

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred shares, $.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares autho
rized, no shares issued and outstanding
Common shares, $.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares autho
rized, 10,702,934 and 10,641,928 shares issued and
10,045,832 and 10,569,211 shares outstanding at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Treasury shares, at cost (72,717 shares at December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively)
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders’ equity

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012

$ 12,450,385 $§ 12,381,789

11,500,000 17,725,167
23,950,385 30,106,956
3,522,867 401,018
574,204 237,735
122,087 41,116
— 403,182

43,075 86,252

122,340 11,163,769
$ 28334958 § 42.440,028

$ 5,600,000 $ 7,910,000

431,344 398,841
47,441 37,542
— 1,056
5,561,579 7,025,479
560 9,779,521

11,640,924 25,152,439

3,328,791 2,674,390
107,029 106,419
31,097,171 31,813,622
(71,332) (71,332)
(17.767.625) _ (17,235,510)
13,365,243 14,613,199

$ 28334958 $ 42.440.028

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
OPERATING REVENUES:
Rental operations 3,587 $ 12,675
Other operating income 25,085 135
Total operating revenues 28,672 12,810
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Utilities 418 544
Repairs and maintenance 235,848 56,847
Real estate taxes 109,028 126,493
Marketing, insurance and other 8,998 6,759
General and administrative expenses 1,801,887 1,453,663
Impairment loss on real estate assets — 3,459,283
Depreciation and amortization expense 621 128
Total operating expenses 2,156,800 5,103,717
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Gain on sale of real estate assets 1,253,933 397,181
Gain on disposal of assets 6,500 —
Interest income 1,071 3,590
Interest expense (762,748) (892,259)
Amortization of deferred financing costs (184,350) (147,009)
Total other income (expense) 314,406 (638,497)
LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (1,813,722) (5,729,404)
INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OP-
ERATIONS 1,171,537  (2,595,726)
NET LOSS (642,185) (8,325,130)
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING
INTEREST (110,070) (1,396,957)
NET LOSS AVAILABLE TO COMMON SHARE-
HOLDERS $ (532.115) §$ (6.928.173)
LOSS PER COMMON SHARE - BASIC AND DI-
LUTED (Note 5):
Loss from continuing operations — basic and diluted (0.14) §$ (0.45)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations — basic
and diluted 0.09 (0.21)
Net loss — basic and diluted $ (005) $ (0.66)

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.



ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

Common Shares

Number Additional Total
of Shares Paid-In Treasury  Accumulated Shareholders’
Issued Amount Capital Shares Deficit Equity
BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2011 10374518 § 163,745 $31,397396 $(71,332) $(10,307.337) $ 21,122,466
Net loss (6,928,173) (6,928,173)
Restricted shares issued 50,000 500 (500) —
Share-based compensation expense 83,995 83,995
Redemption of operating partnership
units for common shares 217,410 2,174 286,981 289,155
Adjustment for noncontrolling interest
in the operating partnership 45,756 45,756

BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2012 10641928 § 106419 §$31813,622 §(71332) § (17,235.510) $ 14,613,199

Net loss (532,115) (532,115)
Restricted shares issued 31,250 312 (312) —
Share-based compensation expense 48,630 48,630
Contribution of common shares for

operating partnership units (607,760) (607,760)
Redemption of operating partnership

units for common shares 29,756 298 37,598 37,896
Adjustment for noncontrolling interest

in the operating partnership (194,607) (194,607)

BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013 10702934 § 107,029 $31097i71 3§ (71332) $ (17.767.625) $ 13,365,243

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (642,185) § (8,325,130)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 316,967 650,092
Loss on extinguishment of debt 362,264 —
Impairment loss on real estate assets — 5,923,207
Gain on sale of real estate assets (3,018,609) (397,181)
Share-based compensation expense 48,630 83,995
Amortization of above and below market leases (3,357) (12,536)
Decrease (increase) in due from affiliates 403,182 (161,000)
Decrease (increase) in other assets 100,578 (149,782)
Increase in due to affiliates 10,504 9,517
Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other
liabilities relating to operations 449,718 129,241
Net cash used in operating activities (1,972,308) (2,249,577)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from sale of real estate assets 13,320,000 1,200,000
Reimbursement of expenses related to real estate assets held for sale — 515,530
Proceeds from sale of furniture, fixtures and equipment 6,500 — &
Purchase of furniture, fixtures and equipment (1,902) (636) 3
Payment of leasing costs (4,668) (12,500) -
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash (632,651) 250,212 i
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and
other liabilities relating to investing activities (38,837) 9,585
(Decrease) increase in due to affiliates relating to investing activities (605) 605
Costs related to the sale of real estate assets (891,667) —
Development and construction of real estate assets (29,037) (192,610)
Net cash provided by investing activities 11,727,133 1,770,186
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal repayments on liabilities related to discontinued operations (2,557,454) (304,283)
Principal repayments of land notes payable (2,310,000) (45,000)
Principal repayments on liabilities related to real estate assets
held for sale (7,000,200) (1,174,800)
Payment of loan costs (265,322) (163,699)
Proceeds from land notes payable — 2,000,000
Proceeds from land notes payable related to real estate assets
held for sale 5,500,000 —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (6,632,976) 312,218
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 3,121,849 (167,173)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 401,018 568,191
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $ 3522867 3§ 401,018

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW

INFORMATION:
Cash paid for interest

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:

Redemption of operating partnership units for
common shares

Contribution of common shares for operating
partnership units

Adjustments to noncontrolling interest in the
operating partnership

NON-CASH DISPOSITION OF REAL ESTATE
ASSETS RELATED TO DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS:

Disposition of real estate assets related to
discontinued operations

Decrease in assets related to discontinued
operations

Extinguishment of liabilities related to discontinued

operations

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012

$ 938555 _$ 1450434

$ 3789 $ 289,155

3 (607.760) _$ —

$ (194607) $  45.756

$ 7.026774 $ —

$ 76906 _§ —

$ (7.564,640) _$ —

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.



ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.

BUSINESS AND ORGANIZATION

Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. (“Roberts Realty”), a Georgia corporation, was
formed on July 22, 1994 to serve as a vehicle for investments in, and ownership of,
a professionally managed real estate portfolio of multifamily apartment communi-
ties. Roberts Realty owns and manages its real estate assets as a self-administered,
self-managed equity real estate investment trust, or REIT.

Roberts Realty conducts all of its operations and owns all of its assets in and
through Roberts Properties Residential, L.P,, a Georgia limited partnership (the
“operating partnership”), or the operating partnership’s wholly owned subsidiary,
which is a Georgia limited liability company. Roberts Realty controls the operating
partnership as its sole general partner and had an 80.06% and an 84.53% ownership
interest in the operating partnership at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively.

At December 31, 2013, Roberts Realty owned the following real estate assets, all of
which are located in the north Atlanta metropolitan area:

» three tracts of land totaling 71 acres, zoned for 584 multifamily apartment
units, that are in various phases of development and construction; and

* two tracts of land totaling 11 acres that are held for sale, including a
1.3-acre tract which is under contract to be sold (see Note 3 — Real Estate
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, and Note 11 — Subse-
quent Events).

Management’s Business Plan. In the near term, Roberts Realty intends to focus ex-
clusively on developing, constructing, and managing high quality multifamily apart-
ment communities for cash flow and long-term capital appreciation. After it has
obtained the necessary debt and equity capital to fund its development and con-
struction program, as part of its future business and growth plan, Roberts Realty
expects to acquire existing multifamily apartment communities and to concentrate
its acquisitions on well-located Class B apartment communities in the Southeastern
United States that can be upgraded and repositioned in their respective markets.

Roberts Realty’s primary liquidity requirements are related to its continuing neg-
ative operating cash flow and maturing short-term debt. Roberts Realty’s negative
operating cash flow is primarily due to its ownership of five tracts of land that do
not produce ongoing revenue but incur carrying costs of interest expense and real
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estate taxes. Roberts Realty is using its year end cash balance to meet its short-term
liquidity requirements, including general and administrative expenses, principal re-
ductions on its debt, and funding carrying costs and improvements at its existing
properties. Roberts Realty has the ability to defer property development costs, if
needed, to meet its short-term liquidity needs. As of December 31, 2013, Roberts
Realty had three loans with a total principal balance of $11,100,000 that are sched-
uled to mature within the next 12 months: (a) the $5,500,000 North Springs land
loan that matures on July 17, 2014 (which Roberts Realty can extend to January
17, 2015 through two 3-month extensions by paying a 1.0% extension fee for each
3-month extension); (b) the $3,000,000 Bradley Park land loan that matures on
August 10, 2014; and (c) the $2,600,000 Highway 20 land loan that matures on
October 8, 2014.

Management’s primary objectives for 2014 are to sell the North Springs transit-
oriented property or use it in a joint venture and to sell the 1.3-acre Johns Creek
commercial site (which is under contract to be sold for $700,000, see Note 11 —
Subsequent Events) to provide a portion of the equity needed to develop the Brad-
ley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 properties while continuing to reduce its
debt and decrease its negative operating cash flow.

The North Springs property has an independent appraised value of $16,350,000,
and Roberts Realty intends to pay off the $5,500,000 North Springs land loan from
the sales or joint venture proceeds. Management plans to use the net sales pro-
ceeds from the sale of the 1.3-acre Johns Creek commercial site to pay down its
Highway 20 land loan.

Management intends to either renew or refinance the Bradley Park and Highway
20 loans as they come due and extend their maturity dates at least 12 months. Man-
agement believes that its long history of operating and developing real estate, its
current plans to sell the North Springs property or use it in a joint venture and to
sell the Johns Creek commercial site, and its current plans to develop its remaining
land, will allow it to successfully extend these loans or obtain alternative funding.

If Roberts Realty does not sell the North Springs property as it intends; or Rob-
erts Realty is unable to extend or refinance the North Springs, Bradley Park, and
Highway 20 loans at maturity on acceptable terms, or at all, it might be compelled
to dispose of one or more of its properties on disadvantageous terms, which could
result in significant losses. Additionally, if Roberts Realty is unable to sell one or
more properties or find alternative funding to repay the North Springs, Bradley
Park, and Highway 20 loans as they mature, it might be forced to return these
properties to the respective lenders in satisfaction of the debt secured by these
properties, which would result in substantial losses.



Roberts Realty believes this is an opportune time to create new multifamily
apartment communities and that it can create value for its shareholders as it has
historically done through developing, constructing, and managing high quality
multifamily apartment communities for cash flow and long-term capital appre-
ciation. Roberts Realty intends to move forward with the development and con-
struction of its Bradley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 multifamily apartment
communities, although it cannot make substantial progress on constructing and
leasing up these apartment communities until it raises the necessary equity and
obtains the construction loans. Management currently estimates that it will need
approximately $15,314,000 of additional equity and $50,288,000 of debt to com-
plete the construction of the Bradley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 multifamily
apartment communities.

Roberts Realty is in discussions with possible joint venture participants such as pen-
sion funds, life insurance companies, hedge funds, foreign investors, and local in-
vestors regarding providing additional equity for the development and construction
of the Bradley Park, Northridge, and Highway 20 multifamily apartment communi-
ties. Roberts Realty may also form a new affiliate that would raise private equity for
the specific purpose of purchasing one or more of the remaining land parcels and
constructing multifamily apartment communities. Roberts Realty may also sell one
or more of these land parcels to Roberts Properties or to a newly formed affiliate
of Roberts Properties.

If Roberts Realty is unable to sell the North Springs property, find a joint venture
partner, or raise private equity as it intends, Roberts Realty will be unable to carry
out its planned development and construction program and execute its business
plan, which might result in significant losses. Roberts Realty cannot provide any
assurance that it will be able to raise the equity and debt needed to complete the
construction of any new multifamily communities.

As previously reported, in addition to the above objectives, Roberts Realty contin-
ues to work on numerous strategic alternatives that would maximize shareholder
value through a sale, merger, or other business combination. Roberts Realty has
engaged in discussions with both private companies and individuals regarding a
possible sale, merger, or other business combination. Roberts Realty is currently in
active discussions with several companies that have expressed a desire to become
a public company through a transaction with Roberts Realty. To date, Roberts
Realty has not entered into any definitive agreement for such a transaction.
Management continues to pursue and work diligently on any sale, merger, or other
business combination that would reward shareholders and maximize their value,
although Roberts Realty is unable to provide any assurance that such a transaction
will be consummated.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements in-
clude the consolidated accounts of Roberts Realty and the operating partnership.
All significant inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. The financial statements of Roberts Realty have been adjusted
for the noncontrolling interest of the unitholders in the operating partnership.

Noncontrolling Interest — Operating Partnership. Holders of operating partner-
ship units generally have the right to require the operating partnership to redeem
their units for shares of Roberts Realty common stock. Upon submittal of units
for redemption, the operating partnership has the option either (a) to acquire
those units in exchange for shares, currently on the basis of 1.647 shares for each
unit submitted for redemption (the “Conversion Factor™), or (b) to pay cash for
those units at their fair market value, based upon the then current trading price
of the shares and using the same exchange ratio. Roberts Realty has adopted a
policy of issuing shares in exchange for all units submitted for redemption.

In July 2013, the operating partnership privately offered to investors who held both
units of the operating partnership and shares of common stock the opportunity
to contribute shares to the operating partnership in exchange for units (provided
that the investors were “accredited investors” under SEC Rule 501 of Regulation
D under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended). This opportunity remains open
to those accredited investors. Consistent with the Conversion Factor noted above,
the offering of units uses a “Contribution Factor” such that an accredited investor
who contributes shares to the operating partnership will receive one unit for every
1.647 shares contributed.

The noncontrolling interest of the unitholders in the operating partnership on the
accompanying balance sheets is calculated by multiplying the noncontrolling inter-
est ownership percentage at the balance sheet date by the operating partnership’s
net assets (total assets less total liabilities). The noncontrolling interest ownership
percentage is calculated at any point in time by dividing (x) (the number of units
outstanding multiplied by 1.647) by (y) the total number of shares plus (the number
of units outstanding multiplied by 1.647). The noncontrolling interest ownership
percentage will change as additional shares and/or units are issued or as units are
redeemed for shares of Roberts Realty common stock or as Roberts Realty com-
mon stock is contributed to the operating partnership and units are issued in accor-
dance with the Contribution Factor. The noncontrolling interest of the unitholders
in the income or loss of the operating partnership on the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of operations is calculated based on the weighted average per-
centage of units outstanding during the period, which was 17.14% for 2013 and
16.78% for 2012. There were 1,519,036 units outstanding as of December 31, 2013
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and 1,182,285 units outstanding as of December 31, 2012. The noncontrolling in-
terest of the unitholders was $3,328,791 at December 31, 2013 and $2,674,390 at
December 31, 2012.

Under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 810, Consolidation, Roberts Realty records noncon-
trolling interest in the operating partnership on its consolidated balance sheets
at the greater of its carrying amount or redemption value at the end of each
reporting period. Any changes in the value from period to period are charged
to additional paid-in-capital in Roberts Realty’s consolidated statements of
shareholders’ equity. The following table details the components of noncon-
trolling interest related to unitholders in the operating partnership for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (see Note 5 — Shareholders’ Equity —
Earnings per Share):

December 31,
2013 2012
Beginning balance $2,674390 § 4,406,258
Net loss attributable to
noncontrolling interest (110,070)  (1,396,957)
Redemptions of noncontrolling
partnership units (37,896) (289,155)
Contribution of common shares for noncontrolling
partnership units 607,760 _
Adjustments to noncontrolling interest in the
operating partnership 194,607 (45,756)
Ending balance $3328791 § 2674390

Real Estate Assets and Depreciation. Real estate assets are recorded at depreciated
cost less reductions for impairment, if any. Under FASB ASC Topic 820-10, Fair
Value Measurements and Disclosures — Overall, Roberts Realty measures its non-
financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. Roberts Realty
reviews its real estate assets for impairment whenever events or changes in cir-
cumstances indicate that the book value may not be recoverable. If the real estate
asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured
at the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value as determined
by an evaluation of appraisals, discounted cash flow analyses, and other applicable
valuation techniques. The analysis conducted by Roberts Realty in determining im-
pairment losses is described in Note 7 — Impairment Loss on Real Estate Assets.

The purchase price of acquired real estate assets is allocated to land, building, and
intangible assets in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations.
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Roberts Realty allocates the purchase price of an acquired asset based on the rel-
ative fair values of the land, building, and intangible assets. For tangible assets
classified as real estate assets, the values are determined as though the land was
undeveloped and the buildings were vacant. Intangible assets typically consist of
above or below market leases and the value of in-place leases. The fair value of any
above or below market leases is amortized into operating revenues over the terms
of the respective leases. The combined fair value of above and below market leases
acquired, net of accumulated amortization, was ($0) and ($3,357) at December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively, and these amounts are included in other assets on the
consolidated balance sheets. The value of in-place leases is amortized over the term
of the respective lease. Intangible assets that are subject to amortization (a) are
reviewed for potential impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable and (b) are tested at least annually.

Expenditures directly related to the acquisition, development, construction, and
improvement of real estate assets are capitalized, at cost, as land, buildings, and
improvements. During the construction period, interest expense, real estate taxes,
insurance, and other direct costs are capitalized. Interest expense is capitalized
on qualifying assets during the construction period using a weighted average in-
terest rate for all applicable indebtedness. There was no interest expense capital-
ized in 2013 and 2012. Leasing costs, including commissions and legal costs, are
capitalized and amortized over the term of the respective lease. Ordinary repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Major replacements and better-
ments are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives; buildings
are generally depreciated over 27.5 years; land improvements are depreciated over
15 years; and furniture, fixtures, and equipment are depreciated over 5 to 7 years.
The amortization of the value of in-place leases and any tenant improvement costs
is included in income (loss) from discontinued operations on the consolidated
statements of operations. Depreciation and amortization expense for the assets
related to discontinued operations was $131,995 in 2013 and $502,955 in 2012 (see
Note 3 — Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations —
Depreciation and Amortization Expense).

Roberts Realty recognizes gains on the sales of assets in accordance with FASB
ASC Topic 360-20, Property, Plant, and Equipment — Real Estate Sales. If any sig-
nificant continuing obligation exists at the date of sale, Roberts Realty defers a
portion of the gain attributable to the continuing obligation until the continuing
obligation has expired or is removed. There were no such continuing obligations
on the sales of any of Roberts Realty’s assets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Roberts Realty considers all highly liquid investments

with a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equiva-
lents. Roberts Realty maintains cash and cash equivalent balances with financial
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institutions that may at times exceed the limits for insurance provided by the Federal
Depository Insurance Corporation. Roberts Realty has not experienced any losses
related to these excess balances, and management believes its credit risk is minimal.

Restricted Cash. Restricted cash consists of interest reserves held by lenders, any
tenant security deposits, and any lender escrows held by third parties.

Deferred Financing Costs. Deferred financing costs include fees and expenses in-
curred to obtain financing and are amortized using the straight-line method over
the terms of the related indebtedness. Although accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”) require that the effective-yield method be used
to amortize financing costs, the effect of using the straight-line method is not ma-
terially different from the results that would have been obtained using the effec-
tive-yield method.

Revenue Recognition. Roberts Realty leases its multifamily apartment com-
munities under operating leases with terms generally one year or less. Roberts
Realty does not currently own any multifamily communities and did not own any
multifamily communities during 2013 or 2012. Rental income from multifamily
apartment communities is recognized when collected which materially approxi-
mates revenue recognition on a straight-line basis.

Commercial leases generally have terms of three to five years, with options to re-
new for an additional three to five years. Rental income from commercial leases is
recognized on a straight-line basis. Roberts Realty also recognizes revenue for re-
imbursements from commercial tenants of operating expenses consisting primarily
of real estate taxes, property insurance, and various common area expenses; such
as, electricity, water, sewer, and trash removal (See Note 3 — Real Estate Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations).

Income Taxes. Since its formation in 1994, Roberts Realty has elected to be taxed
as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”)
and expects to continue to maintain its classification as a REIT. As a result, Roberts
Realty generally will not be subject to federal and state income taxation at the cor-
porate level to the extent it distributes at least 90% of its taxable income, as defined
in the Code, each year to its shareholders and satisfies certain other requirements.
Accordingly, no provision has been made for federal and state income taxes in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Roberts Realty had net oper-
ating loss carryforwards of approximately $16,663,000 at December 31, 2013 and
$11,803,000 at December 31, 2012. These net operating loss carryforwards expire in
the years ending December 31, 2029 through December 31, 2033. A reconciliation
of Roberts Realty’s net loss to its taxable loss for the years ending December 31,
2013 and 2012 is shown below.

F-13

A0l wiod



2013 2012

Net loss available to common shareholders $ (532,115) $(6,928,173)

Adjustments to net loss:
Loss on disposition of real estate assets (1,346,361) —
Gain on disposal of assets (2,794,275) (58,875)
Depreciation (150,589) 66,493
Prepaid and straight-line rents 34,322 21,093
Unearned compensation (55,203) 11,902
Bad debt (17,107) (70,482)
Meals and entertainment 1,003 522
Impairment loss on real estate assets — 4,929 365

Taxable (loss) income before net
operating losses and dividends paid deduction (4,860,325)  (2,028,155)

Dividends paid deduction — —
Net operating loss deduction — —

Taxable loss $ (4.860325) $(2,028.155)

Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted aver-
age number of common shares outstanding during the periods presented. Diluted
earnings per share is calculated to reflect the potential dilution of all instruments
or securities that are convertible into shares of common stock. For Roberts Realty,
this includes the shares that are issuable in redemption of units that are outstanding
during the periods presented.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with ac-
counting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fi-
nancial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. ASU No. 2013-02; Reporting of Amounts
Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (ASU 2013-02”).
In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No.
2013-02. The objective of this ASU is to improve the reporting of reclassifications
of various components out of accumulated other comprehensive income and re-
quires an entity to disaggregate the total change of each component of other com-
prehensive income either on the face of the income statement or as a separate
disclosure in the accompanying notes to the financial statements. The guidance in
ASU 2013-02 became effective for Roberts Realty beginning January 1, 2013. The
implementation of this pronouncement did not have a material impact on Roberts
Realty’s consolidated financial statements.
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Reclassifications. Roberts Realty has made certain reclassifications of prior year’s
balances with respect to discontinued operations and real estate assets held for sale
in order to conform to the current financial statement presentation.

3. REAL ESTATE ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

FASB ASC Topic 360-10, Property, Plant and Equipment — Overall requires a long-
lived asset to be classified as “held for sale” in the period in which certain criteria
are met. Roberts Realty classifies real estate assets as held for sale after the follow-
ing conditions have been satisfied: (1) receipt of approval from its board of direc-
tors to sell the asset, (2) the initiation of an active program to sell the asset, and
(3) the asset is available for immediate sale and it is probable that the sale of the
asset will be completed within one year. When assets are classified as held for sale,
they are recorded at the lower of the assets’ carrying amount or fair value, less the
estimated selling costs.

Roberts Realty periodically classifies real estate assets as held for sale, and these
assets and their liabilities are stated separately on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. The real estate assets held for sale and the liabilities related to real
estate assets held for sale as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, were as follows:

Real Estate Assets
Held for Sale

12/31/13 12/31/12
Peachtree Parkway Land $ — $ 6,225,167
North Springs Land 11,000,000 11,000,000
Commercial Site in Johns Creek 500,000 500,000
Total Real Estate Assets Held for Sale $ 11,500,000 $ 17,725,167

Liabilities Related to
Real Estate Assets Held
for Sale

12/31/13 12/31/12
Peachtree Parkway Land $ — $ 7,000,200
North Springs Land 5,500,000 —
Total Loans for Real Estate Assets Held for Sale 5,500,000 7,000,200
Other Liabilities 61,579 25,279

Total Liabilities Related to Real Estate

Assets Held for Sale $ 5,561,579 $ 7,025,479
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On February 7, 2013, Roberts Realty sold its 20.6-acre Peachtree Parkway land
for $7,590,000 ($7,090,000 net of a $500,000 payment required to release a restric-
tive covenant on the property). See Note 9 — Related Party Transactions. Roberts
Realty used $7,000,200 of the sale proceeds to repay the Peachtree Parkway loan.
Roberts Realty recorded a $1,214,192 gain on this sale.

On March 20, 2013, Roberts Realty sold the remaining 1.5 acres of the Peachtree
Parkway land for $450,000. Roberts Realty recorded a $39,741 gain on this sale.

On September 27, 2012, Roberts Realty sold 2.937 acres of the Peachtree Park-
way property for $1,200,000. In conjunction with the closing, Roberts Realty made
a $1,174,800 principal payment on its $8,175,000 Peachtree Parkway land loan.
This principal payment reduced the outstanding balance of the loan to $7,000,200.
Roberts Realty also received the reimbursement of $515,530 in costs previously in-
curred to allow the Peachtree Parkway property to be rezoned to a commercial use.
Roberts Realty recorded a gain on this sale in the amount $397,181.

Roberts Realty reports the results of operations and the gains or losses from oper-
ating properties that are disposed of in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 360-10,
Property, Plant and Equipment — Overall. These assets and their liabilities are sepa-
rately stated on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as assets or liabili-
ties related to discontinued operations. Gains and losses, the results of operations,
interest expense and all expenses related to the retirement of debt from operating
properties that are disposed of are included in discontinued operations in the period
incurred and are shown separately in the consolidated statements of operations as
income (loss) from discontinued operations.
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Discontinued Operations

Balance Sheets

December 31, December 31,

2013 2012
ASSETS
REAL ESTATE ASSETS:
Land $ — $ 5272376
Buildings and improvements — 8,253,639
Furniture, fixtures and equipment — 568,724
— 14,094,739
Less: accumulated depreciation — (3,779,568)
Operating real estate assets — 10,315,171
RESTRICTED CASH — 527,042

DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING
COSTS
— Net of accumulated amortization of $0

and $164,636 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, é"
respectively — 52,214 3
LEASE INTANGIBLES — Net of accumulated Q@
amortization of $0 and $441,952 at A
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively — 11,221
OTHER ASSETS - Net 122,340 258,121
Total assets related to discontinued
operations $ 122,340 $ 11,163,769
LIABILITIES
LIABILITIES:
Mortgage notes payable $ — $ 9,655,865
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 560 72,823
Security deposits and prepaid rents — 50,833

Total liabilities related to discontinued
operations $ 560 $ 9,779,521
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Discontinued Operations

Statements of Operations

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
OPERATING REVENUES:
Rental operations 739,991 1,045,026
Other operating income 126,089 429,118
Total operating revenues 866,080 1,474,144
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Utilities 103,791 129,959
Repairs and maintenance 80,724 100,478
Real estate taxes 103,150 146,447
Marketing, insurance and other 60,616 49,725
General and administrative expenses 38,363 71,979
Impairment loss on real estate assets — 2,463,924
Depreciation and amortization expense 115,059 470,621
Total operating expenses 501,703 3,433,133
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Gain on sale of real estate assets 1,764,676 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt (362,264) —_
Interest income 74 103
Interest expense (578,390) (604,506)
Amortization of deferred financing
and leasing costs (16,936) (32,334)
Total other income (expense) 807,160 (636,737)

INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED

OPERATIONS $ 1,171,537 $ (2,595,726)

On November 5, 2013, Roberts Realty completed the transfer of the Bassett retail
center to the lender in satisfaction of the $2,406,883 in debt secured by the prop-
erty, which completed Roberts Realty’s exit from the office and retail business.
Roberts Realty recorded a $63,721 loss on the extinguishment of debt related to
this transaction.

On October 30, 2013, Roberts Realty sold its Northridge Office Building for
$5,280,000. At the closing, Roberts Realty paid off the $2,422,533 Northridge Office
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Building loan. Roberts Realty intends to use the $2,520,000 in net sales proceeds
to continue the development of the 152-unit Bradley Park apartment community.
Roberts Realty recorded a $1,764,676 gain on this sale.

On August 6, 2013, Roberts Realty completed the transfer of the Spectrum retail
center to the lender, in satisfaction of the $4,691,528 in debt secured by the property.
Roberts Realty recorded a $298,543 loss on the extinguishment of debt related to
this transaction.

As a result of the dispositions of the Bassett and Spectrum retail centers and the
sale of the Northridge Office Building, Roberts Realty classified them as discontin-
ued operations as outlined in the tables above.

4. NOTES PAYABLE

Land Loans. The operating partnership or its wholly owned subsidiary is the bor-
rower and Roberts Realty is the guarantor for the loans secured by Roberts Realty’s
land parcels. The outstanding principal balances of these loans at December 31,
2013 and 2012 were as follows (in order of maturity date):

Interest
Land Parcel Rate as of Principal Outstanding .
Securing Loan Maturity 12/31/13 12/31/13 12/31/12 %
Bradley Park 8/10/14 3.66% $ 3,000,000 $ 3,000,000 =
Highway 20 10/08/14 5.0% 2,600,000 2,910,000 X
Northridge @ N/A N/A — 2,000,000
Total Land Loans 5,600,000 7,910,000
Peachtree Parkway®® N/A N/A — 7,000,200
North Springs @ 7/17/14 13.0% 5,500,000 —
Total Land Loans for
Real Estate Assets
Held for Sale 5,500,000 7,000,200
Totals $ 11,100,000 $ 14,910,200

(1) The Northridge loan has been paid in full.

(2) ThePeachtreeParkwaypropertyhasbeensoldandtheloanhasbeenpaidinfull.See
Note 3 — Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

(3) The Peachtree Parkway and North Springs land loans are classified as liabilities
related to real estate assets held for sale in the consolidated balance sheets. See
Note 3 — Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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On September 27, 2013, Roberts Realty renewed and extended its Highway 20
land loan to October 8, 2014. At closing, Roberts Realty made a $250,000 prin-
cipal payment and established a $130,000 interest reserve to pay the monthly in-
terest payments at the prime rate plus 1.75% with a floor of 5.0% per annum.
Roberts Realty will continue to make fixed principal payments of $5,000 per month
and also provided the lender with a security interest in the 1.3-acre Johns Creek
commercial site.

On July 19, 2013, Roberts Realty repaid its $2,000,000 Northridge land loan in full.
The Northridge land, which has a book value of $4,373,789, is now unencumbered
and owned debt free. The Northridge land loan required monthly interest only pay-
ments at an interest rate of 12% per annum.

On July 18, 2013, Roberts Realty closed a $5,500,000 loan secured by the North
Springs property. At closing, Roberts Realty paid a 3.0% origination fee to the
lender and established a $755,000 interest reserve to pay the monthly interest only
payments at an interest rate of 13% per annum. The loan has a maturity date of
July 17,2014, provided that Roberts Realty can extend the loan to January 17, 2015
through two 3-month extensions by paying a 1.0% extension fee for each 3-month
extension. Upon the sale of the North Springs property, Roberts Realty will pay a
1% exit fee to the lender.

On April 24, 2013, Roberts Realty renewed and extended its Bradley Park land loan
to August 10, 2014. The renewed loan requires monthly interest only payments
at an interest rate equal to 350 basis points over the 30-day LIBOR rate through
March 31, 2014. Commencing on April 1, 2014 through the maturity date, the loan
will bear interest at the 30-day LIBOR rate plus 350 basis points, with an interest
rate floor of 4.75%.

The Peachtree Parkway land loan required monthly interest only payments at the
one-month LIBOR index rate plus 300 basis points, with an interest rate floor of
5% per annum.

Mortgage Notes. The mortgage notes payable secured by Roberts Realty’s operat-
ing properties at December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

Interest
Rate as
of Principal Qutstanding
Property Securing Mortgage Maturity 12/31/13 12/31/13 12/31/12
Northridge Office Building® N/A N/A $ 2,538,334
Spectrum at the Mall of
Georgia® N/A N/A 4,691,528

Bassett Retail Center® N/A N/A 2,426,003

Totals
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(1) The Northridge Office Building has been sold and the loan has been paid in full. The mortgage
note is classified as liabilities related to discontinued operations in the consolidated balance
sheets. See Note 3 — Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

(2) The Spectrum Retail Center has been transferred to the lender in satisfaction of the debt, and
its mortgage note is classified as liabilities related to discontinued operations in the consolidated
balance sheets. See Note 3 — Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

(3) The Bassett Retail Center has been transferred to the lender in satisfaction of the debt, and
its mortgage note is classified as liabilities related to discontinued operations in the con-
solidated balance sheets. See Note 3 - Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

The operating partnership was the borrower and Roberts Realty was the guarantor
for the Northridge Office Building mortgage note, which required monthly pay-
ments consisting of a fixed principal amount of $13,333 plus interest at the 30-day
LIBOR rate plus 300 basis points, with an interest rate floor of 4.50% per annum.
On April 24, 2013, Roberts Realty renewed and extended the Northridge Office
Building loan to August 10, 2014. The renewed loan required monthly payments
consisting of a fixed principal amount of $10,410 plus interest at the 30-day LIBOR
rate plus 300 basis points, with an interest rate floor of 4.75% per annum through
December 31, 2013. Commencing on January 1, 2014 through the maturity date,
the loan would bear interest at the 30-day LIBOR rate plus 300 basis points, with
an interest rate floor of 5.25% per annum.

The Spectrum at the Mall of Georgia mortgage note was non-recourse and required
monthly payments of principal and interest with a fixed interest rate of 5.68% and
a 30-year amortization period. A wholly owned subsidiary of the operating partner-
ship was the borrower.

The Bassett Retail Center mortgage note was non-recourse and required monthly
payments of principal and interest with a fixed interest rate of 8.47% and a 30-year
amortization period. A wholly owned subsidiary of the operating partnership was
the borrower.

The scheduled principal payments of all debt outstanding at December 31, 2013
are as follows:

2014 $ 11,100,000
2015 —
2016 —
2017 —
2018 —
Thereafter —
Total $ 11,100,000
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At December 31, 2013, the weighted average interest rate on Roberts Realty’s
short-term debt was 8.60%. There was no interest expense capitalized in 2013 or
2012.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Redemption of Units for Shares. In accordance with the conversion factor ex-
plained in Note 2, 18,066 operating partnership units were redeemed for 29,756
shares during 2013, and 132,000 operating partnership units were redeemed for
217,410 shares during 2012. Each redemption was reflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements at the closing price of Roberts Realty’s stock on
the date of redemption.

Contribution of Shares to the Operating Partnership. In accordance with the
contribution factor explained in Note 2, a total of 584,385 shares were contrib-
uted to the operating partnership and 354,817 units were issued in exchange for
the shares contributed. No shares were contributed to the operating partnership
during 2012. The contribution was reflected in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements based on the closing price of Roberts Realty’s stock on the
date of contribution.

Restricted Stock. Shareholders of Roberts Realty approved and adopted the
2006 Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. Restricted Stock Plan (the “Plan”) in
August 2006. The Plan provides for the grant of stock awards to employees,
directors, consultants, and advisors, including employees of Roberts Proper-
ties, Inc. (“Roberts Properties”) and Roberts Properties Construction, Inc.
(“Roberts Construction,” and together with Roberts Properties, the “Roberts
Companies”). Mr. Charles S. Roberts, the President and Chairman of the Board
of Roberts Realty, owns all of the outstanding stock of the Roberts Companies.
Under the Plan as amended, Roberts Realty may grant up to 654,000 shares of
restricted common stock, subject to the anti-dilution provisions of the Plan. The
maximum number of shares of restricted stock that may be granted to any one
individual during the term of the Plan may not exceed 20% of the aggregate
number of shares of restricted stock that may be issued. The Plan is adminis-
tered by the compensation committee of Roberts Realty’s board of directors.

FASB ASC Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation, requires share-based
compensation cost to be measured at the date of grant based on the fair value of
the award and to be recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations as an expense on a straight line basis over the requisite service period,
which is the vesting period.
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There were no unvested shares of restricted stock outstanding at December 31,
2013, and there were 50,000 unvested shares of restricted stock outstanding at
December 31, 2012. During 2013, Roberts Realty granted a total of 31,250
shares under the Plan, 15,625 shares to an employee of Roberts Properties
and 15,625 shares to an employee of Roberts Construction, for their efforts
on behalf of Roberts Realty. The shares granted during 2013 were vested
upon their issuance. During 2012, Roberts Realty granted 50,000 shares un-
der the Plan to an employee of Roberts Properties. The grant included a ser-
vice-based vesting period of one year. Compensation expense related to re-
stricted stock was $48,630 and $83,995 in 2013 and 2012, respectively. There
is no unearned compensation expense related to restricted stock that will be
recognized in future periods as of December 31, 2013, and there was $18,630
of unearned compensation expense to be recognized in future periods as of
December 31, 2012.

The following table shows the restricted stock activity for 2013 and 2012:

Number of Weighted Grant
Unvested Shares of Date Fair Value
Restricted Stock Per Share
Balance at December 31, 2011 50,000 $1.43
Granted 50,000 $1.36
Forfeited —
Vested (50,000)
Balance at December 31, 2012 50,000
Granted 31,250 $ .96
Forfeited —
Vested (81,250)

Balance at December 31, 2013 —

Treasury Stock. Roberts Realty has a stock repurchase plan under which it was au-
thorized to repurchase up to 600,000 shares of its outstanding common stock. Un-
der the plan, as of December 31, 2013, Roberts Realty had authority to repurchase
up to 540,362 shares of its outstanding common stock. The stock repurchase plan
does not have an expiration date. Roberts Realty did not repurchase any shares
during 2013 or 2012.

Earnings Per Share. The following table shows the reconciliations of loss
available for common shareholders and the weighted average number of
shares and units used in Roberts Realty’s basic and diluted earnings per share
computations.
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December 31,

2013 2012

Loss from continuing operations available for

common shareholders — basic $ (1,502,850) $ (4,768,010)
Loss from continuing operations attributable to

noncontrolling interest (310,872) (961,394)
Loss from continuing operations — diluted (1,813,722)  (5,729,404)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

available for common shareholders — basic 970,736 (2,160,163)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

attributable to noncontrolling interest 200,801 (435,563)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations —

diluted 1,171,537  (2,595,726)
Net loss — diluted $ (642,185) §(8,325,130)
Weighted average number of shares — basic 10,402,546 10,465,506
Dilutive securities — weighted average number

of units 2151353 2,110,019
Weighted average number of shares — diluted 12,553,899 12,575,525
SEGMENT REPORTING

FASB ASC Topic 280-10, Segment Reporting — Overall, established standards for
reporting financial and descriptive information about operating segments in annual
financial statements. Operating segments are defined as components of an enter-
prise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated reg-
ularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources
and in assessing performance. Roberts Realty’s chief operating decision maker is
Mr. Roberts, its President.

Roberts Realty develops, constructs, owns, and manages multifamily apartment
communities; and owns land. Although Roberts Realty previously owned and man-
aged two retail centers and an office building, it completed its exit from the office
and retail business in 2013. See Note 3 — Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. Roberts Realty does not currently own any operating
multifamily communities and did not own any operating multifamily communities
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in 2013 or 2012. Roberts Realty had three reportable operating segments during

2013 and 2012:

1. the retail/office segment, which consisted of two operating retail centers and
an office building (See Note 3 — Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and Discon-

tinued Operations);

w

equivalents, and miscellaneous other assets.

the land segment, which consists of various tracts of land; and
the corporate segment, which consists primarily of operating cash, cash

The following tables summarize the operating results of Roberts Realty’s reportable
segments for 2013 and 2012. The retail/office segment was composed of the Bassett
and Spectrum at the Mall of Georgia retail centers, along with the Northridge Of-
fice Building. See Note 3 — Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations for more detailed information. The land segment is composed of (a)
three tracts of land totaling 71 acres that are in various phases of development and
construction, and (b) two tracts of land held for sale totaling 11 acres. See Note
3 — Real Estate Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. The corporate
segment consists primarily of cash and cash equivalents, miscellaneous other assets,
and general and administrative expenses.

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2013 Retail/Office Land Corporate Total
Operating revenues — continuing $ — $ 3,587 $ - $ 3,587
Other operating income — 25,000 85 25,085

Total operating revenues from consolidated entities _— 28,587 85 28,672
Operating expenses — continuing 445173 1,711,006 2,156,179
Depreciation and amortization expense — — 621 621

Total operating expenses from consolidated entities — 445173 1,711,627 2,156,800
Other income — 306,835 7,571 314,406
Consolidated loss from continuing operations — (109,751) (1,703,971) (1,813,722)
Consolidated income from discontinued operations

(Note 3) 1,171,537 — — 1,171,537
Consolidated net income (loss) 1,171,537 (109,751) (1,703,971) (642,185)
Consolidated net income (loss) attributable to

noncontrolling interest 200,801 (18,811) (292,060) (110,070)
Consolidated net income (loss) available for common

shareholders $ 970,736 $  (90,940) $ (1,411,911 $  (532,115)

Total assets at December 31, 2013 $ 122,340 $ 24,074,228 $ 4,138,390 $ 28,334,958
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Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2012 Retail/Office Land Corporate Total

Operating revenues — continuing $ — $ 12,675 $ — 3 12,675
Other operating income — — 135 135

Total operating revenues from consolidated entities —_ 12,675 135 12,810
Operating expenses — continuing 3,667,654 1,435,935 5,103,589
Depreciation and amortization expense —_ — 128 128

Total operating expenses from consolidated entities — 3,667,654 1,436,063 5,103,717
Other (expense) income — (642,087) 3,590 (638,497)
Consolidated loss from continuing operations — (4,297,066) (1,432,338) (5,729,404)
Consolidated loss from discontinued operations (Note 3) ~ (2,595,726) — — (2,595,726)
Consolidated net loss (2,595,726) (4,297,066) (1,432,338) (8,325,130)
Consolidated net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (435,563) (721,048) (240,346) (1,396,957)
Consolidated net loss available for common shareholders $ (2,160,163)  $ (3,576,018 $(1,191,992) $ (6,928,173)

Total assets at December 31, 2012 $ 11,163,769 $ 30,592,075 $ 684,184 $ 42,440,028
7. IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON REAL ESTATE ASSETS

Roberts Realty periodically evaluates its real estate assets, on a property-by-
property basis, for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance with FASB
ASC Topic 360-10, Property, Plant, and Equipment — Overall.

FASB ASC Topic 360-10 requires impairment losses to be recorded on long-lived as-
sets used in operations and land parcels when indicators of impairment are present
and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less
than the assets’ carrying amounts. The expected future cash flows depend on esti-
mates made by management, including (1) changes in the national, regional, and/
or local economic climates, (2) rental rates, (3) competition, (4) operating costs, (5)
occupancy, (6) holding period, and (7) an estimated construction budget. A change
in the assumptions used to determine future economic events could result in an ad-
verse change in the value of a property and cause an impairment to be recorded in
the future. Due to uncertainties in the estimation process, actual results could differ
materially from those estimates. Roberts Realty’s determination of fair value is based
on a discounted future cash flow analysis, which incorporates available market infor-
mation as well as other assumptions made by Roberts Realty’s management, evalu-
ation of appraisals, and other applicable valuation techniques. Because the factors
Roberts Realty’s management uses in generating these cash flows are difficult to
predict and are subject to future events that may alter its assumptions, Roberts Re-
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alty may not achieve the discounted or undiscounted future operating and residual
cash flows it estimates in its impairment analyses or those established by appraisals,
and Roberts Realty may be required to recognize future impairment losses on its
properties held for use.

Non-Cash Impairments on Operating Real Estate Assets. During 2013, Roberts
Realty determined that the carrying amounts of its operating real estate assets were
recoverable. Accordingly, Roberts Realty did not record an impairment loss on its
operating assets during 2013.

During 2012, Roberts Realty determined that the carrying amounts of the Bassett
and Spectrum retail centers and the Northridge Office Building were not recov-
erable as a result of (a) a change in the occupancy at the Spectrum retail center,
coupled with lower projected rental rates in the surrounding market area; and (b)
lower projected renewal rental rates at the Bassett retail center and the Northridge
Office Building resulting from lease negotiations with tenants whose leases were ex-
piring within the next twelve months. The determination of fair value was based on
a discounted future cash flow analysis and as a result of this analysis, Roberts Realty
recorded fair value adjustments of $984,342 on the Spectrum retail center, $754,278
on the Bassett retail center, and $725,304 on the Northridge Office Building.

Non-Cash Impairments on Land Parcels. During 2013, Roberts Realty determined
that the carrying amount of its land parcels was recoverable. Accordingly, Roberts
Realty did not record an impairment loss on its land parcels during 2013.

During 2012, Roberts Realty determined that the carrying amounts for the North
Springs land and the 1.3-acre Johns Creek commercial site that are held for sale
were not recoverable. The determination of fair value for the North Springs land
parcel and the Johns Creek commercial site was based on available market infor-
mation, including offers and expressions of interest from unrelated purchasers and
market participants. As a result of this analysis, Roberts Realty recorded fair value
adjustments of $2,100,000 on the North Springs land and $375,949 on the Johns
Creek commercial site, which are held for sale.

Roberts Realty also determined that the carrying amounts of the Bradley Park and
Highway 20 land parcels were not recoverable due to the then current market con-
ditions. The determination of fair value was based on a discounted cash flow anal-
ysis and the review of current market sales comparables for other land parcels. As
a result of this analysis, Roberts Realty recorded fair value adjustments related to
its land parcels of $773,334 on the Bradley Park land parcel and $210,000 on the
Highway 20 land parcel. Roberts Realty determined that the carrying amounts of
its other land parcels were recoverable at December 31, 2012.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures, defines fair value
and establishes a framework for measuring fair value. The objective of fair value is
to determine the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset. FASB ASC
Topic 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unob-
servable inputs used to measure fair value into three levels:

¢ Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at
the measurement date for assets or liabilities;

* Level 2 — observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active
markets, but corroborated by market data; and

¢ Level 3 — unobservable inputs that are used when little or no market data is
available.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest
priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, Roberts Realty uses valua-
tion techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use
of unobservable inputs to the extent possible. Considerable judgment is necessary
to interpret Level 2 and 3 inputs in determining fair value of financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the fair values presented in the
financial statements may not reflect the amounts ultimately realized on a sale or
other disposition of these assets.

Roberts Realty held no assets required to be measured at fair value on a recurring
basis as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis consist of real estate assets that
have incurred non-cash impairment losses so that their carrying value is equal to or
less than their estimated fair value. These real estate assets, including land held for
sale, were valued using sales activity for similar assets, current offers and contracts,
and using inputs management believes are consistent with those that market partici-
pants would use. The fair values of these assets are determined using widely accepted
valuation techniques, including (1) discounted cash flow analysis, which consid-
ers, among other things, sales assumptions, cost structure and discount rates, and
(2) comparable sales activity. The valuation technique and related inputs vary
with the specific facts and circumstances of each real estate asset. Roberts Realty
held no assets required to be measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as of
December 31, 2013.

The following table provides the balances for only those assets for which fair value

adjustments were made and which were required to be measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis as of December 31, 2012.
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Year Ended December 31, 2012

Description Total Level1 Level 2 Level 3
Real estate under development 5 8,008,000 — — § 3,008,000
Real estate assets held for sale 11,500,000 — — 11,500,000
Assets related to discontinued
operations 10,315,171 — — 10,315,171
Total assets $ 29,823,171 § — $ — $29,823,171

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with the Roberts Companies and Its Affiliates

Roberts Realty enters into contractual commitments in the normal course of
business with the Roberts Companies. The contracts between Roberts Realty and
the Roberts Companies relate to the development and construction of real estate
assets, and from time to time, the acquisition or disposition of real estate. The
board of directors has adopted a policy that all conflicting interest transactions
must be authorized by a majority of the disinterested directors, but only if there
are at least two directors who are disinterested with respect to the matter at issue.
Under the charter for the audit committee of Roberts Realty’s board of directors,
related party transactions are also subject to review and oversight by the audit
committee.

Roberts Realty, its predecessor limited partnerships, and other limited partnerships
sponsored by Mr. Charles S. Roberts have previously entered into agreements with
Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction to provide these same services for 20
apartment communities with a total of 4,648 units that were sold for a total sales
price of $431,701,143. All of these communities were sold for a substantial profit.

Design and Development Agreements with Roberts Properties. Roberts Properties
provides various development services that include market studies; business plans;
assistance with permitting, land use and zoning issues, easements, and utility issues;
as well as exterior design, finish selection, and interior design. Roberts Realty has
entered into a design and development agreement with Roberts Properties for the
project listed in the following table.

Total Amounts Amounts Remaining
Contract Incurred in Incurred Contractual
Amount 2012 in 2013 Commitment
Highway 20 $ 1,050,000 $ 0 $ 35,000 $ 390,000

F-29



Construction Contracts with Roberts Construction. Roberts Realty has entered
into cost plus contracts with Roberts Construction for the Bradley Park, Northridge,
Peachtree Parkway, North Springs and Highway 20 properties. Under these con-
tracts, Roberts Realty will pay Roberts Construction the cost of constructing the
project plus 5% for overhead and 5% for profit. Progress payments are paid monthly to
Roberts Construction based on the work that has been completed. Roberts Realty
will not make any further payments with respect to the Peachtree Parkway prop-
erty, which has been sold. The following table lists the amounts incurred on these
contracts during 2013 and 2012.

Amounts
Incurred for
Amounts Incurred for 5% Profit and
Labor and Materials 5% Overhead For
Costs For Twelve Months Twelve Months
Ended December 31, Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2013 2012
Bradley Park $ 0 3 922 % 0 $ 92
Northridge 999 145,085 100 14,508
Peachtree Pkwy 0 1,126 0 113
North Springs 0 286 0 29
Highway 20 0 622 0 62
Totals $ 999 § 148,041 $ 100 $ 14,804

Other Payments. At the request of Roberts Realty, Roberts Construction per-
formed repairs and maintenance, as well as tenant improvements for new leases
at the retail centers and office building. See Note 3 — Real Estate Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations. For the twelve months ended December 31,
2012, Roberts Realty paid Roberts Construction $149,806 for labor and materi-
als costs plus $14,981 (5% for overhead and 5% for profit). Additionally, Rob-
erts Construction received cost reimbursements of $42,914 in 2012 and $279,326
in 2013.

Roberts Properties received cost reimbursements in the amount of $7,221 in
2012 and $10,331 in 2013 for Roberts Realty’s operating costs and other ex-
penses. Roberts Realty entered into a reimbursement arrangement for services
provided by Roberts Properties, effective February 4, 2008, as amended Janu-
ary 1, 2014. Under the terms of the arrangement, Roberts Realty reimburses
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Roberts Properties the cost of providing consulting services in an amount equal
to an agreed-upon hourly billing rate for each employee multiplied by the num-
ber of hours that the employee provided services to Roberts Realty. Under this
arrangement, Roberts Realty incurred costs of $136,297 in 2012 and $261,014
in 2013. The 2013 increase was because Roberts Properties provided additional
services in 2013 that replaced the services of a full-time temporary contractor
that Roberts Realty had retained, which resulted in a net savings to Roberts
Realty.

Office Leases. On October 30, 2013, Roberts Realty sold its 37,864 square foot
Northridge Office Building to the Fulton County Board of Education, an unre-
lated third party, for $5,280,000. Prior to the sale, Roberts Realty leased office
space in the Northridge Office Building to the Roberts Companies. Effective as
of January 1, 2013, Roberts Realty renewed its leases with the Roberts Compa-
nies. Under the renewed leases, Roberts Properties leased 4,431 rentable square
feet, and Roberts Construction leased 1,920 rentable square feet. Both leases
have a rental rate of $17.00 per rentable square foot. Roberts Realty recognized total
rental income from Roberts Properties and Roberts Construction of $90,342 for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2012 and $80,975 for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2013.

Release of Restrictive Covenant on Peachtree Parkway Property. On February 7,
2013, Roberts Realty sold 20.6 acres of the Peachtree Parkway property to Lennar
Multifamily Investors, LLC (“Lennar”), an unrelated third party, for $7,590,000.
When Roberts Realty purchased the Peachtree Parkway property in December
2004, it assumed and became bound by a pre-existing restrictive covenant on the
property that was already recorded in the Gwinnett County, Georgia real estate
records (the “Restrictive Covenant”) in favor of Roberts Construction. The Re-
strictive Covenant provided that if the owner of the Peachtree Parkway property
developed it for residential use, Roberts Construction would be engaged as the
general contractor for the project on a cost plus basis and would be paid the cost of
constructing the project plus 5% overhead and 5% profit. Lennar informed Rob-
erts Realty that it would not use Roberts Construction as the general contractor.
The sales contract stated that Lennar would not enter into the sales contract un-
less the Restrictive Covenant was terminated no later than the closing date at no
cost to Lennar. After being advised by Lennar of this requirement, the audit com-
mittee of Roberts Realty’s board of directors negotiated with Roberts Construc-
tion for the release of the Restrictive Covenant. Roberts Construction agreed in
the sales contract to give up its contractual rights to be the general contractor for
the project and to release the Restrictive Covenant on the closing date for a pay-
ment of $500,000 from the purchase price to be paid by Lennar. On February 7,
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10.

2013, the closing occurred and Roberts Construction received the payment for re-
leasing the Restrictive Covenant. Roberts Realty used the remaining $7,000,200 of
the sale proceeds to repay the Peachtree Parkway loan and recorded a $1,214,192
gain on the sale.

Expiration of Sales Contract for Northridge Land. On July 1, 2013, Roberts
Realty’s previously reported contract to sell the 11-acre Northridge property to
Roberts Properties expired according to its terms, which resulted in Roberts Real-
ty’s receipt of the $25,000 earnest money deposit, which Roberts Properties forfeit-
ed. Additionally, during the term of this contract, Roberts Properties reimbursed
Roberts Realty $383,373 for certain development and construction expenses previ-
ously incurred by Roberts Realty.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Roberts Realty has entered into various contracts for the development and con-
struction of its projects. The contracts with Roberts Properties and Roberts Con-
struction are described in Note 9 — Related Party Transactions. The construction
contracts require Roberts Realty to pay Roberts Construction the labor and mate-
rials costs of the project plus 5% overhead and 5% profit.

Roberts Realty has also entered into engineering contracts with unrelated third
parties for the Bradley Park project. At December 31, 2013, outstanding commit-
ments on these contracts totaled $14,450.

Roberts Realty and the operating partnership are subject to various legal pro-
ceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. While the
resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management
believes that the final outcome of these matters will not have a material ad-
verse effect on Roberts Realty’s financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

As a result of the mergers of various predecessor limited partnerships into the
operating partnership, the former partners of those predecessor limited part-
nerships received operating partnership units. Holders of units have the right
to require the operating partnership to redeem their units for shares, subject
to certain conditions. Upon submittal of units for redemption, the operating
partnership will have the option either (a) to pay cash for those units at their
fair market value, which will be based upon the then current trading price of
the shares, or (b) to acquire those units in exchange for shares (on a 1.647-for-
one basis). Roberts Realty has adopted a policy that it will issue shares in ex-
change for all future units submitted for redemption. At December 31, 2013,
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there were 1,519,036 units outstanding that could be exchanged for 2,501,888
shares, subject to certain conditions.

Under Roberts Realty’s bylaws, it is obligated to indemnify its officers and
directors for certain events or occurrences arising as a result of its officers
and directors serving in these capacities. The maximum potential amount of
future payments Roberts Realty could be required to make under this in-
demnification arrangement is unlimited. Roberts Realty currently has a di-
rectors and officers liability insurance policy that may limit its exposure and
enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. Because of the
insurance policy coverage, Roberts Realty believes the estimated fair value
of this indemnification arrangement is minimal, and accordingly, Roberts
Realty has recorded no liabilities for this indemnification arrangement as of
December 31, 2013.

Under various federal, state, and local environmental laws and regulations,
Roberts Realty may be required to investigate and clean up the effects of
hazardous or toxic substances at its properties, including properties that have
previously been sold. The preliminary environmental assessments of Roberts
Realty’s properties have not revealed any environmental liability that Roberts
Realty believes would have a material adverse effect on its business, assets,
or results of operations, nor is Roberts Realty aware of any such environmen-
tal liability.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS.

Contract for the Sale of the 1.3-acre Johns Creek Commercial Site. On January 22,
2014, Roberts Realty entered into a contract to sell the 1.3-acre Johns Creek com-
mercial site for $700,000. The purchaser deposited $35,000 with an escrow agent
as earnest money toward the purchase of the property. The closing of the sale is
contingent on the successful rezoning of the property. Provided this contingency
is satisfied, the closing of the transaction would occur on or before July 21, 2014.
Roberts Realty would use the net proceeds from the sale to pay down its Highway
20 land loan.

Sublease of Office Space. On October 30, 2013, Roberts Realty sold its
Northridge Office Building to the Fulton County Board of Education for
$5,280,000 and paid off its $2,422,533 Northridge Office Building loan. This
sale also reduced Roberts Realty’s negative operating cash flow by approxi-
mately $210,000 per year. The Fulton County Board of Education intends to
occupy 100% of the building and as a condition of closing, required that Roberts
Realty vacate the building by February 28, 2014, which was later extended to
April 5, 2014. Consequently, Roberts Realty was required to seek new office
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space in another building. On February 19, 2014, Roberts Realty entered into
a sublease for 1,817 square feet of office space with Roberts Capital Partners,
LLC. The sublease has a commencement date of April 7, 2014. Roberts Capital
Partners, LLC is owned by Mr. Charles S. Roberts, Roberts Realty’s Chair-
man of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and President. The rental rates
and lease term are the same rental rates and lease term that Roberts Capital
Partners, LLC has with KBS SOR Northridge LLC, the unrelated third party
owner of the building. Roberts Capital Partners, LLC is liable to the building
owner for the full three-year term of its lease, however, Roberts Realty negoti-
ated a 90-day right to terminate its sublease as described below. The sublease
has a three-year term, with a one-year option, which provides for rental rates
of $16.50 per square foot in Year 1, $17.25 per square foot in Year 2, $18.00
per square foot in Year 3, and $18.75 per square foot for the Year 4 option.
Roberts Realty has the right to terminate the sublease upon 90 days notice
by paying (a) a minimum of 12 months of rent under the sublease, plus (b) an
carly termination amount, which will be the lesser of (x) the next 12 months of
rent due under the sublease or (y) the remaining amounts due under the term
of the sublease, as calculated on the early termination date. The minimum
total lease payments to Roberts Capital Partners, LLC will be $61,324 and
the maximum total lease payments, assuming the full three-year term and the
exercise of the Year 4 option, would be $128,099. Roberts Realty believes the
favorable terms of its sublease provides it with significant flexibility in success-
fully implementing its business plan.
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(a)(3). Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

We have filed some of the exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K with
previous registration statements or reports. As specifically noted in the following Index
to Exhibits, those previously filed exhibits are incorporated into this annual report on
Form 10-K by reference. All exhibits contained in the following Index to Exhibits that
are designated with an asterisk are incorporated into this annual report by reference in
our initial Registration Statement on Form 10-SB filed with the SEC on March 22, 1996;
the applicable exhibit number in that Registration Statement is provided beside the as-
terisk. The exhibits listed from Exhibit 10.1.1 through Exhibit 10.8.2 are management
contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements (except for Exhibits 10.2.2 through
10.2.8 and Exhibits 10.3.6 through 10.3.10, which are the sales contracts for our land par-
cels and related amendments thereto, as applicable and described in more detail below).

We will provide a copy of any or all of the following exhibits to any shareholder who
requests them, for a cost of ten cents per page.

Exhibit No. Description

Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and Certificates and Articles of Merger:

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Roberts Realty Investors,
Inc. filed with the Georgia Secretary of State on July 22, 2004. [Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2004.]

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. [Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated February 4,
2008.]

4.1 Agreement of Limited Partnership of Roberts Properties Residential, L.P., dat-
ed October 4, 1994. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 in our quarterly
report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011.]

4.1.1 First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Roberts
Properties Residential, L.P, dated as of October 4, 1994, as amended. [Incor-
porated by reference to Exhibit 4.1.1 in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2011.]

412 Amendment #1 to First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Part-
nership of Roberts Properties Residential, L.P., dated as of October 13, 1994.

[Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1.2 in our quarterly report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011.]
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Exhibit No. Description

4.1.3

4.2

4.2.1

4.2.2

4.2.3

4.2.4

4.2.5

4.2.6

4.2.7

Amendment #2 to First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Part-
nership of Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. [Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 in our Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed July 8, 1999, reg-
istration number 333-82453.]

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. filed
with the Georgia Secretary of State on July 22, 1994. [Incorporated by refer-
ence to Exhibit 4.2 in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2011.]

Certificate of Merger filed with the Georgia Secretary of State on October 13,
1994, merging Roberts Properties River Oaks, L.P; Roberts Properties
Rosewood Plantation, L.P.; Roberts Properties Preston Oaks, L.P;; and Roberts
Properties Highland Park, L.P. with and into Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. (1994 Consolidation). [* 3.2.1]

Certificate of Merger filed with the Georgia Secretary of State on March 24,
1995, merging Roberts Properties Holcomb Bridge, L.P. with and into Roberts
Properties Residential, L.P. (Holcomb Bridge Merger). [* 3.2.2]

Certificate of Merger filed with the Georgia Secretary of State on May 16, 1995,
merging Roberts Properties Plantation Trace, L.P. with and into Roberts Prop-
erties Residential, L.P. (Plantation Trace Merger). [* 3.2.3]

Certificate of Merger filed with the Georgia Secretary of State on September
27, 1995, merging Roberts Properties-St. Simons, Ltd. with and into Roberts
Properties Residential, L.P. (Windsong Merger). [* 3.2.4]

Certificate of Merger filed with the Georgia Secretary of State on March 21,
1996, merging Roberts Properties Bentley Place, L.P. with and into Roberts
Properties Residential, L.P. (Bentley Place Merger). [Incorporated by refer-
ence to Exhibit 4.2.5 in our quarterly report on Form 10-QSB for the quarter
ended June 30, 1996.]

Certificate of Merger filed with the Georgia Secretary of State on June 26,
1996, merging The Crestmark Club, L.P. with and into Roberts Proper-
ties Residential, L.P. (Crestmark Merger). [Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2.6 in our quarterly report on Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended
June 30, 1996.]

Certificate and Articles of Merger filed with the Georgia Secretary of State
on April 1, 1997 merging Roberts Properties Management, L.L.C. with and
into Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.2.7 in our current report on Form 8-K dated April 1, 1997.]
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Exhibit No.

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.1.3

10.1.4

10.1.5

10.1.6

10.1.7

10.1.8

Description

Material Agreements with Affiliates:
Corporate Office Building

Office Lease between Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and Roberts
Properties, Inc. dated March 27, 2006. [Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2006.]

Office Lease between Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and Roberts Prop-
erties Construction, Inc. dated March 27, 2006. [Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2006.]

Lease renewal agreement by and between Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. and Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. dated March 21, 2007. [Incor-
porated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2007.]

Lease renewal agreement by and between Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. dated March 21, 2007. [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2007.]

Lease renewal agreement by and between Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. and Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. dated January 18, 2008. [In-
corporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.6 in our annual report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2007.]

Lease renewal agreement by and between Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. dated January 18, 2008. [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1.7 in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2007.]

Lease renewal agreement by and between Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. dated January 30, 2009. [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1.8 in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2008.]

Lease renewal agreement by and between Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. and Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. dated January 30, 2009. [In-
corporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.9 in our annual report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2008.]
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Exhibit No.

10.1.9

10.1.10

10.1.11

10.1.12

10.1.13

10.1.14

10.1.15

10.1.16

10.2.1

Description

First Amendment to Lease dated December 30, 2009 by and between
RobertsProperties,Inc.and RobertsProperties Residential, L.P. [Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
December 30, 2009.]

First Amendment to Lease dated December 30, 2009 by and between Roberts
Properties Construction, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. [Incor-

porated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
December 30, 2009.]

Amendment to Lease dated as of January 1, 2011 by and between Roberts Prop-
erties, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. [Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated January 24, 2011.]

Amendment to Lease dated as of January 1, 2011 by and between Roberts
Properties Construction, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. [Incor-

porated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
January 24, 2011.]

Fourth Amendment to Lease dated as of January 1, 2012 by and between
Roberts Properties, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. [Incorpo-

rated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
December 19, 2011.]

Fourth Amendment to Lease dated as of January 1, 2012 by and between
Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential,

L.P. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on Form
8-K dated December 19, 2011.]

Fifth Amendment to Lease dated as of December 17, 2012 by and between
Roberts Properties, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P.[Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
December 17, 2012.]

Fifth Amendment to Lease dated as of December 17, 2012 by and between
Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on Form

8-K dated December 17, 2012.]
Northridge

Construction Agreement between Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and
Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.18
in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.]
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Exhibit No.

10.2.2

10.2.3

10.2.4

10.2.5

10.2.6

10.2.7

10.2.8

10.2.9

10.2.10

Description

Sales Contract dated June 30, 2011 between Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
in our current report on Form 8-K dated June 30, 2011.]

First Amendment to Sales Contract dated October 31, 2011 between
Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. [Incorpo-

rated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
October 31, 2011.]

Second Amendment to Sales Contract dated December 19, 2011 between
Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. [Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
December 19, 2011.]

Third Amendment to Sales Contract dated March 26, 2012 by and
between Northridge Parkway, LLC and Roberts Properties, Inc. [Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
March 26, 2012.]

Fourth Amendment to Sales Contract dated June 25, 2012 by and
between Northridge Parkway, LLC and Roberts Properties, Inc. [Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
June 25, 2012.]

Description of Extension of Contract to Sell Northridge Property to Roberts
Properties, Inc. [Incorporated by reference to Item 1.01 of our current report
on Form 8-K dated July 23, 2012.]

Fifth Amendment to Sales Contract dated October 22, 2012 by and
between Northridge Parkway, LL.C and Roberts Properties, Inc. [Incorpo-

rated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
October 22, 2012.]

Sixth Amendment to Sales Contract dated January 28, 2013 by and between
Northridge Parkway, LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary) and Roberts Proper-
ties, Inc. (Northridge land parcel). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
in our current report on Form 8-K dated January 28, 2013.]

Seventh Amendment to Sales Contract dated April 23, 2013 by and between
Northridge Parkway, LLC and Roberts Properties, Inc. [Incorporated by ref-
erence to Exhibit 10.4 in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2013.]
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Exhibit No.

10.3.1

10.3.2

10.3.3

10.3.4

10.3.5

10.3.6

10.3.7

Description
Peachtree Parkway

Restrictive Covenant by Roberts Properties Peachtree Parkway, L.P, assumed
by Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. on December 29, 2004. [Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
January 5, 2005.]

Design and Development Agreement among Roberts Properties Residen-
tial, L.P., Georgianna Jean K. Valentino and Roberts Properties, Inc. for the
Peachtree Parkway land parcel, dated as of April 14, 2005. [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated April 12,
2005.]

Amendment Number 1 to Design and Development Agreement between
Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. dated as of
December 6, 2006 (Peachtree Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Exhib-
it 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated December 6, 2006.]

Construction Contract among Roberts Properties Residential, L.P,
Georgianna Jean K. Valentino and Roberts Properties Construction, Inc.
for the Peachtree Parkway land parcel, dated as of April 14, 2005. [Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
April 12, 2005.]

Amendment Number 1 to Construction Contract between Roberts Prop-
erties Residential, L.P. and Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. dated
as of December 6, 2006 (Peachtree Parkway). [Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on Form 8-K dated December 6,
2006.]

Sales Contract dated December 17, 2009 between Peachtree Corners Circle,
LLC and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. (1.004-acre parcel on Peachtree
Corners Circle). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report
on Form 8-K dated December 17, 2009.]

Sales Contract dated December 17, 2009 between Peachtree Corners Circle,
LLC and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. (0.154-acre strip along Peachtree
Corners Circle). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our current re-
port on Form 8-K dated December 17, 2009.]
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Exhibit No.

10.4.1

10.4.2

10.4.3

10.5.1

10.5.2

10.6.1

10.6.2

Description

North Springs (formerly Peachtree Dunwoody)

Restrictive Covenant by Roberts Properties Peachtree Dunwoody, LLC, as-
sumed by Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. on January 20, 2005. [Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
January 21, 2005.]

Design and Development Agreement between Roberts Properties Residential,
L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. for the North Springs (formerly Peachtree
Dunwoody) land parcel, dated as of April 14, 2005. [Incorporated by refer-
ence to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on Form 8-K dated April 12, 2005.]

Construction Contract between Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and Rob-
erts Properties Construction, Inc. for the North Springs (formerly Peachtree
Dunwoody) land parcel, dated as of April 14, 2005. [Incorporated by refer-
ence to Exhibit 10.4 in our current report on Form 8-K dated April 12, 2005.]

Bradley Park

Design and Development Agreement between Roberts Properties Residen-
tial, L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. for the Bradley Park (formerly Sawmill)
land parcel in Cumming, Georgia, dated as of August 4, 2005. [Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated August
9, 2005.]

Construction Contract between Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and
Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. for the Bradley Park (formerly Sawmill)
land parcel in Cumming, Georgia, dated as of August 4, 2005. [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on Form 8-K dated August 9,2005.]

Highway 20

Design and Development Agreement between Roberts Properties Residen-
tial, L.P. and Roberts Properties, Inc. for the Highway 20 land parcel in Cum-
ming, Georgia, dated as of February 21, 2006. [Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated February 21, 2006.]

Construction Contract between Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and
Roberts Properties Construction, Inc. for the Highway 20 land parcel in Cum-
ming, Georgia, dated as of February 21, 2006. [Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on Form 8-K dated February 21, 2006.]
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Exhibit No.

Description

Compensation Agreements and Arrangements, and Restricted Stock Plan

10.7.1

10.7.2

10.7.3

10.8.1

10.8.2

10.8.3

10.8.4

Determination of compensation arrangements for the interim Chief Financial
Officer of Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. [Incorporated by reference to Item
5.02 in our current report on Form 8-K dated May 31, 2006.]

2006 Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. Restricted Stock Plan, as amended effec-
tive January 27, 2009. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 in the compa-
ny’s post-effective amendment to its Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed
with the SEC on January 29, 2009.]

Revised Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (supersedes the form
of restricted stock award agreement attached as Exhibit A to Annex A to our
proxy statement for our 2006 annual meeting filed with the SEC on July 20,
2006). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in our quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2007.]

Miscellaneous Agreements with Affiliates

Reimbursement arrangement between Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. and
Roberts Properties, Inc., effective February 8, 2008. [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated Febru-
ary 4, 2008.]

Summary of Amended Reimbursement Arrangement Between Roberts
Realty Investors, Inc. and Each of Roberts Properties, Inc. and Roberts
Properties Construction, Inc. (effective January 1, 2011) [Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 in our current report on Form 8-K dated January 24,
2011.]

Summary of Amended Reimbursement Arrangement Between Roberts Real-
ty Investors, Inc. and Each of Roberts Properties, Inc. and Roberts Properties
Construction, Inc. (effective January 1, 2014) [Incorporated by reference to
our current report on Form 8-K dated January 20, 2014.]

Office Lease by and between Roberts Capital Partners, LLC, as Landlord,
and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P, as Tenant, dated as of February 19, 2014.
[Incorporated by reference to our current report on Form 8-K dated February 19,
2014.]
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Exhibit No.

10.9.1

10.9.2

10.9.3

10.9.4

10.9.5

10.9.6

10.9.7

Description

Material Agreements Other Than With Affiliates

Promissory Note in the principal amount of $8,175,000, dated December 6,
2006, executed by Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. in favor of
Wachovia Bank, National Association (Peachtree Parkway). [Incorporat-
ed by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
December 6, 2006.]

Deed to Secure Debt and Assignment of Rents dated December 6, 2006, ex-
ecuted by Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. in favor of Wachovia Bank,
National Association (Peachtree Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 in our current report on Form 8-K dated December 6, 2006.]

Unconditional Guaranty dated December 6, 2006, executed by Roberts Realty
Investors, Inc. in favor of Wachovia Bank, National Association (Peachtree

Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 in our current report on
Form 8-K dated December 6, 2006.]

Second Consolidated Amendatory Agreement and Agreement Regarding
Cross-Default and Cross-Collateralization of Loans dated April 28, 2008
by and between Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and Wachovia Bank,
National Association (Peachtree Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated April 28, 2008.]

Deed to Secure Debt and Assignment of Rents dated April 28, 2008, execut-
ed by Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. in favor of Wachovia Bank, National
Association (North Springs). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in our
current report on Form 8-K dated April 28, 2008.]

Letter Agreement from Wachovia Bank, N.A. dated April 27, 2009. [Incor-
porated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
April 27, 2009.]

Third Consolidated Amendatory Agreement dated July 17, 2009 by and
among Roberts Properties Residential, L.P, Roberts Realty Investors, Inc.
and Wachovia Bank, National Association (Peachtree Parkway). [Incorporat-

ed by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated July 17,
2009.]
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Exhibit No.

10.9.8

10.9.9

10.9.10

10.9.11

10.9.12

10.9.13

10.9.14

Description

Second Amendment to Deed to Secure Debt and Assignment of Rents and
Other Loan Documents dated July 17, 2009 by and between Roberts Prop-
erties Residential, L.P. and Wachovia Bank, National Association (Peachtree
Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on
Form 8-K dated July 17, 2009.]

Fourth Consolidated Amendatory Agreement dated June 21, 2010 by and
among Roberts Properties Residential, L.P, Roberts Realty Investors, Inc.
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Peachtree Parkway). [Incorpo-
rated by reference to Item 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated June
21, 2010.]

Third Amendment to Deed to Secure Debt and Assignment of Rents and
Other Loan Documents dated June 21, 2010 by and between Roberts Proper-
ties Residential, L.P. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Peachtree
Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Item 10.2 in our current report on
Form 8-K dated June 21, 2010.]

Fifth Consolidated Amendatory Agreement dated June 23, 2011 by and
among Roberts Properties Residential, L.P., Roberts Realty Investors, Inc.
and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Peachtree Parkway). [Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
June 23, 2011.]

Fourth Amendment to Deed to Secure Debt and Assignment of Rents and
Other Loan Documents dated June 23,2011 by and between Roberts Proper-
ties Residential, L.P. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (Peachtree
Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our current report on
Form 8-K dated June 23, 2011.]

Loan Agreement dated February 21, 2012 by and between Northridge Park-
way, LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary) and Paul J. A. van Hessen (Northridge
Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on
Form 8-K dated February 21, 2012.]

Promissory Note in the principal amount of $2,000,000 dated February 21,
2012 by and between Northridge Parkway, LL.C and Paul J. A. van Hessen
(Northridge Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 in our cur-
rent report on Form 8-K dated February 21, 2012.]
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Exhibit No.

10.9.15

10.9.16

10.9.17

10.9.18

10.9.19

10.9.20

10.9.21

10.9.22

Description

Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement dated February 21, 2012 by and
between Northridge Parkway, LLC and Paul J. A. van Hessen (Northridge
Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in our current report on
Form 8-K dated February 21, 2012.]

Guaranty dated February 21, 2012 by Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and
Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. in favor of Paul J. A. van Hessen (Northridge
Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 in our current report on
Form 8-K dated February 21, 2012.]

Letter Modification Agreement dated July 16, 2012 by and among Roberts
Properties Residential, L.P, Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. and Wells Fargo
Bank, N.A. (Peachtree Parkway). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
in our current report on Form 8-K dated July 16, 2012.]

Sales Contract for the Sale of 2.937 Acres of Peachtree Parkway Property on
September 27, 2012. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our quar-
terly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012.]

Sales Contract dated October 9, 2012 by and between Roberts Properties
Residential, L.P. and Lennar Multifamily Investors, LLC. [Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated October
9,2012.]

Description of Extensions of Contract to Sell Peachtree Parkway Property to
Lennar Multifamily Investors, LL.C as of November 30, 2012 and December
4, 2012. [Incorporated by reference to Item 1.01 of our current report on
Form 8-K dated November 30, 2012.]

Exclusive Sales Listing Agreement dated January 31, 2013 by and between
CBRE, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. (Northridge Office
Building). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report
on Form 8-K dated January 28, 2013.]

Loan Modification Agreement (the “Loan Modification Agreement”) effec-
tive as of February 21, 2013 by and between Northridge Parkway, LLC (a
wholly owned subsidiary) and Paul J. A. van Hessen (Northridge). [Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
February 11, 2013.]
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Exhibit No.

10.9.23

10.9.24

10.9.25

10.9.26

10.9.27

10.9.28

10.9.29

10.9.30

Description

Exclusive Marketing Agreement dated April 9, 2013 by and between CBRE,
Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. (North Springs). [Incorporat-
ed by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on Form 8-K dated
April 9, 2013.]

Description of May 22, 2013 extension of maturity date of loan pursuant to
the Loan Modification Agreement. [Incorporated by reference to our cur-
rent report on Form 8-K dated May 22, 2013.]}

Amendment to Listing Agreement effective as of June 17, 2013 by and be-
tween CBRE, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. (Northridge Of-
fice Building). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in our quarterly
report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2013.]

Promissory Note in the principal amount of $5,500,000 dated July 18, 2013 by
Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. to the order of North Springs Financial,
LLC (North Springs). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our cur-
rent report on Form 8-K dated July 18, 2013.]

Deed to Secure Debt, Assignment of Rents, and Security Agreement dated
July 18, 2013 by and between Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and North
Springs Financial, LLC (North Springs). [Incorporated by reference to Ex-
hibit 10.2 in our current report on Form 8-K dated July 18, 2013.]

Unconditional Guaranty of Payment and Performance dated July 18, 2013
by Roberts Realty Investors, Inc. in favor of North Springs Financial, LLC
(North Springs). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 in our current
report on Form 8-K dated July 18, 2013.]

Amendment to Exclusive Marketing Agreement dated August 20, 2013 by
and between CBRE, Inc. and Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. (North
Springs). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 in our current report on
Form 8-K dated August 20, 2013.]

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated October 15, 2013 by and between
Roberts Properties Residential, L.P. and the Fulton County Board of Educa-
tion (Northridge Office Building). [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
in our current report on Form 8-K dated October 15, 2013.]
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Exhibit No. Description

21

23

24

31

32

101

Other Exhibits:
Subsidiaries of Roberts Realty Investors, Inc.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — CohnReznick
LLP

Power of Attorney (contained on the signature page hereof).

Certifications of Charles S. Roberts and Charles R. Elliott pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certifications of Charles S. Roberts and Charles R. Elliott pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. This exhibit is not “filed” for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 but is instead furnished as
provided by applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The following materials from Roberts Realty’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2013, formatted in eXtensible Business Re-
porting Language (XBRL): (a) Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31,
2013 and December 31, 2012; (b) Consolidated Statements of Operations for
each of the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012; (c) Consolidated State-
ments of Shareholders’ Equity for each of the years ended December 31, 2013
and 2012; (d) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012; and (e) Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.*

*  Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101
hereto are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for
purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed
not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
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SIGNATURES

¢ Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

Date: March 6, 2014
ROBERTS REALTY INVESTORS, INC.

By: /s/ Charles S. Roberts
Charles S. Roberts, Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears be-
low constitutes and appoints jointly and severally, Charles S. Roberts and Charles R. Elliott, and each one
of them, his attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign
any and all amendments to this Annual Report (Form 10-K) and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and
other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying
and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Charles S. Roberts Chairman of the Board, Chief March 6, 2014
Charles S. Roberts Executive Officer and President
/s/ Charles R. Elliott Secretary, Treasurer, Chief March 6, 2014
Charles R. Elliott Financial Officer (Principal Financial

Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer) and Director

/s/ John L. Davis Director March 6, 2014
John L. Davis '

/s/ Wm. Jarell Jones Director March 6, 2014
Wm. Jarell Jones

/s/ Weldon R, Humphries Director March 6, 2014
Weldon R. Humphries

82



SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

OFFICERS
Charles S. Roberts
President and Chief Executive Officer

Anthony W. Shurtz
Chief Financial Officer

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Charles S. Roberts
Chairman of the Board

Charles R. Elliott
Private Investor

Wm. Jarell Jones
Attorney

John L. Davis
Private Investor

Weldon R. Humphries
Private Investor

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
Roberts Realty Investors, Inc.

375 Northridge Road, Suite 330
Atlanta, Georgia 30350

Telephone: (770) 394-6000

TRANSFER AGENT
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
Shareholder Services
10150 Mallard Creek Road, Suite 307
Charlotte, North Carolina 28262
Telephone: (800) 937-5449

(718) 921-8124

SECURITIES COUNSEL

Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Atlantic Station

201 17th Street NW, Suite 1700

Atlanta, Georgia 30363

GENERAL COUNSEL

Holt Ney Zatcoft & Wasserman, LLP
100 Galleria Parkway, Suite 1800
Atlanta, Georgia 30339

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Cherry Bekaert LLP

1075 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 2200
Atlanta, Georgia 30309

ANNUAL MEETING
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will
be held on Friday, December 12, 2014
at 9:00 a.m. at:
Villa Christina at Perimeter Summit
4000 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319






